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Creating a Future, Enhancing Life
through our purpose and shared value

INTEGRATED
ANNUAL REPORT

Windhoek is like no other beer brand in the world. 
It stands as testimony to a few brave men who set 
out to brew pure beer in the most unlikely place on 
Earth. Windhoek’s authenticity, purity and character 
synonymous with Namibia and its people is captured 

in every drop of our 100% pure Windhoek beer.

ANNO 1920



Windhoek 
Lager

Windhoek 
Draught

Windhoek 
Light

Windhoek 
Non-

Alcoholic

Tafel  
Lager

Tafel  
Lite

2020

2019 NP

2018 NP NP

2017 NP NP

2016 NP NP

2015 NP NP

2014 NP NP

2013 NP NP

2012 NP NP

2011 NP NP

2010 NP NP

2009 NP NP NP

2008 NP NP NP

2007 NP NP

2006 NP NP

 Gold  Silver  Bronze NP Not participating

*  The international DLG Quality Evaluation rates beer brands brewed according to the 
Reinheitsgebot (“Purity Law”) of 1516 against quality specifications for taste, analytical  
and biological standards.

Windhoek 
Lager and 

Windhoek 
Draught  
have each won  

13 gold medals at the  
DLG* awards since 2006.

DLG AWARDS

Namibia Breweries Limited has been a recipient of the long-term product 
quality award from the Deutsche Landwirtschafts Gesellschaft (DLG) for the 
13th consecutive year. Participants only qualify for this award if they have 
received DLG medals for five years in a row.
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About 
this report
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Our context 
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In this report, we focus on Namibia – our primary 
country of operation where we sell 65.4% of our 
volumes. We primarily present information relevant 
to shareholders and investors but include 
information of interest to our broader stakeholder 
community. We report information based on the 
principle of materiality, considering the social, 
environmental, governance and economic factors 
that affect our ability to create value over the short, 
medium and long term. Read more about our 
material matters from page 44.

The following frameworks and reporting requirements 
informed the content for this report:

zz Corporate Governance Code for Namibia (NamCode)

zz Namibia Companies Act, 2004 (No. 28 of 2004) 
(Namibia Companies Act)

zz Namibian Stock Exchange (NSX) Listing Requirements

zz International Financial Reporting Standards

zz International Integrated Reporting Council’s 
Integrated Reporting <IR> Framework (<IR> 
Framework)

ABOUT THIS REPORT

NBL Investment Holdings
(Proprietary) Limited

Ohlthaver & List Finance and Trading 
Corporation Limited (OLFITRA)

Public shareholders

Heineken International B.V.

Namibia Breweries Limited

49.99%

Heineken South Africa
 (Proprietary) Limited

40.63%
59.37%

50.01%

25.0%

Consumers

Employees

Communities

Suppliers

Customers/
strategic partners

Governments

Providers of 
financial capital

STAKEHOLDER UNIVERSE

FINANCIAL REPORTING BOUNDARY

Namibia Breweries Limited’s (NBL or the Company) 2020 integrated annual report 
(the report) tracks how we live our purpose: Creating a Future, Enhancing Life. 
It reflects our performance for the financial year from 1 July 2019 to 30 June 2020 
(the year). It tells our story as part of the Ohlthaver & List Group (O&L Group or 
the Group) over the past 100 years, and how we give back to our stakeholders, 
including our communities, customers and suppliers.

Shareholders
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While we do not report on the six capitals as 
described by the <IR> Framework, we follow  
a stakeholder-orientated approach to materiality 
that considers them all. We act as stewards of all  
six capitals by living our purpose: Creating a 
Future, Enhancing Life. 

We welcome feedback on this report. To make contact 
or request an electronic copy of this report, contact  
our Company Secretaries, Ohlthaver & List Centre 
(Proprietary) Limited, on telephone: +264 61 207 5111 
or email: Wiesla.Descande@ol.na. We publish our 
integrated annual report, interim results, and  
our annual financial statements on our website  
at https://nambrew.com/investor-hub/archive/

REPORTING BOUNDARY AND 
COMPARABILITY

NBL forms part of the O&L Group, which indirectly 
holds an effective 29.69% stake in NBL. This report’s 
financial and non-financial data is limited to NBL 
and its subsidiaries and associate. Full details of the 
latter entities are set out in Annexure C of the 
annual financial statements. There were no changes 
to the ownership, structures or reporting approach 
since the 2019 report. 

THE 2019/2020 NOVEL CORONAVIRUS 
AND KEY DATES

To compare information in this report to 2019, 
readers have to consider the impact of the 
2019/2020 novel coronavirus on business activities 
and performance. In this report, we reference the 
2019/2020 novel coronavirus as ‘the coronavirus’,  
‘the virus’, ‘COVID-19’ and ‘the pandemic’, 
interchangeably. Please note the following  
key dates:

zz 31 December 2019: The Wuhan Municipal  
Health Commission reported a cluster of cases  
of pneumonia in Wuhan, China. A novel 
coronavirus was eventually identified and 
classified as COVID-19.

zz 30 January 2020: The World Health Organization 
declared COVID-19 as a public health emergency 
of international concern.

zz 14 March 2020: Namibia’s Minister of Health  
and Social Services announced that COVID-19 
had reached Namibia.

zz 23 March 2020 – 1 June 2020: South Africa 
entered a national state of lockdown on 23 March. 
It included a moratorium on alcohol production 
and sales, as well as inter-provincial and 
international travel. The ban on alcohol sales partly 
lifted once lockdown transitioned to level three  
on 1 June. This lockdown drastically affected 
Heineken South Africa’s (Heineken SA) business, 
as well as NBL’s ability to source inputs from  
South Africa, and transport products between 
countries including volumes to South Africa. 

zz 27 March 2020 – 4 May 2020: Namibia’s Khomas 
and Erongo regions entered a 21-day stage one 
absolute lockdown on 27 March, which included 
alcohol prohibition. NBL has offices, production 
and distribution facilities in these regions. On  
14 April, the lockdown became national and 
was extended until 4 May. As Namibia’s Liquor 
Act 1998 (No. 6 of 1998) (Liquor Act) currently 
only applies to liquor containing 3% or more 
alcohol by volume, NBL could still sell some of 
its beverages, such as Tafel Radler, Windhoek 
Non-Alcoholic and Windhoek Light.

zz 5 May 2020 – 1 June 2020: Namibia entered 
stage two of its lockdown, and Government 
prohibited the sale of beverages with any degree 
of alcohol content, including Tafel Radler, 
Windhoek Non-Alcoholic and Windhoek Light.

zz 2 June 2020: Namibia entered lockdown stage 
three. Alcohol sales were allowed under stringent 
trading conditions.

NBL’s export markets each implemented a range of 
restrictions and lockdown measures which limited or 
prohibited trade. 

INTEGRATED ANNUAL REPORT 2020 3
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FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This integrated report contains statements about  
NBL that are or may be forward-looking. Examples of 
forward-looking statements include statements about 
a future financial position or future profits, cash flows, 
strategy, estimates of capital expenditures, acquisition 
strategy or future capital expenditure levels, and other 
economic factors such as interest and exchange rates. 
These generally use forward-looking words or phrases 
such as ‘believe’, ‘aim’, ‘expect’, ‘anticipate’, ‘intend’, 
‘foresee’, ‘forecast’, ‘likely’, ‘should’, ‘planned’, ‘may’, 
‘estimated’ and ‘potential’, or similar words and 
phrases. By their nature, forward-looking statements 
involve risks and uncertainties because they relate to 
events and depend on circumstances that may or may 
not occur in future. NBL cautions that forward-looking 
statements are not guarantees of future performance.

ASSURANCE AND APPROVAL 

As per the NamCode requirements, NBL follows a 
combined assurance model based on three lines of 
defence, which include internal controls and systems, 
supported by external verification. Deloitte & Touche 
audited the consolidated annual financial statements 
(pages 86 to 168). The unqualified audit opinion is 
available on page 94. Further external verification 
included a South African Bureau of Standards 
(SABS) audit and certification against the 
requirements of SANS 10330:2007 as well as 
ISO 9001:2015. Ernst & Young (EY) also conducted 
several internal audits. The governance report starting 
on page 68 details internal audit’s internal controls 
and specific focus areas during 2020. The Board, 
assisted by the Audit Committee, is ultimately 
responsible for this report’s integrity and 
completeness. The Board acknowledges that the 
report reflects continued improvement towards 
compliance with the <IR> Framework. It has 
applied its collective mind to preparing and 
presenting the report and, accordingly, approved 
it on 9 September 2020.

Non-executive Directors Executive Directors

Sven Thieme Günter Hanke Hans-Bruno Gerdes Marco Wenk

Peter Grüttemeyer Steven Siemer Hendrik van der 
Westhuizen 

Waldemar von Lieres

Laura McLeod-
Katjirua

Roland Pirmez Pascal Sabrié
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N$2 646 million
REVENUE
2019: N$3 098 million 
-14.6%

N$453 million
OPERATING PROFIT
2019: N$652 million 
-30.5%

126.5 cents
EARNINGS PER SHARE
2019: 450.8 cents 
-71.9%

850.2 cents
NET ASSET VALUE PER SHARE
2019: 946.7 cents 
-10.2%

53 cents (FINAL) 

53 cents (INTERIM)
DIVIDEND DECLARED PER SHARE
2019: 50 cents (final ordinary), 50 cents (interim), 121.05 (special)

21.5%
RETURN ON ASSETS
2019: 32% 
-32.8%

-16.6%
TOTAL VOLUMES SOLD
2019: +13.8%

4.2%
TOTAL VOLUMES EXPORTED 
EXCL SOUTH AFRICA
2019: 2.6%

36.0%
LOCAL PROCUREMENT SPEND
2019: 35%
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While the recessionary years preceding 2020 were 
challenging, they were mostly stable. Exchange rates 
remained constant, interest rates were favourable and 
inflation rates were low. By the end of 2019: 

zz we had returned to positive beer volumes in 
Namibia for the first time in two years; 

zz embarked on a digital transformation journey; 

zz saw real benefits from our partnership with 
Heineken SA; and 

zz good rainfall had broken the drought, albeit 
temporarily. 

The second half of the financial year presented not 
only the business but our country and the entire 
global village with what can be described as “the 
worst recessionary period since the Great 
Depression”. The outbreak of the novel coronavirus 
(COVID-19) has had and continues to have a 
devastating socio-economic impact. In Namibia, we 
are also facing another ‘pandemic’: corruption in 
both the public and private sectors. We are yet to 
face the full impact of this twin pandemic situation 
on our country as it battles to survive economically 

and socially. With the lack of leadership, the current 
levels of unemployment, poverty and hunger remain 
a bitter pill to swallow though we believe it can be 
addressed, if those in power pull together for the 
good of all.

Inspired by the O&L Group purpose, “Creating a 
Future, Enhancing Life” and vision of “being a 
catalyst for positive change, creating new realities 
and fulfilling dreams”, we are committed to ethical 
behaviour in business and stakeholder relations by 
setting high standards that enable us to endure.  
We appreciate our employees, customers and 
consumers, partners, suppliers and stakeholders who 
honour our values and ideals of taking bold stands; 
causing alignment; being authentic and inspiring 
innovation – thereby delivering extraordinary results. 

That said, NBL’s revenues and volumes declined by 
14.6% and 16.6% respectively, due to lockdown 
conditions and curtailed trading early in 2020. The 
prohibition of alcohol sales as a measure to lessen the 
impact of COVID-19, highlighted the sensitive nature 
of our business.  

CHAIRPERSON’S STATEMENT

To our shareholders, employees and other interested stakeholders

“Everyone has a collective  
responsibility to make Namibia  
great through purposeful leadership.”

Sven Thieme,
NBL Chairperson

6 NAMIBIA BREWERIES LIMITED 
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The year 2020 marks a significant moment in the history of NBL as we celebrate our 
first century as a proudly Namibian brewer. From humble beginnings when everyone 
saw four distressed breweries, we saw potential. As one of a few large-scale independent 
breweries in Africa, NBL remains committed to the Reinheitsgebot (“Purity Law”) of 1516, 
providing consumers with a guarantee of quality and the use of three natural ingredients: 
malted barley, hops and water. Looking back at monumental moments, brave decisions 
and dreams which at the time might have seemed impossible, we are proud to have 
stood the test of time, achieving many milestones and great successes. The last year also 
humbled us as we experienced a myriad of economic and social challenges. However, as 
proven over the past 100 years, we once again endured. 

As a Group, we have taken a strong stance to increase 
our role in promoting responsible behaviour, and 
extending this beyond the drinking occasion, rallying 
consumers around responsible behaviour whether 
shopping, socialising, entertaining or simply just 
enjoying their favourite beverage. 

Purposeful leadership 
Being “purposeful” is a key pillar in our 2025 
Breakthrough Strategy (read more on page 28) 
which requires us to be the best versions of 
ourselves in order to unlock the full potential of 
everyone. In pursuit of our Vision 2025 of “being a 
catalyst for positive change, creating new realities 
and fulfilling dreams”, we have rallied our 
employees around our purpose and vision to 
co-create our desired future together. We are 
looking over the horizon with imagination, 
innovation, transformation and breakthroughs 
second to none as we are confident this will enable 
us to accelerate a sustainable economy so that all 
Namibians enjoy prosperity. With leadership setting 
the tone, we have experienced our employees’ belief 
in the freshly expanded vision to be synchronised  
fully embracing individual and collective ownership 
of our Breakthrough Strategy. Employees 
collectively own, not only their own future, but also 
the future of the Company, the O&L Group and 
ultimately, the future of our country and her people. 
The result is a marked increase of inspired 
employees with positive energy, innovation and 
productivity delivering breakthrough results which 
we believe will aid us going forward as we activate 
the ‘Genius’ of our people – no matter how difficult 
things might seem. 

Leading responsible drinking
In responding to the consumer trend towards low 
and non-alcoholic products, NBL developed and 
launched Windhoek Non-Alcoholic beer with less 
than 0.5% alcohol in September last year, reaffirming 
our commitment to continuous innovation. This is 
complementary to our long-standing leadership  
in promoting responsible drinking in Namibia.  
We remain committed to producing quality alcoholic 
beverages as part of one of the oldest industries  
in the world and engaging our consumers with 
experiences whereby they can enjoy life responsibly. 

Building trust in a digital world
Despite all the challenges and changes in how we 
work and interact that COVID-19 brought along,  
we cannot ignore the opportunities it presents.  
We are creating new realities and embracing new 
possibilities; unleashing the unlimited potential in 
everyone; delivering beyond expectations; everyone 
having fun and bringing out the best versions of 
themselves in a culture of continuous innovation 
where anything is possible in order to sustain the 
future – all opportunities to continue unlocking, 
going forward. As a matter of fact, this culture is 
fast becoming our new norm in how we lead both 
our people and our business, as business as usual 
is simply not relevant anymore. As purposeful and 
breakthrough leaders – deeply connected to our 
purpose “Creating a Future, Enhancing Life” – we 
are passionately committed to keeping the O&L 
dream alive by embracing a positive vision of how 
we will succeed as a business, as communities and as 
people. We, want to enable and move not only NBL 
and O&L but our country at large forward, towards 
a prosperous future for all of us! 

INTEGRATED ANNUAL REPORT 2020 7
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It cannot be denied that the current reality has  
also come at a time of growing distrust in public 
institutions and business alike. We recognise the 
value of transparent communication and relevant 
information for all our stakeholders through new 
channels and platforms they can trust. As we are 
building these capabilities and relationships, we  
are likely to see shifts in physical infrastructure. 
Fewer people might work in offices, and tools  
might change, including how we run a brewery  
which speaks to our strategic focus area: Owning the 
future, creating new realities, enjoying the journey. 

Climate change will increasingly shape  
our world
We are facing the biggest environmental challenge 
our species has ever seen. The signs of climate 
change are everywhere and it is vital that each  
and every global citizen takes ownership of caring 
for our planet: if we do not care about the small 
things, we will not care about the big things.  
I appreciate the leadership NBL has taken in caring 
for the planet, be it through its biomass boiler, or  
through various clean-up campaigns and recycling 
efforts. As a Group, we accept and embrace our 
responsibility to play a bigger role in educating  
and encouraging environmentally responsible 
behaviour. Namibia has significant potential in  
a number of environmentally friendly facets such 
as clean energy; it only requires purposeful 
leadership, vision and investment. This is also  
why we have committed to align our sustainability 
programme with the United Nations Sustainable 
Development Goals (SDGs) because no matter 
what we are passionate about, something we care 
about will be affected by climate change. 

Finding opportunity amid changed conditions
NBL has endured difficult financial periods in the 
past 100 years. Bold and purposeful leadership is 
what ensured that we endure: we needed scale  
to be competitive under difficult, and sometimes 

unfair, trading conditions; we secured market share, 
by acquiring hotels and establishing partnerships; 
and continued to innovate in order to create 
opportunity.

The COVID-19 pandemic has impacted and 
transformed the world. Like other global beverage 
alcohol markets and companies, NBL has also  
been subject to massive volatility since the end of 
March 2020. While our bottom line performance 
has undeniably been significantly impacted, we are 
also clear that we had to take a collective 
responsibility to support the fight against the 
COVID-19 pandemic and ensure the health and 
wellbeing of our employees, customers, 
consumers, stakeholders, communities and country 
at large. COVID-19 has forced us to rethink and 
execute in a completely new and different way. As 
we have seen in the past few months, it is possible 
to cut costs more than we thought possible 
resulting in time efficiency and productivity, and 
having a clear focus on the right things – an 
important base for the future. While circumstances 
and strategies may change, our commitment to 
quality remains as firm as always.

Our employees are our future
We care for our people! We have committed to 
significantly invest in discovering the ‘Genius’ in 
every employee who serves our Company, their 
community and country. This is the root of strong 
performance and establishes the balance between 
creating amazing employee experiences while 
ensuring business sustainability. We are uncovering 
and removing barriers, nurturing emotional 
intelligence and advancing cognitive knowledge. 
This means that we are also changing the way we 
measure and remunerate people. The world of 
work post COVID-19 will never be the same again: 
it is resetting and restarting things in a new way, 
bringing opportunities and excitement for everyone 
who is part of the Group. 

“If we take the future into our hands, we can create the future we want.”

Sven Thieme,
NBL Chairperson

8 NAMIBIA BREWERIES LIMITED 
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Creating a Future, Enhancing Life
We are passionate about our country and relentless in 
pursuit of our purpose: “Creating a Future, Enhancing 
Life”. Cognisant of the fact that we face a challenging 
time ahead, post COVID-19, we are also excited about 
the opportunities that come along with any crisis. NBL 
is committed to continue staying on top of its game in 
quality supply, both locally and in export markets. We 
are proud to keep the name of Namibia high on the 
lips of those that enjoy our world-class products and 
remain committed to ensure continued compliance to 
the more than 500-year-old Reinheitsgebot to brew 
and deliver quality products on a consistent basis, 
which NBL has become known and awarded for 
globally. Reflecting on the past 100 years, we are 
confident that together with the support of our 
employees, consumers, customers and stakeholders, 
we will make our country great again! 

2020 dividend
The Board declared a final dividend of 53 cents per 
ordinary share to bring the total dividend for 2020  
to 106 cents, and no special dividend was declared 
(2019: 100 cents total dividend, in addition to a 
special dividend of 121.05 cents). Payment will be 
made to shareholders of ordinary shares registered in 
the books of the Company at close of business on  
9 October 2020 and will be paid on 13 November 2020.

 

Sven Thieme
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OUR  
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“NBL forms part of the O&L Group of companies, the largest privately held group 
in Namibia. The Group’s overall revenue contributes about 4% to gross domestic 
product (GDP). The O&L Group has business interests in food production, fishing, 
beverages, farming, retail trade, information technology, property leasing and 
development, renewable power generation, marine engineering and the leisure 
and hospitality industry.”
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Established in 1920, NBL is the leading beverage 
manufacturing company in Namibia and one of 
the last few independently owned commercial-scale 
breweries in southern Africa. Ours is one of only a 
few large-scale commercial breweries in Africa 
that brew according to the German Reinheitsgebot 
(“Purity Law”) of 1516, which prescribes that malted 
barley, hops and water are the only ingredients used 
in brewing. Our commitment to the Reinheitsgebot 
guarantees quality beer brewed from safe, 
natural ingredients.

NBL leads in the Namibian beer market and has a 
significant share of the premium beer category in 
the region. Beer comprises 94.1% of our total 
volumes. Our full portfolio includes a range of soft 
beverages for sale to all consumers, a range of low 

and non-alcoholic beverages and alcoholic products 
for a wide range of adult consumer segments, 
spread across the price ladder. Our extensive 
distribution ensures that these products are widely 
available throughout the Southern African 
Development Community (SADC). We continuously 
enhance our offerings based on market research 
and consumer feedback. Our partnership with 
Heineken SA is an exciting platform for growth in 
Southern Africa.

We export products to 13 countries outside  
Namibia and South Africa.

NBL’s responsible drinking initiatives create 
awareness about the responsible enjoyment  
of alcohol, and the potential consequences for 
society that can result from harmful use.

2020 volume contribution  
per category

 Beer – Namibia | 59.9%

 Beer – South Africa | 30.3%

 Beer – Export | 3.9%

 Ciders | 4.9%

 Softs | 1.0%

2020 revenue contribution  
per segment

 Beer | 91.5%

 Other | 8.5%

Volume contribution per category (%)

Beer – Namibia Beer – South Africa Beer – Export

0 10 20 30 40 50 60 70 80 90 100

2016

2017

2018

2019

2020

SoftsCiders

Revenue contribution per segment (%)

Beer Other

0 10 20 30 40 50 60 70 80 90 100

2016

2017

2018

2019

2020

NBL PROFILE
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The mainstream segment is 
the core of our portfolio. It 
provides choice through a 
range of quality offerings 
that complement various 

occasions and are suited to 
repertoire consumption.

MAINSTREAM 
SEGMENT

Tafel 
Lager

Tafel 
Lite

Strongbow Cider: 
Gold and Red 

Berries

Windhoek 
Draught

Amstel 
Lager

Amstel 
Lite

We craft premium offerings 
from imported quality 
ingredients to meet a 

growing consumer need for 
brands that signify status 

and individuality.

PREMIUM  
BEER

Windhoek 
Lager

Heineken Camelthorn
Hansa 

Draught

This category offers quality  
beer at affordable prices for 

consumers seeking value 
brands.

VALUE 
SEGMENT

King Lager

This category offers a lighter 
alternative to consumers 

who enjoy the taste of beer 
but prefer to avoid the 

negative effects of alcohol. 
It caters for those who make 

deliberate lifestyle and 
health choices. 

LOW AND  
NON-ALCOHOLIC 

BEER

Windhoek 
Light beer

Windhoek 
Non-Alcoholic 

beer

Tafel Radler: 
Lemon

Tafel Radler: 
Grapefruit

These brands diversify our 
portfolio into adjacent 

categories that appeal to 
consumers who abstain from 

alcohol consumption either 
as a lifestyle choice or on 

select occasions. This range 
actively supports our 

responsible drinking agenda.

SOFTS/WATER  
PORTFOLIO

AquaSplash: 
still, sparkling 
and flavoured

McKane: range of mixers Fruitree

Find detail about each brand’s positioning, formats and sizes, as well as the projects, people and causes they sponsor, 
on our website at www.nambrew.com.

OUR BEVERAGE BRANDS

“As part of the O&L Group, we let our purpose of Creating a Future, Enhancing Life 
and our value system inspire our unrelenting pursuit of perfection.”

INTEGRATED ANNUAL REPORT 2020 13
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OUR GEOGRAPHIC FOOTPRINT

KEY FACTS
16
BRANDS IN OUR PORTFOLIO

14
EXPORT DESTINATIONS,  
INCLUDING SOUTH AFRICA

827
PERMANENT EMPLOYEES

1.45%
OF EMPLOYEES 
ARE NON-NAMIBIAN CITIZENS

6
DEPOTS IN NAMIBIA

29.4
TONS OF SURPLUS 
CO2 SOLD

4.1 
LITRES AVERAGE WATER USED PER LITRE OF BEVERAGE 
PRODUCED (FLAT YEAR-ON-YEAR)

14 NAMIBIA BREWERIES LIMITED 
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SOUTH AFRICA

30.39%

Zambia

Tanzania

NAMIBIA

65.39%

Other  
African 
countries

Rest of 
the world

SUMMARY OF VOLUME  
SHARE PER MARKET/REGION

2.52%

0.69%

0.11%

0.90%
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OUR 100-YEAR TIMELINE
2020 marks 100 years of brewing beer at NBL. Despite our immense pride in 
our history, we respect the need to delay our centenary celebrations due to 
the prevailing global pandemic. In this light, a timeline view of our history 
illustrates our endurance and highlights the challenges that NBL has overcome.

As described in our Chairperson’s statement on page 6, we owe our success to the visionary leadership of 
our founders and their successors, as well as employees’ tireless work and innovations.

The UN ended South Africa’s mandate in South West Africa 
in 1966, revoking its legal right to administration. South 
Africa resisted, and South West Africa’s Namibian War of 
Independence began. The International Court of Justice went 
on to echo the UN in 1971, declaring South Africa’s occupation 
in South West Africa illegal. 

During this time, South West Breweries acquired the Hansa 
Brauerei in Swakopmund, which combined the country’s 
only competing breweries. South West Breweries became 
one of only a few remaining independent commercial 
breweries in Southern Africa. 

World War II ravaged Europe and 
devastated the world economy. Just 
three years after the war officially 
ended, South Africa introduced the 
Apartheid regime and implemented 
its policies in South West Africa. 
The newly formed United Nations 
(UN) issued a trusteeship that 
would place all former German 
colonies, including South West 
Africa, under the UN’s control.

Political tensions in South Africa and 
South West Africa came to a point in the 
1980s, while global superpowers’ interests 
in Angola prolonged South African forces’ 
stay in South West Africa. South West 
Africa drafted a framework for its 
constitution and continued its liberation 
war. In 1987, another stock market crash 
rippled throughout the world. During this 
time, South West Breweries moved into  
its new state-of-the-art brewery in 
Windhoek’s Northern Industrial Area.

1940s – 1950s

1980s

Between the 20s and 30s, the world found its 
footing in the aftermath of World War I, before 
entering the Great Depression and eventually World 
War II. The League of Nations mandated South Africa 
to administer South West Africa (as Namibia was 
then known), and South Africa gained its own 
independence towards the later part of this era. 

Against this backdrop, two young German bankers, 
Hermann Ohlthaver and Carl List, arrived in South 
West Africa. They saw the opportunity in 
consolidating four small, struggling breweries to 
benefit the local German community and offer  
an alternative to expensive imported beers. On  
29 October 1920, South West Breweries Limited 
officially emerged as the consolidated entity of the 
Kronen Brauerei, Omaruru Brewery, the Klein 
Windhoek Brewery and the Felsenkeller Brewery. 

1920s – 1930s

1960s – 1970s
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While the 21st century began relatively quietly, a spike 
in food prices and the housing market crash in the 
United States triggered a global recession towards the 
latter part of the decade, while swine flu spread 
through the world. The Angolan Civil War continued, 
and, at its peak, caused more than 30 000 expatriates 
to take refuge in Namibia.

NBL’s operations ramped up. It formed a strategic 
partnership with Diageo and Heineken SA, with DHN 
Drinks (Proprietary) Limited subsequently established 
to market, sell and distribute a combined beer, spirits 
and cider portfolio in South Africa.

NBL was a key player in establishing the Self-
Regulating Alcohol Industry Forum (SAIF), which 
raises awareness about the dangers of excessive 
alcohol consumption, and we were further a founding 
member of the Recycle Namibia Forum.

In the 2010s, southern Africa was slow to recover from the recession, and Namibia 
was impacted by a long drought. 

In 2011, the O&L Group developed its purpose statement: Creating a Future, 
Enhancing Life. This was accompanied by an eight-year strategy cycle, with a 
refined 2025 Breakthrough Strategy being implemented from 2020.

We believe in contributing to Namibia’s economic prosperity, which includes 
minimising our impact on its resources. Since 2012, NBL installed a solar energy 
facility, became CO2 independent, and invested in becoming borehole water and 
thermal energy independent.

In 2012 NBL sold over 1 million hectolitres of beer in Namibia for the first time  
in its history. Diversification of the portfolio of beverages included brands such as 
AquaSplash and revamped and relaunched McKane. As such, NBL transitioned 
from a brewery to a beverage manufacturer.

In 2015, NBL, Diageo and Heineken SA restructured DHN drinks. Heineken SA 
acquired Diageo’s indirect stake in NBL. NBL entered a joint venture with 
Heineken SA to exclusively focus on growing key beer portfolio brands in 
southern Africa. In the final month of the decade, the first COVID-19 case was 
recorded in Wuhan, China.

2010s

2000s

Creating a Future, Enhancing Life
through our purpose and shared value

South West Africa’s 
liberation war ended with 
the country’s independence. 
The country became 
Namibia, political prisoners 
were released, and many 
refugees returned home. 
Nelson Mandela was 
released from prison in 
South Africa and watched 
Sam Nujoma being sworn in 
as Namibia’s first democratic 
president. South West 
Breweries changed its name 
to Namibia Breweries 
Limited and listed on the 
NSX, with the O&L Group as 
a controlling shareholder.

During this time, NBL  
shifted from a supply- 
driven business to a 
consumer-driven one. 
Namibian independence  
and South African 
democracy gave rise to a 
previously disadvantaged 
middle class who were 
looking for a premium beer 
to signify their new status. 
Our Windhoek brand was 
quick to respond to this need.

1990s
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100 YEARS OF OUR 
WINDHOEK BRAND

Windhoek is like no other beer brand in 
the world. It stands as testimony to a few 
brave men who set out to brew pure beer 
in the most unlikely place on Earth. 
Namibia is a land of intrigue and stark 
beauty, a sharp contrast of red and golden 
sands, savannah and wide-open spaces, a 
place where the cold Atlantic crashes into 
the shores of the oldest desert in the 
world. It is a resilient Country where 
tradition is respected and things are done 
the right way. The authenticity, purity and 
character synonymous with Namibia and 
its people is captured in every drop of our 
100% pure Windhoek beer.

The Windhoek brand has never 
compromised on quality and stayed 
true to its essence for 100 years – 
here’s to 100% pure beer.

To this day the legacy of Hermann 
Ohlthaver and Carl List is omnipresent in 
every aspect of the Windhoek brand. This 
is characterised by their unwavering 
commitment to brew beer that would be 
authentic and true to the land of their 
forefathers, and despite the fact that they 
found themselves in a hot, arid and 
frequently hostile land, they persisted to 
brew only the highest quality beer. And 
against all odds, and through perseverance 
and commitment to the Reinheitsgebot, 
this ideology would be passed on from 
generation to generation of Windhoek 
brewers and those that love the beer for all 
times to come. This passion, dedication and 
commitment is captured in every bottle – 
this is the Windhoek story. 

1970s – 1980s
2015

1990s

M
id

 1990s

2011

2008

1995

2020
100 YEARS
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Raw material imported from Europe: 
malted barley and hops

Imported packaging material: glass, cans 
and crown corks

Local packaging material: plastic shrink 
wrapping, plastic and paper labels, 
corrugated packaging, trays and crates

Local natural resources: water from the 
City of Windhoek and boreholes

Electricity: NamPower

Renewable energy: biomass boiler and 
solar panels

Our brewery in Windhoek has a total 
technical brewing capacity of 3 million 
hectolitres. 

We supplement our brewing capacity 
through our production agreement with 
Heineken SA who owns the Sedibeng 
Brewery in Johannesburg. 

The Swakopmund Brewing Company is a 
micro-brewery that also serves as a pilot 
plant for crafting and testing new beer 
recipes.

We brew most of our beers according to 
the German Reinheitsgebot of 1516. 

We also produce soft drinks as well as 
low and non-alcoholic beverages at the 
Windhoek plant. AquaSplash is sourced 
and bottled in Okahandja and Outjo.

We have five packaging lines at our 
Windhoek site for different sizes of  
glass bottles, cans and kegs. Under 
normal conditions, we run four shifts  
per day 24/7. We installed a new 
palletising machine this year.

We have ISO9001: 2015 and  
SANS 10330: 2007 certifications.

Areas in our value chain where we support local enterprises

Our culture encourages 
breakthrough throughout 
our value chain. We drive our 
actions with purpose and align 
them to the O&L Group strategy. 
Our long-term water supply plan 
safeguards the opportunity to 
scale up volumes in all areas of 
the value chain.

INPUTS

PACKAGING

BEVERAGES AND BREWING

OUR VALUE CHAIN AT A GLANCE
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Our customers include formal and 
informal wholesale and retail trade 
outlets, for example, supermarkets, 
liquor stores, shebeens, pubs and other 
hospitality outlets. End consumers are 
adults with a broad demographic profile 
spanning all income groups. From this 
year, customers can interact with NBL 
through our new digital sales and 
operational planning system.

We take pride in consistently practising 
responsible marketing, which in turn 
encourages responsible consumption.  
We update our Responsible Marketing 
Code of Conduct whenever necessary.
We were further a founding member of 
SAIF and adhere to its code of conduct.  

52% of production is packaged in 
returnable containers. During 2020, 
NBL achieved a return ratio of 99.7%. 

A water reclamation plant is used to 
reduce the water used in our brewing 
and packaging plants. During the year, 
we operationalised a state-of-the-art   
water treatment plant to improve  
the quality and value-per-litre of water 
from our boreholes. We also purchased 
equipment to extract more beer from 
spent yeast thus saving water. 

In our communities we encourage 
recycling through Project Shine, the 
schools recycling competition, and 
through our founding membership  
of the Recycle Namibia Forum. 

More detail about all aspects of and initiatives in our value chain can be found in our material matters section from page 44.

We deliver products to six depots and five agencies in Namibia. The former includes our depot 
in Walvis Bay and our old facility in Swakopmund which was used temporarily during the 
lockdown in Walvis Bay. Our main site warehouse at our main plant in Windhoek was extended 
by approximately 1 127 m2 to pick mixed pallets and enable direct drops.

We export to 14 countries, including South Africa, predominantly by road transport. Primary 
transport is outsourced to Imperial Managed Solutions (Proprietary) Limited. Secondary 
distribution between depots and customers is managed by NBL trucks and employees. 

WAREHOUSING AND DISTRIBUTION

RETAIL AND CONSUMPTION 

RECYCLING

Read more about the SDGs and our contributions to them from page 44.
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OUR STAKEHOLDERS
Our stakeholders are the individuals or groups who can affect or be affected 
by NBL’s business activities, outputs or outcomes, or who can materially affect 
NBL’s ability to create value over time.

Our purpose and three strategic outcomes were 
formulated with our stakeholders in mind. Our 
values define how we behave towards stakeholders 
and how we do business with them. Read more 
about these in the strategy section from page 24.

We take every opportunity to integrate stakeholder 
engagement into the business. The Group Policy on 
Stakeholder Engagement includes the following aims:

zz To create a receptive, informed and business-
friendly political, social and regulatory 
environment within which we can best achieve 
our strategic and commercial objectives

zz To ensure that stakeholder engagement 
is practised in a proactive, strategic and 
responsible manner, in line with our values

zz To communicate our contribution to society 
while leveraging key reputation drivers

zz To remove barriers to trade and overcome 
challenges

zz To ensure the consistency and continuity of 
corporate social investment activities across  
the Group

zz To provide a framework for the allocation of 
resources

“When the moment calls for us to 
stand together against a shared 
challenge, we as Namibians, have 
proven time and again that we 
have what it takes as a nation to 
effectively answer to that moment.”

We want to: 

zz Enhance the lives and well-being of the societies 
where we operate

zz Enhance business sustainability by contributing 
to broader socio-economic upliftment and the 
betterment of the societies where we operate

zz Enhance business sustainability by improving 
and maintaining stakeholder loyalty and support

zz Position the Group as a truly committed and 
caring corporate citizen

We consider the impact on our stakeholder groups 
and the interdependencies we create throughout 
our value chain in everything we do. Our major 
stakeholder groups are:

SHAREHOLDERS

CONSUMERS

EMPLOYEES

THE ENVIRONMENT

COMMUNITIES

SUPPLIERS

CUSTOMERS/STRATEGIC PARTNERS

GOVERNMENTS

PROVIDERS OF FINANCIAL CAPITAL 
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A 100-year 
legacy

NBL’s 100-year legacy is one of quality, purposeful leadership and discipline. It endured 
many challenges and innovated in response, becoming a local industry leader and owner  
of globally recognised beer brands. NBL has the benefit of being part of the diverse and 
widely respected O&L Group which is recognised for its purpose driven culture, and being 
a private sector leader and Namibia’s largest private employer.

People

At NBL we have a work environment where trust and affinity are at high levels, which 
means we can have tough discussions that lead to breakthrough results and empowerment 
of our employees. Our Great Place to Work® results confirm that employees see NBL as a 
great place to work where  we care about one another, where we celebrate special events, 
and where we can count on one another. We have inspiring and effective leadership and 
emphasise that people come first.

Heineken 
relationship

Heineken is the second largest beer company in the world with a larger global presence 
than any other brewer in the business. Our relationship started in 2003 and was restructured  
in 2015. Today Heineken International B.V. has a 29.68% shareholding in NBL in addition to 
driving production, marketing and sales of NBL products in South Africa and several other 
African countries. Synergies in purpose, culture and operational focus ensure a sustainable 
relationship and provide a platform for growth and scale benefits.

Attractive 
shareholder 

returns

NBL is the only listed entity in the O&L Group, the largest privately held group in Namibia.  
It listed on the NSX in 1996 and has been distributing regular dividends to shareholders 
since. The value of annual ordinary dividends and net asset value per share increased by 
an average of 7.5% and 11.6% respectively over the past five years.

Consumer-
activated 

brands

Our brands consistently win international awards for quality. Loyal consumers give enthusiastic 
feedback and our events are well attended. Our evolving digital capabilities and ongoing 
investment enable relevant customer and consumer engagement through data driven 
marketing while data analytics and insights enable effective and strategic allocation of our 
marketing investments. 

A  
diverse and

ever evolving 
beverage 
portfolio

We offer a diversified portfolio of owned and licensed brands with alcoholic, low and 
non-alcoholic as well as soft beverage options available in 15 markets. We have strong 
innovation capabilities that enable agility through an experienced consumer insights and 
innovation team adhering to global best practice. Through this capability we launch new 
products, variants and refreshed packaging regularly.

Water 
sensitive

Namibia has an arid climate and NBL is one of the biggest water users in Windhoek. We 
ensure sustainability of our operations and natural resources through access to boreholes, 
a water treatment plant, a water reclamation and beer extraction plant, to continuously 
reduce on-site water usage. Over the past five years, our water use per litre of beverage 
has decreased by 7.1%. 

Carbon 
clever

We support the use of clean energy. NBL employs solar energy and a biomass boiler to 
reduce our carbon footprint, while achieving efficiencies throughout the value chain.  
NBL is one among a handful of CO2 self-sufficient breweries in the southern hemisphere. 

EIGHT REASONS TO INVEST  
IN NBL
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OUR CONTEXT 
AND STRATEGY

“Natural and sustainable ingredients 
are not only creative options but 
could be an insurance policy in 
an era of extreme weather. As 
more people work remotely, beer 
and cider can serve as catalysts for 
out-of-home socialisation. Ongoing 
demand for alcohol-free products 
will require alcohol companies to 
diversify their portfolios.” 

 Mintel: The Future of Beer: 2020



26
BEVERAGE 
AND CONSUMER 
TRENDS 

28
THE O&L GROUP’S 
PURPOSE-DRIVEN 
STRATEGY
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Through investment into consumer and market insights NBL gains an understanding 
of global and local consumer and beverage trends that impact our portfolio and 
ensure our responses have relevance and thus ultimately drive growth.

Trends relevant to our portfolio Our response

Global consumption of alcohol in decline
Consumers still seek the diverse and adult taste 
profiles associated with drinking alcohol, which leads 
to an increasing demand for low and non-alcoholic 
beverages.

There is a sustained decline in the consumption  
of alcoholic beverages. Increasing numbers of 
consumers were reducing or eliminating their alcohol 
intake in the years leading up to 2020. 

We continue diversifying our beverage portfolio to 
include non-alcoholic drinks, including softs and water. 

Our low and non-alcoholic beverages cater to the 
demand for lower alcohol options. Currently, we are the 
only beverage manufacturer with a locally produced 
Radler in the Namibian market. During the year, we 
launched the limited-edition Tafel Radler Grapefruit, the 
McKane Dry Lemon and our Windhoek Non-Alcoholic, all 
of which either met or exceeded business expectations. 
We continue our investment into our softs and water 
brands to entrench them as a brand of choice. 

Sustainability and brand ethics

Consumers are more aware of the impact that their 
consumption habits have on themselves or on society. 
This leads to them demanding greater empathy from 
the brands they consume. They expect transparency 
and ethical behaviour from brands, and the sentiment 
is increased by social media commentary. If a brand 
does not meet their expectations, they will move to 
one that does. 

This is a global phenomenon. As a purpose-driven 
Company, we have always considered this important, 
and we have historically built our brands off shared 
value propositions.

NBL is committed to giving back and responding to 
consumer values that resonate with our own. We make 
concerted efforts to reduce our carbon footprint, while 
using water and other inputs responsibly. 

Our brands focus their sponsorship, donation and social 
investment support in areas of impact, for example soccer, 
conservation and skills development. We strictly adhere 
to our Responsible Marketing Code to ensure we do not 
target underage consumers through our advertising of our 
alcohol brands and sponsorships. By choice, we apply this 
to our non-alcoholic offerings where the mother-brands 
are alcoholic in nature.

BEVERAGE AND CONSUMER 
TRENDS

Related strategic focus areas:

Engaging people, engaging 
experiences
Owning the future, creating new 
realities, enjoying the journey

Related strategic focus areas:

Everyone leading, everyone making 
a positive impact.
Owning the future, creating new 
realities, enjoying the journey
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Trends relevant to our portfolio Our response

Premiumisation

The long-running premiumisation trend in most global 
markets continues. Consumers have a desire for 
authenticity with a clearly identified local origin, or a 
need for originality resulting from greater consumer 
experiences. Locally, it also entails aspects of socio-
economic development and aspirational drinking 
associated with higher-end brands and price levels.

We segment and continually evolve our portfolio based 
on consumer needs with brands and formats suited to 
all occasions and lifestyles thereby providing choice to 
consumers. This includes craft and limited-edition brews. 

Windhoek Lager was Namibia’s first premium beer and 
is still perceived as NBL’s most premium and aspirational 
brand. Heineken is Namibia’s preferred imported 
premium brand and rewards consumers by bringing 
global sponsorship like UEFA to Namibia through local 
viewing experiences. 

Expanding repertoires

Consumers continue to demand variety and thereby 
expand their repertoires. Rather than being loyal to a 
single brand, consumers are drinking a variety of 
products and are increasingly looking for new and 
innovative offerings.

Our track record of innovation and new product launches 
caters for the experimental nature of consumers looking 
for novelty. We expand and refresh our brands through 
new flavours, new packaging and exciting campaigns 
that offer amazing experiences. When innovating, we 
consider consumer research and insights, such as a desire 
for healthier products, by reducing sugar content. We 
continuously explore more variety, better tasting and 
high-quality products. 

Move towards value segment

Namibian consumers’ disposable income is under 
pressure, more so than ever. They seek value and look 
for discount options among trusted brands that do 
not compromise on quality. As beverages compete for 
a shrinking share of the consumers’ wallets, value 
segments grow at an accelerated pace. 

To remain competitive and offer consumers better value, 
we continue to manage costs throughout the value 
chain. Brands such as King Lager, which falls in the value 
segment, ensures that we offer a quality clear beer at an 
affordable price.

Related strategic focus areas:

Engaging people, engaging 
experiences
Owning the future, creating new 
realities, enjoying the journey

Related strategic focus areas:

Engaging people, engaging 
experiences
Owning the future, creating new 
realities, enjoying the journey

Related strategic focus areas:

Engaging people, engaging 
experiences
Owning the future, creating new 
realities, enjoying the journey
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THE O&L GROUP’S 
PURPOSE-DRIVEN STRATEGY

“Our new strategy focuses on people – taking care of your people 
provides the basis for business success.”
Sven Thieme, 
NBL Chairperson

WHY WE 
EXIST Creating a Future, Enhancing Life PURPOSE

HOW WE 
LEAD

Live the values | Lead growth | Take bold stands
Cause alignment | Be authentic | Inspire innovation | Deliver extraordinary results LEADERSHIP

WHAT WE 
DELIVER

A CATALYST FOR POSITIVE CHANGE, 
DELIVERING NEW REALITIES, FULFILLING DREAMS

Leading Genius | Global Top 25 GPTW
10 000 Employment Opportunities Secured | N$4 Billion EBIT 

2025 VISION

WHAT WE 
FOCUS ON Everyone leading, 

everyone making 
a positive impact

Engaging people,
engaging 

experiences

Owning the future, 
creating new realities, 
enjoying the journey

STRATEGIC 
AREAS OF 

FOCUS

WHAT 
WE DO

Everyone matters
Everyone’s contribution 

matters

All stakeholders 
purposefully engaged

Lasting relationships, 
sustaining the future

STRATEGIC 
OUTCOMES

Everyone enjoys 
the benefits of leading 

their life

Everyone appreciated, 
recognised and valued

Everyone operating in 
Genius, having fun, 

bringing out the best 
versions of themselves

Always learning, 
learning from everyone, 
open to new possibilities

Free to serve, 
owning the whole

Creating new-to-world 
outcomes

Unleashing the 
unlimited potential 

in everyone 

Delivering beyond 
expectations

A culture of continuous 
innovation, anything 

is possible

OUR 
FOUNDATION

Let’s Talk | Let’s Do It | Hooked on Results | Naturally Today for Tomorrow
We Grow People | We do the Right Things Right | We All Serve VALUES

2025 BREAKTHROUGH STRATEGY
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The O&L Group developed its purpose statement 
Creating a Future, Enhancing Life in 2011. Today, 
the purpose statement is accompanied by an 
updated 2025 Breakthrough Strategy containing our 
vision, values, breakthrough metrics and strategic 
outcomes. At NBL, we applied these elements to 
our business over the eight-year cycle leading up to 
2019. Near the end of this cycle, employees were 
invited to provide feedback on the strategy and 
suggest revisions and improvements. Group 
leadership developed the new strategy with the 
assistance of GAP International, having applied its 
collective mind to employees’ contributions. The 
new 2025 Breakthrough Strategy was announced in 
October 2019.

A major shift between the previous and current 
strategies is a much stronger emphasis on people. 
Previously employees were seen as important 
drivers of strategy, while the new vision is  
clear that people are the strategy.

According to the new strategy:

zz Employees who are motivated and enabled to be 
the best version of themselves inevitably innovate 
and deliver great performance

zz Leadership and management carry more 
responsibility for providing employees with the 
tools they need and for engaging employees 
regularly and meaningfully

Consequently, employees’ performance 
management has been reworked, and the new 
system was implemented on 1 July 2020. 

The new model will focus on employee performance 
which ultimately translates into Company 
performance. The driver of this will be leadership 
and engagement to ensure everyone performs in 
breakthrough.

Read more:

– We show how our strategic outcomes respond to consumer and brand trends in the section on page 24. 

– We provide information about our strategic risks and opportunities in the Managing Director’s report from page 32. 

– Evidence of strategic outcomes can be found in the section on our material matters and NBL’s contribution to a 
sustainable world from page 44. 
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Read more about these initiatives and progress in the material matters section from page 44.

STRATEGIC OUTCOMES 

Everyone is successful, 
thriving and making 
things happen in 
breakthrough mode.

Sustaining growth, 
ever-expanding, 
securing the future

Bringing sustainability 
everywhere, impacting 
the world

Purity-inspired, reliable 
quality, impacting the 
whole

Everyone is deeply 
connected to purpose, 
lives the values and is 
proud of what they do.

Excellence in everything, 
executed with care

Consistent 
experiences, amazing 
relationships and 
lasting impact

Everyone is valued, 
recognised and 
appreciated for the 
difference they make.

Inspired by integrity, 
creating trust and 
confidence

Always there, simple 
and easy, the natural 
choice

We continue rolling out the breakthrough 
architecture in all functional teams, with each 
individual working from their own purpose to 
support the Group purpose.

We continue reducing our use of natural resources 
and have increased our reclamation and recycling 
ratios.

We continue expanding our portfolio for more choice 
in all categories. 

Feedback from the 2019 Great Place to Work® survey 
indicated that employees are engaged and clear 
about their roles and contribution. 

We maintain ethical and effective governance 
structures based on integrity.

International and local awards confirm the quality 
and appeal of our products. 

Our brands are purpose-driven and make impact 
contributions, for example King Lager (Man with  
a Plan), Windhoek Lager (Save the Rhino) and  
Tafel Lager (Brave Warriors). 

Our digital journey transformed sales and marketing 
capabilities by improving data availability, 
engagement and insights.

Our material matters identified the ways in which we 
are giving back to continue sharing value sustainably 
with stakeholders.

We continue owning and driving the responsible 
drinking agenda in Namibia and have demonstrated 
this through our strong track record of implementing 
responsible drinking initiatives and drawing attention 
to road safety during peak holiday periods.

Everyone 
purposefully 
producing 

breakthrough 
everywhere

Amazing  
experiences,  

enduring  
impact

Sustainable 
execution in 
everything
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HIGHLIGHTS CHALLENGES

zz 83% of our employees believe NBL is a great 
place to work according to the Great Place to 
Work Survey®

zz Our new low and non-alcoholic products were 
immediately successful and could be sold during 
part of the COVID-19 lockdown period

zz We continue our digital journey which  
has and will further improve our customer and 
consumer engagement, sales efficiencies and 
capabilities and ultimately drive overall future 
volume growth 

zz We became more water-efficient and  
water-independent through our borehole  
water- and-yeast-extraction plants 

zz We rolled out the #TakesaNation campaign to 
encourage unity and personal responsibility 
among Namibians in response to the COVID-19 
pandemic

zz Our local partnerships assisted us to maintain 
operations during supply chain disruptions due 
to the Namibian and South African lockdowns

zz The Namibian economy continued to struggle 
throughout the year

zz COVID-19 and the consequent lockdowns, muted 
economic activity, disrupted supply chains, 
negatively impacted overall consumer spend and 
led to many small customers and suppliers going 
out of business 

zz The Namibian and South African alcohol ban 
significantly impacted volumes of sales

zz Margins remained under pressure and were 
further impacted by our decision to support 
consumers by not taking a price increase on our 
returnable bottles 

MANAGING DIRECTOR’S REPORT

“Current market conditions demand 
that we compete for every litre we sell. 
Fortunately, NBL has a strong brand 
offering which enables us to defend 
market share in all segments.”

Marco Wenk
Managing Director
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A BREWERY UNDER LOCKDOWN

NBL’s overall volumes declined by 16.6% in an 
unusually challenging year. We were delivering fair 
growth in volumes for Namibia, South Africa and 
our export market pre-COVID-19. Through 
continuous innovation and the pursuit to find new 
ways to excite our consumers, we launched several 
new products, including Windhoek Non-Alcoholic 
which reported lively demand trends to date.

The lockdown measures related to COVID-19, as set 
out on page 3, required that we shut down most of 
the Windhoek brewery operations between April 2020 
and the end of May 2020. Albeit unusual, this period 
allowed us to focus on high-priority plant maintenance 
while finding new ways to engage with our 
consumers, reduce operational costs and ensure we 
are ready to meet the market demand at the end of 
the alcohol ban period.

Fortunately, our stock levels allowed us to sufficiently 
provide for the post-alcohol ban consumer demand 
which resulted in NBL selling double our previous 
highest single-day volume on 2 June 2020. This 
achievement was as a result of our teams working 
right through the night to ensure our customers 
received their orders on time and in full. The period 
leading up to the end of the alcohol ban on 
2 June 2020 was an exceptionally difficult time 
for suppliers, customers and employees.

Due to similar lockdown measures in South Africa 
some of our supply chains were disrupted. Before 
COVID-19 the NBL team had already been 
investigating new sourcing opportunities from other 
African countries while driving localisation efforts to 
ensure we can meet growing future demand. 

Following the closure of our borders, we were 
supported through our local suppliers. As 
testimony to our breakthrough thinking and 
great relationships, we did not run out of any 
packaging materials or supplies. 

Towards the end of the financial year, NBL was fully 
operational, delivering products to customers and 
seeing consumers enjoying our brands again. Volume 
growth for Namibia ended on -14.6% (2019: +3.9%),  
for South Africa on -22.9% (2019: +44.4%) and export 
markets on 10.4% (2019: -31.2%). 

AN ALCOHOLIC BEVERAGE BAN

Namibia and South Africa both faced prohibitions of 
alcohol sales, as well as brand marketing during 
certain levels and stages since March 2020. As per 
the Liquor Act, Act 6 of 1998, only beverages with 3% 
or more alcohol by volume content are classified as 
alcoholic beverages. Initially this definition was 
applied, and NBL was able to sell some brands such 
as Tafel Radler, Windhoek Light and Windhoek 
Non-Alcoholic. Unfortunately, regulations issued to 
combat COVID-19 as of 4 May saw the prohibition of 
beverages with any alcohol content. This had a 
substantial impact on our customers and suppliers, 
while sporting events and community initiatives 
came to a halt.

NBL delivered 3.9% growth in revenue by mid-year. 
Revenue for the full year, after multiple months of 
prohibition in both our Namibian and SA markets, 
decreased by 14.6% compared to prior year. The 
deceleration was amplified by the fact that NBL 
had, on account of an already struggling economy, 
decided not to take an annual price increase on 
returnable bottles, which constitute the dominant 
portion of Namibian beer sales. 

We are proud of building a sustainable business over the last 100 years. 
Not many companies achieve this milestone. NBL has not only succeeded in 
becoming a high performing entity but has also set a benchmark for how to 
endure and continuously find opportunities to remain relevant. The business 
has gone through many phases and we are confident that we are well 
positioned to weather the current period of uncertainty and positively 
reinvent NBL.
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Current market conditions demand that we compete 
for every litre we sell. Rising unemployment and 
reduced consumer spend are the most inhibiting 
factors for volume growth in Namibia. More and 
more consumers are migrating to mainstream and 
value segments. Fortunately, NBL has a strong 
offering through brands such as Tafel Lager, 
Windhoek Draught and King Lager to enable us to 
defend market share in all segments.

In South Africa, Heineken SA, in which NBL has  
a 25% equity share, has also been severely  
impacted by the South African Government 
directive in response to COVID-19. This resulted  
in a N$16.4 million decrease in royalty payments 
from Heineken SA. Production volumes according to 
the supply agreement with Heineken SA were 
however delivered as planned. 

SUPPORTING OUR STAKEHOLDERS 

Our purpose, Creating a Future, Enhancing Life, 
means that we consider all our stakeholders when 
doing business, and that we respect their contribution 
to and interest in our business. This was particularly 
evident during lockdown periods, during which 
stakeholders faced many different challenges. 

NBL is an industry leader, a large employer and a 
responsible corporate citizen. This year, we 
supported our stakeholders in the following ways:

Engaging our employees
NBL participated in the annual Great Place to Work 
Employee Engagement Survey for 2020 and was 
once again accredited as a Great Place to Work® in 
Africa. NBL’s Trust Index score increased to 72% 
(2019: 70%), and we again ranked overall 5th place 
in the large corporate organisations as best place to 
work for in the entire Africa. 

83% of employees at NBL say ‘this is a great place 
to work for’. Our most improved survey results were in 
employees’ perception that we care about one another, 
that we celebrate special events, and that we can count 
on one another to cooperate. The survey indicated that 
employees are positive about NBL’s senior leadership 
and overall downward communication.

NBL also participated in the Great Place to Work 
Culture Audit©. The results highlighted that NBL  

is a proud employer with a clear strategy of being 
committed to sharing and engaging with all 
employees. Relative areas of strength included 
inspiring and effective leadership. The audit findings 
pointed to a culture of caring and inclusion, and 
recommended that we continue working on training 
and diversity awareness. Overall NBL’s culture was 
rated among some of the best companies in Africa.

These results support a deliberate shift this year 
with our new 2025 Breakthrough Strategy 
emphasizing that once people come first, 
performance will follow. We experienced the 
outcome of this approach in the way our employees 
adapted to lockdown measures and cared for their 
colleagues and the business. Where possible, 
employees worked from home, and operations 
implemented shifts systems. The safety of our 
employees remained an absolute priority at all 
times.

Our new strategy further saw the introduction of an 
updated performance management model effective 
1 July 2020. The model focuses on performance 
inspiration and leadership engagement opposed to 
a key performance indicator driven system.

Leadership engagement, employee inspiration and 
relationships were further a vital aspect which saw 
employees supporting sudden changes in business 
strategy and operational demands brought on by 
the lockdown and alcohol ban stages of COVID-19. 

The impact of COVID-19 on sales volumes saw the 
implementation of various cost-cutting measures. 
Some of these included reducing and or placing on 
hold all operational expenditure. On the human 
capital side, cost reductions included reducing leave 
provisions, salary reductions for executives, halting 
all overtime work, halting sales incentives as well  
as agreeing on no salary increases and bonuses. 
Other than NBL’s executives however, the rest of our 
827 employees continued to receive their full salary 
at all times. Retrenchments remained a last resort. 
We are further grateful for the support and 
understanding of our bargaining unit and the 
Namibia Food and Allied Workers Union (NAFAU) 
which agreed to no bonuses during 2020 while 
wage increases were deferred to the 2021 financial 
year. Wage negotiations scheduled for this year were 
postponed until 2021.
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EVERYONE LEADING, EVERYONE MAKING A POSITIVE IMPACT

During the COVID-19 lockdown stages, many employees were not able to perform their daily tasks from  home given the nature 
of their work. This unfortunately meant that many employees were required to take annual leave during this time, with some 
running out of leave in the process.

As an example of breakthrough thinking and making a positive impact, NBL with the support of its employees, created a leave 
bank where employees that were able to work from home could voluntarily donate some of their leave days to help those that 
were not able to do so. We had a great response from NBL employees with the donated leave ensuring that no NBL employee 
was required to take unpaid leave during the lockdown stages.

Bringing our suppliers closer
The disruption of global supply chains during the 
pandemic highlighted the importance of localisation 
and supporting small businesses to develop and 
grow which ultimately allows NBL to reduce its 
exposure to external country risks and fluctuating 
exchange rates. Working with local suppliers during 
lockdown in Namibia also brought home the need 
for more flexibility and collaboration as both parties 
focused on getting products out and available. 

Our long-term relationships really came into effect 
during the pandemic by supporting fair tradings 
terms and honest discussions. There is mutual 
understanding of this unprecedented global 
challenge with a great deal of risk mitigation 
coming from sound relationships.

Many suppliers have over-capacities, cash flow 
concerns, and high uncertainties pertaining to 
volumes due to the impact of the pandemic. 

Our flagship localisation project, the commercial 
barley growing venture in the Kavango region, has 
unfortunately been put on hold due to the effects  
of the drought and import restrictions for seeds.  
We are however still committed to developing this 
industry going forward.

Inspiring and engaging consumers 
Since the 1990s we have developed a much deeper 
understanding of our consumers and the life cycle  
of brands. This has led us to build a basket of 
beverages that meet the diverse needs of our 
nation. This year we experienced the benefit of this 
strategy by seeing consumers remaining loyal to our 
core brands but also being able to enjoy some of 
our more innovative low and non-alcoholic products 
during the alcohol sales ban.

Our strategic brands all support social or 
environmental initiatives. This provided us the 
platforms to provide focused consumer support 
during the pandemic. In response to the measures 
taken for COVID-19, and keeping true to our 
purpose Creating a Future, Enhancing Life, we 
launched a campaign to remind consumers of our 
collective responsibility to keep each other safe. The 
#TakesANation campaign is grounded in caring and 
looking out for each other. The core message during 
lockdown stage three was to encourage all to “shop 
responsibly, drink responsibly, socialise responsibly, 
entertain responsibly and enjoy responsibly”.

Lockdown conditions accelerated the uptake of 
digital engagement with consumers. We continued 
applying an omnichannel approach when investing 
in advertising and promotional activity. This ensures 
reach and impact through new digital and 
traditional media channels.

Our investment into a digital insights panel in recent 
years showed its value during COVID-19 as it allowed 
us to understand consumer behaviours and sentiment 
during these times, and to continue research without 
having to rely on traditional face-to-face interviews. 

Our brands will continue to identify meaningful 
initiatives to support consumers. Through NBL’s 
scale and credibility we are in a strong position to 
influence and educate. We want to contribute to 
building a nation of determined, hardworking, yet 
caring people who will have the endurance that  
NBL has had over the past 100 years.
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Supporting and partnering with our 
customers
We have an extensive customer base built over many 
years by consistently delivering high-quality products 
and excellent service as well as having two of 
Namibia’s most loved brands, Tafel Lager and 
Windhoek Draught within our large brand portfolio. 
Over and above this, we have earned trust by 
rewarding consumers through events and promotions, 
and through continued sponsorships and investments 
into their communities. Nevertheless, COVID-19 
significantly changed many fundamental trade 
dynamics. The pervasive discounting market in the 
past few years had put customers in a strong position 
to demand. The recent lockdowns and stages of 
alcohol bans have however severely impacted many 
of our stakeholders and trade partners. True to our 
purpose, we have supported many of our loyal 
customers through payment term extensions and thus 
further cemented our long-standing partnerships.

A positive long-term outcome is a shared 
understanding of the value chain and importance  
of shared value to secure sustainability for all 
stakeholders. Unfortunately, there have been several 
business casualties among our customers, with 
some shebeens and small redistributors not 
surviving the period of restricted trade. NBL was 
acutely aware of this risk since the beginning of the 
first lockdown and worked closely with other 
industry players to lobby Government to ensure 
they could return to trading as quickly as possible 
however with full adherence to all directives.

OPERATIONAL INVESTMENTS AND 
IMPROVEMENTS

Digital sales and planning 
The implementation of our new sales and planning 
system was a highlight during the financial year. By 
replacing our manual system with a real-time 
platform, allows us to improve forecasting and 
enhance customer experiences. Planning decisions 
and engagement are now based on a much wider 
range of data and insights that were previously not 
available or not consolidated into meaningful data. 
Our sales and area managers are now able to engage 
proactively and meaningfully with customers on the 
ground, while focusing their time on building 
relationships rather than capturing data.

We anticipate that the system will positively impact 
customer loyalty, volume growth opportunities  
and overall value creation. 

We further exchanged a manual process with an 
automated interface between NBL and our partner, 
Heineken SA, that allows for the exchange of daily 
information on product stock on hand, management 
of daily call-offs, ageing of stock and other vital 
information feeds. 

Our manual transport schedule system also 
migrated to a SAP-based system. This migration 
now allows the Market Supply department to 
capture sales orders, which significantly reduces 
the time spent on the process. Further to this, 
purchase requests can be generated automatically, 
leading to more accurate transport invoice rates.

Our natural resources benefit from recent 
investments
A new borehole water treatment plant was 
commissioned in November 2019 to provide up to 
80% of NBL’s water requirement from our on-site 
boreholes. The new water treatment plant is highly 
automated to provide consistent high quality brew 
water under all conditions. The new plant further 
reduced our overall water consumption as well as 
down time all while being actively monitored by the 
installation of additional automated water meters.

Coming out of a prolonged drought, the new plant 
ensured that NBL – as the biggest industrial water 
user in Windhoek – can actively mitigate the risk of 
future droughts as well as lessen the burden on the 
City of Windhoek’s water supplies. NBL’s annual 
borehole abstraction permits determine the volume 
of water we can access from the boreholes.

Our project which allows us to recover beer from 
spent yeast showed very promising early results, 
even exceeding expectations. Unfortunately, it had 
to be paused due to low production volumes during 
lockdown, which made it impossible to synchronise 
brewing with yeast recovery, as both processes have 
to run parallel.

36 NAMIBIA BREWERIES LIMITED 



About 
this report

Chairperson’s
statement

Our 
profile

Our context 
and strategy

Managing Director’s 
report

Material matters
and the SDGs

Governance 
report

Annual financial
statements

NBL continued winning awards

DLG Gold Awards 2020: Gold for Windhoek Lager, 
Windhoek Draught, Windhoek Light, and Tafel Lager

DLG Silver Awards 2020: Windhoek Non-Alcoholic 
and Tafel Lite

13th DLG long-term product quality award

The DLG test is one of the most demanding 
Reinheitsgebot beer tests worldwide. Beers are 
subjected to extensive quality checks over a period of 
three months, including a blind sensory tasting. The 
testing is done by experts who assess the beers based 
on scientific requirements in individual test procedures.

The Large Enterprise Company of the Year: Joint 

First Place and the Large Enterprise Product of  

the Year: First Place awards from the Namibian 

Standards Institution (NSI) at the  

2019 National Quality Awards

The NSI’s National Quality Awards recognises 

companies for top quality advancement and support 

Government’s efforts to establish, develop and 

enhance a strong and fully functional national 

quality infrastructure regime.

BRAND PERFORMANCE

Tafel Lager remains our top beer brand in terms  
of penetration, volume and revenue contribution. 
Windhoek Draught is on a growth trajectory with a 
distinct trend towards more frequent consumption. 
The decline in sales of Windhoek Lager over the past 
few years have slowed and, in some regions, we are 
seeing clear evidence of growth again. Strongbow 
cider volumes are under pressure in a highly 
competitive category which has seen many 
innovations in the past year.

Our drive to be ahead of the curve in meeting the 
ever-changing needs of consumers ensured resilient 
sales this year. We continue innovating with 
highlights for the period including:

zz Windhoek Non-Alcoholic was launched as a 
new offering in the premium segment, providing 
consumers with a non-alcoholic alternative without 
compromising on quality and our 100% pure beer 
positioning of the Windhoek brand. The brand 
variant was brought to market in record time, 
testing our ability to conceptualise and execute 

with agility. Volumes exceeded expectations, 
partly also due to the increased uptake during the 
lockdown period. 

zz The success of Tafel Radler, a fusion of citrus 
juices and beer in the low and non-alcoholic beer 
segment, retained momentum, supported by the 
launch of a new limited-edition grapefruit variant.

zz The new classic, McKane Dry Lemon is the latest 
addition to NBL’s range of superior value and 
quality soft drinks/mixers, produced in Namibia.

zz King Lager, Namibia’s home-grown barley value 
beer is showing good growth following the Man 
with a Plan campaign. It is gaining a foothold with 
our strong regional approach and by building 
awareness through trade activation supported by 
price compliance by our trade partners.

Sales of soft drinks and water were flat on last year, 
and under pressure during lockdown. The sudden 
change in drinking occasions and convenience 
impacted consumer behaviour – especially where 
these beverages were mainly consumed with 
convenience and takeaway foods.
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MARKET PERFORMANCE

For the first nine months of the financial year, overall 
volumes were growing both in Namibia and South 
Africa. Unfortunately, prohibition and national 
lockdowns resulted in a negative overall volume 
performance.

Tanzania remains our biggest export market other 
than South Africa, and it was our best performing 
export market for the year. It is also our second 
largest Windhoek Lager export market. Volumes 
continued to grow despite the impact of COVID-19 
measures, which restricted our ability to export 
within the first stage of Namibia’s lockdown. 

Heineken SA Exports Company continues to market 
and distribute our brands in Botswana, Lesotho and 
Eswatini. Through this partnership and our 
combined portfolio of brands, we maximise supply 
synergies and route-to-market efficiencies.

We further launched Tafel Lager and Tafel Lite in 
Zambia and are excited about this opportunity – the 
brand is showing good growth albeit off a small 
base. 

Market volume comparison (%)

2020 2019
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FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE

30 June
2020

N$’000

30 June
2019

N$’000

Consolidated statements of comprehensive income
Revenue  2 645 832  3 097 583 

Operating expenses  (2 192 589)  (2 445 672)

Operating Profit   453 243   651 911 

Finance income   17 592   26 607 

Finance costs  (50 545)  (42 455)

Equity loss from associate  (76 703)   450 542 

Profit before taxation   343 587  1 086 605 

Income tax expense  (82 260)  (155 486)

Profit for the period   261 327   931 119 

Other comprehensive income   2 220    708 

Total comprehensive income attributable to ordinary shareholders   263 547   931 827 

Consolidated statements of financial position
Property, plant and equipment   985 323   995 967 

Investment in associate   778 663   855 366 

Other non-current assets  61 167   33 051 

Current assets  1 082 732  1 221 135 

Total assets  2 907 885  3 105 519 

Issued capital   1 024   1 024 

Non-distributable reserves  (548)  (103)

Retained earnings  1 755 419  1 954 353 

Ordinary shareholders' equity  1 755 895  1 955 274 

Interest-bearing loans and borrowings (non-current)   501 608   183 508 

Other non-current liabilities   211 375   206 865 

Current liabilities   439 007   759 872 

Total equity and liabilities  2 907 885  3 105 519 

The financial impact of COVID-19, including the suspension of production, trading and exports, was stifling. 
NBL’s volume growth had been gaining momentum since the positive turn in 2019, until business came  
to a complete halt at the end of March 2020. As a result, revenue decreased by 14.6% to N$2 646 million  
(2019: N$3 098 million). The comparative numbers below show the negative consequences of alcohol  
trade restrictions:

9 months
(1 July to
30 March)

 y-o-y %
change

12 months
(June)

y-o-y %
change

Revenue 3.0 (15.5)
Namibia volumes (0.3) (14.6)
South Africa volumes 5.6 (22.9)
Export volumes 34.4 10.4

INTEGRATED ANNUAL REPORT 2020 39



About 
this report

Chairperson’s
statement

Our 
profile

Our context 
and strategy

Managing Director’s 
report

Material matters
and the SDGs

Governance 
report

Annual financial
statements

Prior to lockdown measures in most of our markets, 
performance was on track for a positive year 
following the launch of innovative new products 
such as Windhoek Non-Alcoholic and buoyant 
demand for Tafel Radler. Growth in South Africa 
was outperforming forecasts, and NBL was 
preparing to supply higher volumes to support 
Heineken SA’s constrained capacity. 

The lack of throughput and sales in April and May had 
a direct impact on operating profit which declined by 
30.5% to N$453 million (2019: N$652 million). As with 
any brewery, our operational cost structure has a fixed 
element that assumes a minimum level of volume 
throughput. Consequently, operating profit declined 
more steeply than volumes. However, we took 
immediate steps to reduce non-productive costs  
and other expenses. These included remuneration 
adjustments, reduced advertising and marketing 
spend as well as reduced intake of raw materials  
and packaging. 

Reduced imports of raw material meant that NBL 
was not hit by higher exchange rates during the last 
quarter of the year. However, the exchange rate is 
expected to have a potentially severe impact on 
costs in the first half of the next financial year. 
Operating expenses, which were in line with inflation 
prior to COVID-19, decreased by 10.3% for the year. 

Margins were under pressure before COVID-19 
arrived due to persistent economic challenges  
and the effect on consumers’ disposable income.  
As mentioned earlier, we did not implement an 
annual price increase on returnable bottles, which 
constitutes the dominant portion of Namibian beer 
sales. This assisted in retaining volumes and market 
share in Namibia. 

Heineken SA experienced even more severe trade 
restrictions in South Africa, resulting in a loss of  
N$76.7 million in associate contribution. This is  
a major swing from last year’s contribution of  
N$450 million which included a substantial deferred 
tax asset derived from previously unutilised tax losses.

Profit for the year decreased by 71.7% to N$264 million 
mainly as a result of lower volumes and the equity 
loss from Heineken SA. 

Liquidity was well-managed, especially in the last 
three months of the financial year. We refinanced 
N$580 million of debt which moved the debt’s 
maturation date from November 2020 to June 2025.  
We also arranged N$570 million in additional 
facilities to mitigate any potential liquidity risk. 

We recognise the increasing risk of customers 
defaulting on their payments and made additional 
provision for debtors. At year end our debtor days 
ratio was at 31 (2019: 30). NBL’s net debt-to-equity 
ratio increased to 20% (2019: 11%).

Cash flow remained in a fairly stable range and 
positive position. Net cash flow from operating 
activities increased to N$24 million from a negative 
N$81 million in the previous financial year. This was 
mainly due to significant tax refunds and a smaller 
special dividend paid out compared to prior year. Net 
cash outflow from investing activities of N$143 million 
was higher than the previous year. Returnable 
bottles remain our main capital investment item. We 
are conservative in our planning for capital 
investment in the next year, and will focus on 
completing projects that were delayed due to 
COVID-19. With that, we also remain open  
to exploring acquisitive or partnership opportunities 
that might emerge in the wake of COVID-19. 

Reinheitsgebot
At Namibia Breweries, we are extremely proud 

that we uphold the tradition established in 1516 
and brew according to the Reinheitsgebot.

Written by Bavarian noblemen in the year 1516, 
the law says only water, malted barley and hops 

may be used to brew beer.
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OUR STRATEGIC RISKS AND OPPORTUNITIES

We regard our strategic risks and opportunities as those conditions, situations or trends that could significantly 
impact NBL’s financial strength, competitive position or reputation within the medium to long term.

Risk and/or 
opportunity How we respond

The rapid spread of 
COVID-19 globally

Our business continuity plans for crisis responses have enabled us to reprioritise and 
manage costs effectively. NBL’s COVID-19 response team was critical to co-ordinate our 
efforts. Safety and preventative measures have been put in place, while we continue to 
engage with Government.

Equity investment and 
supply agreement with 
Heineken SA

We have regular engagement with Heineken SA as the performance of this business partner 
has a significant impact on NBL’s profitability. A supply agreement is in place and we 
continuously align business strategy and operational opportunities. 

Exchange rate volatility We have a Group hedging policy and continue diversifying into new markets, thereby 
reducing currency concentration risk. The local sourcing of goods and services mitigates 
against exchange rate risk, as the unpredictability of the local currency purchasing power 
impacts the cost of imports as well as income derived from export sales. 

Widespread drought We explore alternative water sources while monitoring and reporting on our water use. 
The boreholes at our Windhoek site ensure sustainable supply of water and our water 
treatment plant contributes to efficient water use of the highest quality.

Non-compliance We are committed to complying with all relevant laws, regulations and standards to mitigate 
against business disruption, fines, loss of income and reputational damage. We monitor this 
against NBL’s compliance universe and have a combined assurance programme to ensure 
effective controls. The risk and audit committees have oversight of the status of compliance. 

Loss of market share to 
competitors

Our challenge is to break through the clutter in the market with distinctive brands, 
impactful advertising and driving conversion at point of purchase. We do this through  
an optimised route to market model, visibility and excellent execution across all consumer 
touchpoints. We ensure a balanced portfolio with profitable offerings and unique, 
differentiating experiences across the price ladder. 

Credit risk due to 
debtors

Our credit management approach enables us to address the inability of customers to pay 
on time and in full, thereby mitigating against financial losses. We have a credit control 
policy and compliance is monitored. 

Economic climate Our exposure to a limited and highly competitive Namibian market under subdued 
economic conditions may dilute the profitability of the business and result in cash flow 
challenges. We address this through the timing and extent of price increases, by reducing 
costs and overheads to maintain margins and monitoring Company performance through 
a range of business forums. 
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OUR STRATEGIC PRIORITIES

With high levels of uncertainty in the wake of the 
global pandemic, we are confident that the 2025 
Breakthrough Strategy provides us with clear 
guidance and direction for the journey. 

We have several priorities for the next year:

zz We are planning a rigorous stock-keeping 
unit (SKU) optimisation exercise to eradicate 
inefficiencies that have been created in our value 
chain through low and non-performing SKUs. 
This will help us free up line capacity as well 
as shelf space for brands, thereby serving our 
commitment to deliver extraordinary results. 

zz Innovation is more important than ever to ensure 
we have a portfolio that will meet the needs of 
our consumers and all relevant occasions; we 
will need to reimagine the typical beer occasion 
which was our greatest volume driver in the past. 

zz We will continue on our digital transformation 
journey. This includes driving the full adoption 
of our new sales platform and the introduction 
of technology that will allow us to measure the 
effectiveness of our advertising spend. 

OUTLOOK

In the wake of the global pandemic, we expect 
continued hardship in our core markets. Rising 
unemployment and reduced consumer spend are  
the most impactful concerns for our business, 
combined with the ability of governments to 
stimulate and support economic recovery in general. 

Our people remain at the core of our success.  
Their skills and competencies will catapult NBL  
into the future. These include agility, flexibility, 
interdependence, breakthrough leadership, as well 
as specialised innovation, product development, 
design thinking and digital commerce skills.

Our focus is on stabilising the business, maximising 
volumes while remaining flexible and managing 
costs. We aim to recover to normal volumes as soon 
as possible while protecting margins: ensuring that 
we deliver at the lowest cost yet achieve the best 
price and ensure unwavering quality. 

Operational efficiencies will be under pressure if 
volumes remain subdued for a longer period of 
time, which may lead to strategic right-sizing of 
operations. Retrenchments will however remain a 
last option.  

We are actively searching for opportunities beyond 
our borders. The world is changing, we are open to 
explore new trading models and partners while 
being focused on remaining sustainable for the next 
100 years.

APPRECIATION IN A DIFFICULT TIME

This year my appreciation really goes to the entire 
NBL team: anyone and everyone walked the extra 
mile under very difficult conditions to ensure our 
success in an extremely challenging financial year. 

We also appreciate our business and financing 
partners who continue to support us, the O&L 
Group and Heineken SA. 

“The past 100 years have been filled 
with dramatic changes, in our country, 
in technology and in our business. But 
what has not changed is our passion 
for brewing and always using the best 
quality ingredients.

Marco Wenk, 
NBL Managing Director
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MATERIAL 
MATTERS 
AND THE SDGs

“By giving back to our stakeholders and sharing value, we contribute 
in a material way to the United Nations’ Sustainable Development 
Goals. It also supports our purpose, Creating a Future, Enhancing Life 
to ensure that NBL can be here for the next 100 years.”
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Our operations and relationships allow us to create and share value. Our diversified 
portfolio, commitment to quality, and our unique culture and long-term growth 
opportunities position us as a market leader. We use the returns we gain to give 
back to stakeholders.

NBL’s resilience depends on its stakeholders.  
Our emphasis is often not on the product we sell, 
but on how the entire business contributes to the 
well-being of the system in which we operate. 

With the introduction of our new strategy we made 
a commitment as part of the O&L Group to align our 
outcomes to the United Nations SDGs. We join an 
international community of governments and 
businesses focused on impact – all aligned with  
our purpose. 

At NBL, we are starting the SDG journey with  
our material matters as a foundation input. We 
determined these material matters through a formal 
process in 2018 by focusing on our drivers for value 
creation. We framed our material matters as the ways 
in which we are ‘giving back’ to our stakeholders, 
thereby contributing to the sustainable development 
of Namibia. Our material matters remain essential to 
our ability to give back sustainably and support our 
purpose, Creating a Future, Enhancing Life.

IDENTIFYING OUR SDG PRIORITIES

With the 2025 Breakthrough Strategy approved,  
the O&L Group launched a process to align the 2025 
sustainability programme to the strategy. This 
included extensive engagement with all operating 

CONTRIBUTING TO A 
SUSTAINABLE WORLD

companies, including NBL, and aimed to ensure that 
our sustainability efforts will support both our 
strategy and value system while creating sustainable 
outcomes. We believe that a strong sustainability 
programme builds credibility, improves relationships 
and enhances brand awareness.

The SDGs presented us with a set of global goals  
and targets to focus our efforts. We recognise that 
the 17 SDGs are interconnected and interdependent, 
but that we needed to prioritise to be catalysts for 
positive change. 

The O&L Group approached the SDG selection 
process by considering strategic outcomes and four 
major capitals: financial, human, natural and social. 

At NBL we elected to first establish our own 
baseline by determining which goals matter most  
to us based on our Company profile. Our team used 
the SDG Action Manager’s assessment tool that  
was developed by B Lab and the UN Global Compact. 
Based on the outcome of the first assessment, we 
reviewed the top goals identified for NBL and decided 
on a priority set to start exploring for the first year. 

We recognise that this is a journey, and are 
committed to identifying indicators that will allow us 
to measure progress, impact and our contribution. 

NBL’s priority SDGs

As a leading beverage manufacturer, NBL  
has a responsibility to minimise harmful alcohol 
consumption, reduce the impacts of its effluent, 
and to invest in employees’ well-being.

NBL’s biggest opportunity to contribute to the 
SDGs is in economically uplifting Namibians. We 
aim to provide dignified work with decent wages 
and growth opportunities, while developing the 
local industry to be self-sufficient.

NBL is the biggest industrial consumer of water 
in Windhoek. It is critical that we minimise our 
consumption and the impact we have on water 
quality.

NBL aims to be responsible and ethical in how 
it uses and recycles natural resources.

NBL can contribute to clean energy by 
substituting fossil fuel-based electricity with 
renewables, and by improving energy efficiency.
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NBL’S MATERIAL MATTERS AT A GLANCE
1.  By providing career development, training and transformation 

opportunities, in addition to remuneration and rewards, we can 
support our employees in bringing their individual and our 
collective purpose to life.

2.  By offering consumers in all segments a choice of 
exceptional quality beverage brands that are relevant, 
sustainable, widely available and aspirational, we meet their 
evolving needs.

3.  We decrease our reliance on natural resources in terms of 
water and packaging through efficiency gains and waste 
management, to ensure the sustainability of our business for 
the benefit of all our stakeholders.

4.  We empower communities through corporate social 
investment (CSI) initiatives, while providing society with the 
benefits of regional sponsorships and events.

5.  Through localisation efforts, we grow and support our 
supplier base beyond just offering contracts and making 
payments for materials and services.

6.  We drive collaboration with our customers and strategic 
partner, Heineken SA, who benefit from synergies, expertise, 
growth opportunities and relationships of trust.

7.  By being a good corporate citizen that conducts business 
responsibly, ethically and with transparency, we give our local 
and central governments the comfort that they can also rely 
on us to pay taxes and duties.

8.  Our clearly defined strategy and purpose drive resilience and 
growth to ensure constant dividends and reliable repayments 
to our providers of financial capital.

9.  We ensure effective risk management, particularly in IT, which 
results in meeting legislative and compliance requirements, 
while mitigating risk on behalf of our stakeholders.
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Great Place to Work® indicators and insights

To track our progress against our vision metric for 
employees, NBL participated in the 2020 Great Place  
to Work Employee Engagement Survey and was 
certified as a Great Place to Work® in Africa. NBL was 
ranked overall 5th place in the large corporate 
organisations as best place to work for in Africa.

93% employees completed the survey (2019:82%) 
with a change in the participation approach: 
739 employees took part as part of a census this 
year while 297 employees participated in 2019 
as part of a sample.

83% of employees say ‘this is a great place to work’ 
(2019: 82%)

More NBL employees feel that they receive a fair share 
of the organisation’s profits than the Africa benchmark.

Our Trust Index increased to 72% (2019: 70%)

85% of employees want to work at NBL for a long 
time (2019: 85%)

88% of employees indicated that they feel proud of 
being part of NBL (2019: 84%)

30% of employees believe that communication 
between departments and teams can improve 
(2019: 35%).

WHAT DID THE SURVEY TELL US ABOUT EMPLOYEE 
ENGAGEMENT? 

The top statements for NBL employees are:

zz I understand O&L Group’s purpose and vision 2025.

zz I understand the ‘operational goals and business 
direction’.

zz I’m proud to tell others I work here.

zz When I look at what we accomplish, I feel a 
sense of pride.

Key question: How do we create a working environment where employees are motivated and 
empowered to deliver their full potential? 

In keeping with the new 2025 Breakthrough Strategy, we 
consider our 827 employees to be the single most 
important component of our success. If we are to drive 
our business to its maximum potential, we need to ensure 
that we build a work environment that they feel is 
Creating a Future, Enhancing Life. 

We provide a great employment experience to attract and 
retain the optimal talent for our needs. We ensure our 
business’s sustainability by combining their diverse skills 
and competencies with our breakthrough architecture. In 
this way, we deliver the results that build a sustainable 
business while employees find meaning in their roles.

SUPPORTING SDG 3 AND 8

We look after the physical, mental and financial well-being  
of our employees. This was a particular focus during 
COVID-19: the health and safety of our employees was an 
absolute priority. We are further applying breakthrough 
thinking to ensure we retain jobs, sustain remuneration levels  
and invest to reinvent NBL for a post-COVID-19 world.

By providing career development, training and transformation opportunities, in addition to 
remuneration and rewards, we can support our employees in bringing their individual and our 
collective purpose to life 

MATTERS MATERIAL TO 
VALUE CREATION
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GENDER BALANCE INITIATIVES

We are committed to increasing the diversity of our employee 
demographics by supporting the Government’s efforts to drive 
transformation in the workplace. 

To create a gender-fair workplace, we set annual targets as 
part of our three-year affirmative action plan. This addresses 
fair and equitable recruitment that balances gender across 
the divisions. We offer a fully paid maternity leave benefit for 
employees to provide mothers with more financial security. 
This assists in attracting and retaining female talent. We also 
have a private on-site breastfeeding facility.

SAFEGUARDING JOBS DURING A PANDEMIC

NBL has taken every measure to retain employees during 
this difficult time, including a 15% reduction in salary for 
executives, reducing overtime, shift allowances, sales 
incentives, and leave provisions.

We engaged our majority union, NAFAU, and negotiated to 
cancel wage increases and bonus pay-outs and postponing the 
salary negotiations scheduled for June 2020, until June 2021. 
NAFAU supported the decision. We maintain a mutually 
supportive relationship with no strikes in the past 21 years. 

Read more about our leave bank initiative to 
support colleagues in the Managing Director’s 
report on page 35.

WORKING DURING COVID-19

As soon as the pandemic became a business reality,  
NBL needed to shift its focus from improving employees’ 
experience to guaranteeing their safety. Early into the 
pandemic, we established a cross-functional on-site COVID-19 
team. This team was tasked with ensuring employee safety  
and well-being, raising awareness, organising personal 
protective equipment (PPE), as well as making arrangements 
for employees who needed to work from home. 

We immediately invested in technology to allow employees 
to work from home, and for those who could not perform 
their functions remotely, we set up A and B teams to allow 
for a shift system. We are proud of the maturity and mutual 
support we received from our employees during this time. 
They truly exemplify our values and purpose.

PERFORMANCE MANAGEMENT FOR PURPOSE

We are progressing towards an environment where we can 
improve the employment experience and decision-making 
through access to quality people data. This will also free up 
time for human resource support to focus on adding more 
value throughout the employment journey: from preboarding, 
onboarding and cross-boarding to off-boarding. The pandemic 
necessitated that we redirect funds towards business-critical 
initiatives, but our projects in this area are ongoing.

Our new performance management system took effect 
from 1 July 2020. It will determine bonus payments 
exclusively based on Company performance. This change 
requires management to improve employee engagement 
in order to create a continuous breakthrough environment 
thus ensuring a collective improvement in Company 
performance.

Our strategy includes the deliverable: Leading Genius. We believe that every employee possesses ‘Genius’ 
qualities that could be technical, inter-personal or emotional, among others. These can be applied in 
combination with those of their colleagues to foster a breakthrough high-performance environment that 
sees Everyone operating in Genius, having fun, bringing out the best versions of themselves.

We regularly engage employees at all levels through channels such as the Great Place to Work® survey, 
human capital road shows, and the Managing Director Business Engagement session. We drive awareness 
campaigns on policies and procedures to promote a sound employment relationship and good behaviour. 
Disciplinary cases reduced by 28% during the year.

By providing career development, training and transformation opportunities, in addition to 
remuneration and rewards, we can support our employees in bringing their individual and our 
collective purpose to life (continued) 
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SECURING A PIPELINE OF SKILLS

Scarcity of specialised skills, especially digital skills, remains a risk to NBL. Although there is a steady supply of tertiary 
graduates, they lack industry experience. We mitigate the risk by profiling our needs in the media and with long-term talent 
development programmes. We are building digital competencies through training and study loans to create in-house expertise.

We manage, maintain and transfer our internal skills and knowledge. Specialists within the business often lack the time to 
offer coaching and on-the-job training. We mitigate this risk by changing job profiles and the responsibilities of specialists, 
especially those approaching retirement. These shifts alleviate operational pressure and free up time for skills transfer.

The Talent Attraction, Apprentice Brewer, and Apprentice Artisan programmes are conducted annually for participants to 
develop skills and gain industry experience over two to five years. We recognise that employees in this demographic are 
looking for agile positions that offer career growth, and we have slightly re-engineered our positions’ structures to 
sustainably cater to them. During the year, we trained three brewer apprentices. We permanently employed two people 
into specialised roles through the Talent Attraction programme this year.

We participated in the Namibian Training Authority’s Apprentice Pilot programme to subsidise apprenticeships and provide 
technical training. This year, we recruited five apprentices through this programme.

Other programmes include the following:

zz The Job Attachment programme develops young talent with industry experience in highly specialised technical 
positions to compensate for retirement and attrition. 16 students in the vocational training sector were employed as job 
attachments for the period.

zz The Understudy Development programme transfers skills from non-Namibians to Namibians in line with section 19(3) 
of the Affirmative Action (Employment) Act, 1998 (No. 29 of 1998). During the year 14 employees took part in the 
programme.

zz The Study Assistance Scheme finances employees to study in their fields of work and in line with our strategy. 15 new 
applications were approved for the reporting year. 

zz The Engineer in Training programme trains participants and presents them with career growth opportunities in 
engineering consulting companies. During the year, NBL had two participants, and to date two have been appointed in 
middle management positions within NBL.

We have development plans in place for all employees appointed through these programmes, and these are tracked 
quarterly.

In the longer term, we plan to refurbish and upgrade our workshop to provide fully fledged technical training as a way to 
ensure a continued supply of quality skills.

Despite the difficulty in sourcing experienced specialised skills, non-Namibian citizens comprise only 1.45% of the total 
permanent workforce (2019: 1.6%). 

By providing career development, training and transformation opportunities, in addition to 
remuneration and rewards, we can support our employees in bringing their individual and our 
collective purpose to life (continued) 

WELLNESS OF OUR EMPLOYEES

Employee turnover reduced to under 2.92% (2019: 3.9%) and absenteeism reduced to 1.53% (2019:1.84%), excluding the 
leave granted to employees who could not work from home during the COVID-19 state of emergency. We conducted 
regular health and safety audits and had no fatalities on site (2019: 0).

Our on-site clinic in Windhoek offers occupational and primary healthcare services. Health, safety and wellness 
programmes make for a healthy workforce and increased productivity. Employee induction and continued training 
programmes emphasise the risks of working in an environment that is characterised by moving machinery, the handling of 
chemicals, forklift and truck operations, as well as ventilation and lighting demands.

Our lost-time injury frequency rate was 0.28, which is well within our Group target of 0.75. We refreshed communication 
and awareness, and highlighted the importance of safety. COVID-19 also has psychosocial impacts. We dealt with these as 
they arose, while we continuously look at how else we can support the impact on our employees due to COVID-19.

We also support financial wellness by promoting a savings culture at work. Through an engagement with NamPost, we 
established a savings scheme whereby employees can save monthly and earn interest. The proceeds are paid out (with the 
option to continue saving) in January each year to ensure that our employees have sufficient funds to cater for expenses 
such as school fees, school clothes or any other related expenditure. 
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Everyone leading, everyone making a positive impact

Owning the future, creating new realities, enjoying the journey 

Contributing to our strategic outcome:

GIVING BACK TO OUR EMPLOYEES

We give back to our employees through rewards initiatives such as our Value Star recognition programme. Through this 
programme, we identify specific people who display behaviours associated with the Group’s values. They then participate 
in an annual award ceremony and incentives. A monthly NBL Value Star is chosen and one overall winner is selected from 
the 12 monthly winners. The annual winner joins the other O&L subsidiary winners for an unforgettable incentive trip.

1.45% 
of employees are non-Namibians  
(2019: 1.6%)

827
EMPLOYEES
(2019: 801) 

0.28% 
lost-time injury frequency rate 
(2019: 0.5%)

13%
of revenue paid as salaries, wages and other 
employment cost (including medical aid and 
pension fund contributions) (2019: 13%)1

N$3 032 666 MILLION
invested in skills development and training 
(2019: N$3 025 000)

1 Total employment costs remained relatively the same. The increase in this proportion reflects the lower revenue earned in 2020.

By providing career development, training and transformation opportunities, in addition to 
remuneration and rewards, we can support our employees in bringing their individual and our 
collective purpose to life (continued) 

1902
Windhoek
In Klein-Windhoek a 
brewery was opened by 
Heinrich Schmidt.

1907
Windhoek
Felsenkellerbrauerei 
Aktiengesellschaft is 
established.

1912
Swakopmund
The Kronen-Brauerei opens 
with Johann Heuschneider 
as the director.

1917
Omaruru
Felsenkellerbrauerei opens 
the Omaruru Urquell brewery.

1920
Merger

On 29 October 1920, South West Breweries 
Limited officially emerged as the consolidated 
entity of the Kronen Brauerei, Omaruru Brewery, 
the Klein Windhoek Brewery and the Felsenkeller 
Brewery.
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Our consumers are from all income levels across a 
range of geographic locations and feature diverse 
demographic profiles. We engage with them 
through experiences that connect them to our 
purpose, and offer them brands that anticipate and 
exceed their expectations.

COVID-19 exacerbated pressure on consumers as 
they experience higher unemployment and even 
lower disposable income. We assisted by keeping 
our quality brands affordable and declined to 
increase the price of returnable bottles during 2019. 

The pandemic accelerated a consumer shift to online 
channels. Online penetration is growing across Africa 
and reached 64% in Namibia in May 20201 , a significant 
increase of 33% from 2018. We used this trend to do 
digital surveys and adapt brand experiences for a 
digital audience. 

The ban on the sale of alcoholic products impacted 
consumers’ access to our beverages. On the other 
hand, it exposed them to a different range of 
products, as we were allowed to continue selling 
lower-alcohol brands for slightly more than a month 
after the lockdown was instituted. This gave 
momentum to the consumer shift and increasing 
appetite for low and non-alcoholic beverages and 
allowed us to trial new products without the 
typically required investments. These include new 
products such as Tafel Radler Grapefruit, McKane 
Dry Lemon and Windhoek Non-Alcoholic, all of 
which exceeded expectation from launch. 

Tafel Radler Grapefruit also has a lower sugar 
content, as we progressively cater for healthier 
consumer preferences. 

Key question: How do we engage consumers and deliver engaging experiences?

1 Google DV360 May 2020.

By offering consumers in all segments a choice of exceptional quality beverage brands that are 
relevant, sustainable, widely available and aspirational, we meet their evolving needs
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CONSUMER CO-CREATION

Through a collaboration between Tafel Radler and Leah Misika, 
a top Namibian fashion designer, consumers were inspired to 
design their own T-shirts using a bespoke website and enter 
their design into the competition for the chance  
to win N$5 000 and the opportunity to have their T-shirts 
printed. Engagement was amplified through a mechanism 
whereby Namibians voted for their favourite design.

This integrated campaign achieved a 35% entry rate, with  
4 090 entries, we reached consumers across the country 
with fashion shows held in the key regions – central,  
north and coast – and exceeded our volume target by 13%. 

MAKING DIGITAL CONNECTIONS

Our digital marketing capabilities are steadily improving  
as a strategic priority for the business. We use integrated 
marketing communication strategies to spend our 
marketing budget more effectively by targeting the right 
audience with our campaigns.

The 2019 Tafel Lager independence campaign achieved over 
4.4 million impressions and reached 462 720 consumers.

ENGAGING EXPERIENCES

Windhoek Draught engaged artist Gazza Milli as a brand 
ambassador by sponsoring his concert in Windhoek for  
10 000 attendees in August 2019. We use brand association  
as a key performance indicator for any NBL brand 
ambassadorship programme. In December 2019, a brand 
survey showed that 30% of consumers associate Gazza Milli 
with Windhoek Draught, and 20% associate him with NBL. 
This means his increasing popularity, as shown by his 
Chelete video reaching three million views benefiting NBL  
by proxy.

SUPPORTING SDG 12

Product labels, brand campaigns and our websites all 
present information to consumers to ensure they can make 
decisions that support sustainability. The principles of 
sustainable consumption are embedded in our research 
and innovation processes and include all aspects of 
product development, packaging and recycling options.

KEEPING IT REAL

In January 2020 Windhoek launched a new campaign: Keep It Real, 100% Pure Beer. Featuring Gerard Butler in a witty 
commercial, the campaign recognises Windhoek champions – those who stay true to themselves, who show up as their 
most authentic self, who know what’s important and those who keep it real. Despite only eight weeks on air before the 
COVID-19 pandemic lockdown, the overall brand impact was positive. 

16.6%
DECREASE IN SALES VOLUMES
2019: 13.8% increase in sales volumes 

Engaging people, engaging experiences 

Contributing to our strategic outcome:

By offering consumers in all segments a choice of exceptional quality beverage brands that are 
relevant, sustainable, widely available and aspirational, we meet their evolving needs (continued)
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Our resource allocation decisions are guided by our commitment to Creating a Future, Enhancing Life, and 
consider the environmental impact of each product’s life cycle – from its development to the disposal of the 
product and its material components.

Key question: How are we producing more with fewer resources?

To deliver value to stakeholders over the long term, NBL 
needs to have natural resources available for its 
production processes. We carry a responsibility to 
preserve these resources and the environment that 
provides them for our own and our stakeholders’ benefit.

SUPPORTING SDG 3, 6, 7 AND 8

In our operations, pollution is mainly derived from waste, 
which is treated according to an agreement with the City of 
Windhoek. We are committed to reducing pollution to 
protect public health and conserve water as a resource in the 
process. This is aided by our water treatment and yeast 
extraction initiatives. We also contribute to green energy, 
continuously improve energy efficiency, and use technology 
to optimise all aspects of the business. 

MORE BEER, LESS WATER

NBL is Windhoek’s biggest industrial water user. Water is vital 
to our operations: it is the primary ingredient in our products 
and is used in almost all our manufacturing processes. 

One of our major capital expenditure projects for 2020  
was NBL’s water treatment plant for our boreholes. We 
commissioned the plant in November 2019 to improve 
the quality of the water we abstract and reduce our 
water dependency on City of Windhoek’s resources.  
It uses latest software which ensures optimal operation 
and further reduces plant down time. This should allow 
our boreholes to satisfy 80% of our water needs. Our 
boreholes’ overall contribution to our water demand  
was 32%, reaching a maximum of 74% during April 2020.

Other water saving initiatives included the project to 
recover beer from spent yeast, and the monitoring and 
tracking of water usage to identify water wastage and 
abnormal consumption.  

The majority of the excess water used during production is 
reclaimed and transferred into the city’s effluent system, where it 
gets treated to an acceptable level before being disposed of into 
a river system.

Litres of water used per litre of beverage produced 
(hl per hl of product)
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We decrease our reliance on natural resources in terms of water and packaging through 
efficiency gains and waste management, to ensure the sustainability of our business for the 
benefit of all our stakeholders
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ALTERNATIVE ENERGY LOWERS OUR CARBON 
FOOTPRINT

The biomass boiler we use at the Windhoek brewery is a 
first in Namibia, and remains the country’s largest wood 
boiler. It replaced the use of approximately 8 million litres 
of heavy fuel oil since it was taken into production in 2016. 

Before the lockdown we were on track to generate 80%  
of our thermal energy from our biomass boiler by the end 
of this financial year.  

Thermal energy is mainly used in the brewing process 
however also for cleaning and packaging purposes.  
Our aim is to reduce thermal energy consumption as  
it directly affects our carbon footprint and the use of 
heavy fuel oils or wood chips.

The boiler uses wood chips sourced from pervasive 
invader bush, thereby clearing land for use and improving 
the carrying capacity of farms. For the year, invader bush 
thinning was completed for approximately 970 hectares.

The rooftop solar plant met 7.9% (2019: 7.3%) of our 
electricity demand in the past year. Overall, the solar plant 
has provided us with approximately 1 470 528 kWh of 
green energy for the year, thereby saving 1 471 tons of 
CO2 emissions.

NBL is fully self-sustainable in its CO2 consumption needs. 
We have significantly reduced our consumption over the 
years through daily recording, observation and corrective 
actions, and we can now recover an average 30% more CO2 

than we consume. Unfortunately, the COVID-19 lockdown 
meant that we did not generate this surplus during the year.

Our initiatives to reduce thermal energy efficiency MJ/hl 
consumption include the following:

zz Insulation of open valves and piping to reduce heat losses

zz Use of heat recovery systems

zz Monitoring and controlling of water losses from the system

zz Closing bypasses on the system network to reduce 
thermal losses

zz Automatic monitoring with alarms to address operational 
issues quickly

zz Using consumption data to optimise processes

zz Reviewing consumption data to assess system performance

Thermal energy consumption (MJ per hl of product)
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OPTIMISING ELECTRICITY USE

NBL employs electricity-intensive processes, such as 
refrigeration. The ban on alcohol sales meant that we 
needed to operate these processes constantly. Although 
we were able to maintain the quality of our stock, doing so 
drastically reduced our electricity efficiency for the year. 

Optimising initiatives during the year included the 
following: 

zz Increased metering and consumption monitoring

zz Process optimisation of our water treatment plant

zz Process optimisation of our CO2 recovery plant

zz Process optimisation of our waste water treatment plant

zz Upgrading to more efficient lighting systems

Total electricity consumption (kWh per hl of product)
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We decrease our reliance on natural resources in terms of water and packaging through 
efficiency gains and waste management, to ensure the sustainability of our business for the 
benefit of all our stakeholders (continued)
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HIGHER VOLUME, LOWER EFFLUENT

During the year, NBL purchased equipment to extract beer 
from surplus yeast. The aim is to reduce water consumption, 
effluent volume, organic load in effluent, and heat and 
cooling consumption. We achieved a 72% ratio against a 
target of 80%. Unfortunately, the COVID-19 lockdown 
affected this process, as it needs to run in tandem with our 
brewing equipment.

We continue to reclaim and pre-clean effluent, with the 
remaining waste volumes treated by the City of Windhoek 
according to a contractual agreement by which the City of 
Windhoek benefits from the bacteria in our effluent.

SUPPORTING A CLEANER ENVIRONMENT

During the year, we were one of the main sponsors of  
the National Clean-up campaign together with the 
O&L Group. There were increased efforts to teach the 
communities on the separation of waste.

We sponsored N$20 000 to the annual Fish River Canyon 
and the Ondangwa Clean-up campaigns. Volunteers 
traversed 90-km over the course of a few days to clean up 
waste throughout the entire Fish River Canyon. All waste 
was recycled.

The clean-up of Ondangwa aimed to keep the town clean, 
to create awareness among residents of the importance of  
a healthy environment, and to promote the Reuse, Reduce 
and Recycle (3Rs) of waste materials. The whole community 
of Ondangwa participated, including formal and informal 
settlements, institutions, schools, businesses and churches.

NBL is the main sponsor of Project Shine, which comprises 
two environmental activities in the Erongo region: a 
clean-up and an awareness campaign. As a partnership 
project with the Swakopmund Municipal Council, 
Bannerman Resources, First National Bank and Plastic 
Packaging, Project Shine creates an understanding of 
waste management and the risk involved in illegal 
dumping of waste along the roads and in open spaces, and 
emphasises the importance of recycling waste generated 
in the municipal jurisdiction.

INCREASING RECYCLING RATIOS

During the year, the hampering of the recycling project was not a result of COVID-19, but rather a result of the over supply 
in South Africa of recycling material, no demand meaning that we did not have a market. At the same time, COVID-19 put 
a stop to many recycling activities during the industry’s shutdown. However, we still play an active role in trying to find 
industry solutions for creating circular economies locally by participating in the Beverage Containers Alliances. We are 
further a founding member of the Recycle Namibia Forum. 

We sponsored the first prize of N$10 000 for the annual schools recycling forum competition, with 48 schools participating. 
In 2020, the competition achieved recycling of 151 503 kilograms sorted and 28 129 kilograms mixed recyclables.

We continue our wider initiatives to collect returnable bottles. 48% of NBL’s production is packaged in returnable 
containers that are collected through an extensive network to minimise waste.

During 2020, NBL achieved a return ratio on its 500-ml and 750-ml returnable bottles of 99.7%. This is partly made possible 
through an agreement with AB InBev Namibia to exchange returnable bottles weekly. At secondary depots we have recycling 
initiatives that separate general waste from bottles and cans – this waste is then collected by Rent-a-Drum on a weekly basis.

Windhoek Draught has moved from pressure-sensitive, plastic labels, to paper labels which are easier to recycle. Where 
possible, we add thickening agents to our plastic in order to use less plastic.

We decrease our reliance on natural resources in terms of water and packaging through 
efficiency gains and waste management, to ensure the sustainability of our business for the 
benefit of all our stakeholders (continued)
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COMBATTING POACHING

We support the fight against poaching to protect Namibia’s animals and conserve its tourism industry. Namibia is home to 
free-roaming rhino and Africa’s largest black rhino population. Windhoek Lager partnered with Save the Rhino 
International in the UK, where a range of fundraising events and activities have been launched. 

These events and activities drive brand awareness, while supporting rhinos. NBL is a leading supporter of campaigns 
against rhino poaching, and this year we supported Intelligence Support Against Poaching with N$100 000 and 
repurposed tables and benches for their training facility. 

Windhoek Draught also donated beer for income generation at the Camp Rock awareness drive.

Owning the future, creating new realities, enjoying the journey 

Contributing to our strategic outcome:

32.2% 
of water requirements met  
by own sources (2019: 23.4%)

4.1
litres of water used per litre of 
beverage produced (2019: 4.1 litres)

48%
of production packaged in 
returnable bottles (2019: 52%)

We decrease our reliance on natural resources in terms of water and packaging through 
efficiency gains and waste management, to ensure the sustainability of our business for the 
benefit of all our stakeholders (continued)

1928
Swakopmund

Hansa Brauerei is 
established.
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During a crisis such as COVID-19, a large corporate’s first responsibility is its sustainability. To continue 
giving back to communities and other stakeholders over the long term, we need to strengthen NBL and care 
for our employees. Thus, we scaled back CSI funding. Going forward, our brands will continue contributing 
to campaigns that speak to the issues consumers care about. However, we will focus most of our funding on 
responsible consumption and road safety campaigns.

Key question: How do we build towards prosperity in our communities?

We give back to Namibian communities in various ways. 
We invest for sustainability and use our scale and impact 
as part of the O&L Group. We work closely with the 
corporate affairs team at O&L Group in co-ordinating 
projects. The Group’s key focus areas are education and 
skills development, which we support in some of the key 
initiatives listed below.

We realise that we, as part of the O&L Group, can play an 
expanded role in bringing stakeholders together, and can 
inspire other parties to support and drive similar initiatives. 
Being responsive to community interests is key to living our 
purpose.

SUPPORTING SDG 8 AND 12

Our volunteer programmes, social investment initiatives and 
brand sponsorships support decent job creation, 
entrepreneurship, creativity and innovation, and encourage 
the formalisation and growth of small businesses. With 
breakthrough thinking we also find innovative ways to 
repurpose and recycle waste.

TOGETHER WE MAKE A DIFFERENCE

NBL employees assisted in Creating a Future, Enhancing 
Life, and contributed to Leading Genius by repurposing 
recycled steel for the Desks for Education project, and  
by building kindergarten classrooms as part of the O&L 
Classrooms initiative. Through these initiatives, we 
manufactured 300 desks and constructed two classrooms.

STAYING WARM, STAYING SAFE 

We invested in protecting those who need it most during the 
pandemic: We contributed 53 tents and refreshments towards a 
COVID-19 relief effort for the homeless, and supported via an 
industry collaboration to provide water to informal settlements. 

We also distilled some of our stored alcohol to higher 
potencies to be used as hand sanitisers, and supported the 
University of Namibia to produce its own hand sanitisers.

SPORT WITH A PURPOSE

Through brand sponsorship and events, we connect with 
and give back to our communities in ways that deliver 
engaging, memorable experiences. This covers a range of 
sporting events. NBL is committed to contributing to, and 
supporting the future of sports, including the development 
of local talent.

Tafel Lager continued sponsoring Namibia’s national soccer 
team, the Tafel Lager Brave Warriors. The team qualified for 
the CAF African Nations Championship.

Tafel Lager sponsors the South African Tafel Lager Griquas 
rugby team. This has helped them improve from playing in 
the SuperSport Challenge’s semi-final three years ago, to 
winning this year. They also improved from sixth place to 
third place in the Currie Cup over the past three years.

The Namibian rugby team qualified for the World Cup for a 
record sixth time, with the support of Windhoek Draught.

Windhoek Lager sponsored seven southern African 
countries, whose winning pairs then qualified for the 
World International Pairs golf competition.

CREATING A FUTURE THROUGH EDUCATION

Our relationship with the National Institute for Special 
Education stretches more than 19 years. NBL sponsored 
the School for Visually Impaired, School for the Hearing 
Impaired, and also the Moreson school with AquaSplash 
and Fruitree every month (for each school) over the 
12-month period.

NBL also participated in the Group-level Edulution project 
which takes students who have fallen out of the education 
stream and assists them in catching up through extra 
classes using iPads and numeracy programmes in English 
to also improve literacy skills.

We empower communities through CSI initiatives, while also providing society with the benefits of 
regional sponsorships and events
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MORE SKILLS, MORE OPTIONS

King Lager continued its partnerships with a vocational training centre to give back to consumers. The Man with a Plan 
upskilling campaign educates participants, mostly unemployed, on various trades to inspire them to seek out means to 
make a living and care for their families. 

We selected relevant topics with the assistance of the Namibian Training Authority to be featured monthly on radio 
stations. Four sets of mini workshops covered programmes focused on growing alternative fodder during a drought joinery 
and cabinet-making. The October series of workshops reached over 500 Namibians.

COMMENTS FROM ATTENDEES

zz “When is the next one? I want to attend all of them”

zz “Thank you King Lager, we learned a lot and you inspire us to go do more and not just sit at home”

zz “Keep up the good work of giving back to the community”

zz “King Lager cares about my future”

zz “I have never tasted King Lager before but because of this workshop I got a chance to learn something and not just 
taste the beer”

N$3 172 323
MILLION
invested in social projects and 
sponsorships (2019: N$3.4 million) 

Everyone leading, everyone making a 
positive impact 
Owning the future, creating new realities, 
enjoying the journey

Contributing to our strategic outcome:

We empower communities through CSI initiatives, while also providing society with the benefits of 
regional sponsorships and events (continued)
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Key question: What are we doing to increase our local procurement spend in Namibia?

There is a global trend towards localised industries, as 
countries seek to reduce their dependence on one 
another and secure more reliable local supply chains. 
COVID-19 increased this sentiment as many businesses 
were unable to reach their cross-border suppliers, 
customers or clients. 

SUPPORTING SDG 8

Our local supplier development initiatives support decent 
job creation, entrepreneurship, creativity and innovation, 
and encourage the formalisation and growth of small 
businesses. We appreciated these relationship particularly 
during COVID-19 disruption of global supply chains.

As a water scarce country with an economy fairly dependent on South Africa, Namibia’s sustainability relies 
on developing local industries. Unfortunately, NBL depends, for example, on imported raw materials to 
produce and package its beverages. Nevertheless, as a Namibian company, we are committed to stimulate 
job creation and support broader economic growth and stability.

COVID-19 has had a severe impact on our economy and our value chain leading up to 30 June 2020. 
During the lockdown, many businesses could not operate at all, or only on a limited basis. Many of them, 
especially small or informal businesses, have shut down. The consequent increased unemployment had a 
knock-on effect of costing other businesses their customers. The prohibition stifled most of our business, 
which carried serious consequences for the suppliers and customers who in turn depend on our business. 
Our value chain includes harbours, packaging producers, transport companies and the agriculture sector, 
among many others.

When selecting suppliers, we aim to build mutually beneficial relationships that consider each supplier’s 
sustainability and exposure to NBL. Although we want to be a prime customer, we have always been 
sensitive to creating commercial dependency. 

We constantly explore ways to develop local suppliers, particularly in manufacturing, logistics services, 
marketing and advertising. This includes aiding small and medium-sized suppliers, where appropriate.  
For example, we offer preferential payment terms and provide technical and administrative support to 
improve business efficiencies. 

Through localisation efforts, we grow and support our supplier base beyond just offering 
contracts and making payments for materials and services
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We have strategic, long-standing relationships with European suppliers from whom we import 100% of our 
malted barley and hops requirements for beers brewed according to the Reinheitsgebot. The procurement of 
a major portion of ingredients is based on long-term contracts – some running three to four years into the 
future – to ensure the required volumes and product quality. Packaging material, which includes bottles, 
cans, cartons and shrink foil, is predominantly imported from South Africa.

We engage with critical suppliers through quarterly reviews. These reviews include an open discussion on 
quality issues, areas of poor communication, pricing trends and opportunities for innovation. This helps to 
establish a mature relationship based on trust and continuous improvement.

In our primary transport services contract with Imperial Managed Solutions Namibia (Proprietary) Limited, 
we create opportunities to give back by encouraging subcontracting to small Namibian transport companies. 
More than 64% of all primary transport loads have owners who were previously disadvantaged.

CORRUGATED MATERIAL

In the first half of the year, NBL re-established a 
relationship with a local corrugated material supplier.  
We developed a workshop to improve the quality of  
their products to be used in our processes. This local 
relationship was especially useful when we could not 
import products.

SWAKOPMUND BREWING COMPANY 

During the year, NBL installed equipment at Swakopmund 
Brewing Company to fill beer in bottles to sell at restaurants 
in the Strand Hotel, we further enclosed the hotel’s beer 
garden. This will allow NBL to perform small-scale brewing 
trials that support new product innovations.

Contributing to our strategic outcome:

Everyone leading, everyone making a positive impact 
Owning the future, creating new realities, enjoying the journey

Through localisation efforts, we grow and support our supplier base beyond just offering 
contracts and making payments for materials and services (continued)

Vintage bottle Windhoek Pilsner 
in wooden box.
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Our customers benefit from incentive programmes that share value through increased sales volumes and 
market share growth. In the informal market, for example, we support shebeen owners with point-of-sale 
material and advertising.

Key question: What are we doing to share even more value with our customers?

Our customers encompass formal and informal wholesale 
and retail trade outlets in the markets in which we 
operate. These include, for example, supermarkets, liquor 
stores, shebeens, pubs and other hospitality outlets.

We create value for our customers through our direct 
interaction with them, and via our strategic partnership 
with Heineken SA.

SUPPORTING SDG 3 AND 8

A large portion of our customers serve the informal market and 
benefit from our support to improve their businesses and grow 
volumes. If they do well, we do well, which leads to job creation, 
innovation and empowerment. We work with our customers 
and our strategic partner, Heineken SA, to improve productivity 
and optimise efficiencies, thereby reducing our impact on 
natural resources. We also work with them to reduce the 
harmful effects of alcohol abuse through education.

CREATING VALUE THROUGH OUR HEINEKEN SA 
PARTNERSHIP

We have a joint arrangement with Heineken SA, where we 
offer selected Heineken products in Namibia, while they 
channel our products into eSwatini, Lesotho and 
Botswana. The strategic partnership allows both parties  
to benchmark, transfer skills and collaborate on brand 
campaigns. In addition to leveraging one another’s brand 
portfolios and supply synergies, Heineken SA and NBL 
have a volume migration agreement that provides joint 
access to the Sedibeng Brewery in Johannesburg and 
NBL’s brewery in Windhoek. This creates production 
flexibility and efficiency options.

Unfortunately, the bans on alcohol trade in Namibia and 
South Africa reduced volumes in both countries, but our 
business relationship remains sound. We maintain our 
responsibilities to one another’s brands as far as possible.

We have formal weekly, monthly and quarterly forums with 
Heineken SA, in addition to daily contact that results in 
smoother operations on both sides.

Our automated interface is nearing full implementation. It 
reduces human error and assisted in synchronising internal 
operations, as well as those between us and Heineken SA.

CREATING AMAZING EXPERIENCES THROUGH THE 
WALVIS BAY DEPOT

In the previous year, we decided to relocate our coastal depot 
from Swakopmund to Walvis Bay. The Swakopmund facility 
was becoming a safety risk. The shift improved employees’ 
quality of life at work and helped to create amazing 
experiences with enduring impact for customers in the region. 
The depot has the same throughput as the one in Swakopmund. 
There is potential to develop the property for other uses in 
the future.

Efficiencies to date include a quicker route to market, 
reduced transport costs and increased stock holding and 
the possibility of loading export containers on site.

MAKING DISTRIBUTION MORE EFFECTIVE IN NAMIBIA

Distribution effectiveness is key for NBL in order to get 
stock to customers at the right time, place and correct 
quantities. NBL uses a redistributor model through which  
it deploys direct drops to customers, in line with meeting 
growing customer needs. We reached a direct drop ratio  
of 54%. This is to increase to 60% by the next financial year 
end by delivering more from our main site via a project 
initiative and by co-loading double drops for customers. 
The remaining distribution network has been serviced by 
12 NBL depots and agents across Namibia with call and 
collect and town deliveries services.

N$2 646
MILLION
14.6% decrease in sales revenue 
(2019: 15.3% increase)

Contributing to our strategic outcome:

Everyone leading, everyone making 
a positive impact 
Engaging people, engaging 
experiences 

We drive collaboration with our customers and strategic partner, Heineken SA, who benefit from 
synergies, expertise, growth opportunities and relationships of trust
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As a good corporate citizen, we endeavour to reduce the harm and social cost associated with alcohol 
abuse. We continuously market alcoholic beverages in a manner that encourages responsible consumption 
and we aim to reduce alcohol-related harm. We do this in collaboration with Government, the community 
and non-governmental institutions in Namibia. This includes our involvement as a founding member of the 
Self-Regulating Alcohol Industry Forum (SAIF), which comprises major alcohol producers and distributors 
in Namibia.

SAIF’s membership is based on voluntary compliance with a code of conduct that prescribes world-class 
standards in self-regulation to prevent the negative consequences of alcohol abuse. During the lockdown,  
it was an instrumental forum to engage with Government. It allowed us to discuss the way forward in lifting 
the ban on alcohol sales to support small businesses, without being irresponsible around public health. 

In the previous financial year, we adopted the principles of the aware.org regulations. This year, we applied 
these regulations to update our marketing code regarding the low and non-alcoholic category. We recognise 
that even non-alcoholic products such as Windhoek Non-Alcoholic should not be marketed to underage 
consumers, because they inherently market their mother-brand and could thus be a gateway product.

Group Corporate Relations ensures that an independent evaluation against the code is done on all NBL 
marketing and sales campaigns, advertising and promotional material.

Key question: What are we doing to support the Government through these hard times?

NBL is a Namibian market leader in alcoholic beverages. 
As such, we carry a responsibility to our country’s stability 
and overall functioning. We conduct business in a way 
that contributes to inclusive and sustainable development 
for all stakeholders. We recognise that consumers prefer 
brands that show empathy and support causes with which 
they resonate.

We support the Government’s Growth at Home strategy, 
the Harambee National Prosperity Plan and, ultimately, 
Vision 2030. We continue to engage with the Government 
on key issues – such as water security – to ensure 
alignment on Namibia’s challenges.

SUPPORTING SDG 3 AND 8

We are committed to driving positive, safe and responsible 
drinking behaviour and investing in a range of initiatives to bring 
the message home. We support Government in its initiatives to 
stimulate economic and social development.

By being a good corporate citizen that does business responsibly, ethically and with transparency, 
we give our local and central governments the comfort that they can also rely on us to pay taxes 
and duties
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30 YEARS OF INDEPENDENCE

NBL celebrated Namibia’s independence by donating  
410 cases of Windhoek Lager to the Ministry of 
International Relations and Co-operation.

Tafel Lager planned to sponsor Namibia’s 30th 
independence celebrations, and it had various promotional 
activities planned. Unfortunately, these were cut short  
by COVID-19 and the lockdown.

SAFER WITH LEFA

LEFA is a cab-hailing app that presents an alternative to 
driving under the influence of alcohol. During the year,  
NBL made N$150 000 available for marketing and 
maintaining the app.

Namibia’s first cab-on-demand app now has 45 cabs,  
and has become a trusted service provider in Windhoek. 
LEFA also had significant growth. Between January 2019 
and February 2020, it had 4 412 successful rides, against  
a target of 3 500.

ENJOY RESPONSIBLY 

Since inception in 2009, our DRINKiQ® training programme has reached over 6 487 Namibians, 86 of whom were trained 
during this financial year. The DRINKiQ® programme empowers participants with knowledge on alcohol consumption, as 
well as the physical, emotional and psychological repercussions of excessive alcohol use. Participants walk away with a 
better understanding of the short and long-term effects of alcohol abuse, which empowers them to make smart decisions 
about the use of alcohol.

The programme aims to instil a sense of accountability and responsibility among consumers for the broader reach of their 
actions, beyond alcohol-related harm. This included, for example, recent training at a mine to reduce the number of positive 
alcohol tests at the gate.

In response to COVID-19, we redirect marketing spend towards initiatives to raise awareness around responsible 
behaviours. Our innovative and responsive #TakesANation campaign emphasised Namibians’ sense of personal 
responsibility, including drinking responsibly. As an omnichannel campaign, #TakesANation was effective in creating 
awareness and encouraging engagement from the audience: it delivered over nine million impressions, indicating mass 
awareness. We reached over 400 000 unique social media users and garnered more than 400 000 post engagements, 
indicating that a large portion of the users who had seen the ad, interacted with our campaign. 

Contributing to our strategic outcome:

3.3%
revenue paid as taxes and duties to the 
Government (2019: 5.7%)

No material 
penalties or fines
were paid for non-compliance (2019: 0)

Everyone leading, everyone making a positive impact 

Engaging people, engaging experiences 

Owning the future, creating new realities, enjoying the journey 

By being a good corporate citizen that does business responsibly, ethically and with transparency, 
we give our local and central governments the comfort that they can also rely on us to pay taxes 
and duties (continued)
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We know that strained local and international 
operating environments can negatively impact 
our ability to trade and grow. We are transparent 
about the key strategic risks facing the business 
and explain how these are effectively mitigated  
to ensure that NBL remains future fit and well 
positioned to capitalise on growth opportunities. 
Our position in the O&L Group, and the  
stability of having the Group as a strong,  
stable shareholder, contributes to our  
financial resilience. 

Key questions: What are we doing to grow returns despite economic challenges?

Our shareholders and funders require historical and 
forward-looking information to make an informed 
assessment about their capital allocation and acceptable 
levels of risk. To retain them as long-term partners who 
support the business, we communicate a balanced 
overview of our performance, strategy and progress with 
implementation. Total dividends to approximately 1 429 
shareholders have increased by an average of 7.5% over 
the last five years. 

SUPPORTING SDG 8

By investing in NBL and our future, shareholders support us in 
creating employment, in driving economic inclusion and 
building capacity. They participate in our governance structures 
by voting for Directors who have to ensure our sustainability 
and oversee labour and human rights issues.

Owning the future, creating new realities, enjoying the journey 

Contributing to our strategic outcome:

14.8%
of revenue declared as 
dividends (2019: 14.7%)

8.3%
of revenue reinvested in the business 
to ensure future growth (2019: 15.7%)

14.1%
return on shareholders’ investment 
(2019: 52%)

Giving back to shareholders through dividends 
(cents per share)

Final dividend Interim dividend Special dividend
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Our clearly defined strategy and purpose drive resilience and growth to ensure constant dividends 
and reliable repayments to our providers of financial capital
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As a market leader, significant employer and a proudly Namibian brand owner, we manage a wide range of 
risks on behalf of our stakeholders. Our ability to mitigate these risks gives stakeholders peace of mind, 
which is a way in which we earn their trust and deliver on our promises.

Rapid social, economic and technological change is challenging business stability. In particular, information 
and technology (IT) are receiving a stronger focus in light of increasingly pervasive cybercrime and risks to 
data security. For NBL, loss of intellectual property as a result of cybercrime or uncontrolled sharing of 
sensitive information could provide a competitive advantage to other role players.

NBL’s Senior Leadership Team is tasked with implementing our strategy, including ensuring that internal 
controls are in place and function effectively to mitigate risk to operations. We manage significant 
operational risks through our sophisticated IT systems. The enterprise resource planning system, for 
example, is used across all Windhoek-based operations. This system helps us to optimise planning, 
particularly as complexity intensifies with increasing numbers of new SKUs.

When bringing in new technology or equipment, we follow an evaluation process that considers price, 
state-of-the-art applications and after-sales service. We arrange for site visits, where relevant, to evaluate 
suppliers and expose employees to different environments, while ensuring that contracts include training 
and maintenance elements.

The majority of our depots have generators to mitigate the risk of unreliable power supply, enabling 
employees to maintain effective customer service and adhere to stock management principles at all times.

The Board is ultimately responsible for managing the Group’s risk and setting its risk appetite. We conduct a 
risk and opportunity assessment annually to identify the critical business, operational, financial and 
compliance exposures facing NBL, and to determine the adequacy and effectiveness of controls.

The Audit Committee, in conjunction with the Management Risk Committee, assists the Board in monitoring 
the effectiveness of the risk management process for risks like IT-related items, fraud and corruption, and 
compliance with the risk standards adopted by the O&L Group.

We use enterprise risk management software to ensure a unified and structured risk management approach 
across the O&L Group. Our risk approach is preventative, and our methodology is aligned to ISO 31000.

To support ethical business practices, we have a 24-hour Tip-offs Anonymous hotline and maintain a zero-
tolerance stance on fraud. The hotline is operated by a confidential, independent supplier.

Key question: What are we doing to entrench a proactive risk culture?

SUPPORTING SDG 8

Our governance structures and risk management capabilities ensure that we comply with legislation that protect employees, 
communities, human rights and the environment.

N$68 MILLION
total information systems and 
information technology-related  
spend (2019: N$30 million) 

Contributing to our strategic outcome:

Everyone leading, everyone making 
a positive impact 
Owning the future, creating new 
realities, enjoying the journey

We ensure effective risk management, particularly in IT, which results in meeting legislative and 
compliance requirements, while mitigating risk on behalf of our stakeholders
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“We appreciate the confidence 
and trust of our shareholders, 
the support of our customers and 
business partners, including the 
Government, and the breakthrough 
efforts of our employees.”
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Marco Wenk (44)

Qualifications: Studied towards his 
BCompt (UNISA), Senior Management 
Development Programme (University 
of Stellenbosch), GAP International 
Leadership Certificate (Breakthrough 
Intensive), Breakthrough Management 
Skills (BMS) Leadership Training

Marco has been with the O&L Group 
since 2000. In 2002, he was appointed 
as General Manager of O&L Group’s 
Property Division until the joint venture 
with Broll Property Group South Africa 
in 2003, where after he served in 
various roles at Broll Namibia between 
2003 and 2005 until taking over the 
Managing Director role in 2005 serving 
in that capacity until 30 June 2019. He 
played an integral role in developing 
Broll Namibia to be the largest 
property management and commercial 
property services provider in Namibia. 
Marco also served as a director of SIP 
Project Managers Namibia, a subsidiary 
of Broll Namibia. He is a Trustee of the 
O&L Pension Fund.

He was appointed to the NBL Board and 
as Managing Director on 1 July 2019.

Waldemar von Lieres (41)

Qualifications: CA(Nam), Postgraduate 
BAcc (University of Stellenbosch), BAcc 
(University of Stellenbosch)

Waldemar has been Finance Director 
at NBL since July 2019. He joined the 
O&L Group in 2007 as Finance 
Manager at Windhoek Schlachterei. 
He subsequently held several diverse 
positions in the Group, including 
Strategic Planning and Decision 
Support Manager at NBL, and most 
recently Finance Director at Pick n 
Pay Namibia. There he was 
responsible for the overall leadership 
of the finance, IT and procurement 
departments.

He was appointed to the NBL Board 
and as Finance Director on 1 July 2019.

BOARD PROFILES

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
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Sven Thieme (52)

Qualifications: CA(Nam)(SA)

Sven is the Executive Chairperson of 
the O&L Group. He joined O&L in 1998 
after working for four years as a 
chartered accountant in Luxembourg. 
He was also the architect of several 
joint ventures entered into by O&L, 
including the deal between  
Heineken SA, Diageo and  
Namibia Breweries.

He was appointed to the NBL Board in 
March 2002 and elected Chairperson 
on 11 July 2002.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Hendrik van der Westhuizen (46)

Qualifications: BSc in Operations 
Management (Production Management 
Institute of South Africa), Postgraduate 
Degree in Association in Management 
(AIM) (University of Cape Town), 
Management and Senior Management 
Diploma (Stellenbosch University)

Wessie has been with the O&L Group 
since 2003. In 2006 he was appointed 
to the Board of Hangana Seafood 
(Proprietary) Limited and became its 
Managing Director in 2009. He played 
an integral role in successfully placing 
Hangana Seafood on the road of 
sustained profitability and has over 
19 years’ experience in the Food and 
Beverage Industry. He was appointed 
to the NBL Board as Managing 
Director on 2 April 2012 and became 
a Non-executive Director with his 
resignation and subsequent 
appointment as Chief Executive Officer 
of the O&L Group on 1 July 2019.

Hans-Bruno Gerdes (68)

Qualifications: BProc (University of 
Cape Town)

Hans-Bruno is a consultant to the 
attorneys firm Engling, Stritter & 
Partners and an associate of the 
Institute of Chartered Secretaries. He 
practises as a commercial/corporate 
attorney, holds numerous directorships 
and is actively involved in the 
organised legal profession. 

He is the chairperson of the Audit 
Committee.

He was appointed to the NBL Board  
on 28 July 2000 and to the Audit 
Committee on 28 November 2001.
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Günther Hanke (64)

Qualifications: BCom (Accounting) 
with completed articles, Senior 
Management Certificate (University of 
Stellenbosch Business School), CFA(SA)

Günther joined the O&L Group in 
March 2004 as Group Financial 
Director responsible for formulating 
and executing strategy as part of the 
executive team. He has held various 
senior executive positions over the 
past 26 years. He is currently the 
chairperson of Dimension Data 
Namibia and a Director of various 
O&L Group companies.

He is an alternate Director to Sven 
Thieme and was appointed to the  
NBL Board on 1 October 2015.

Laura McLeod-Katjirua (60)

Qualifications: GradDip DVST and 
Management, NDip (Basic Education)

Governor Laura McLeod-Katjirua has 
a long history of serving the people 
of Namibia. She has been active in 
the promotion of gender equality and 
education in Namibia. She is currently 
the appointed Governor of Khomas 
Region, where she continues to 
support various initiatives that 
support the development and 
well-being of Namibians.

She was appointed to the NBL Board 
on 2 April 2012.

Peter Grüttemeyer (66)

Qualifications: CA(Nam)

Peter joined the O&L Group in October 
2003 as Chief Executive Officer where 
he is responsible for formulating and 
executing strategy. Prior to joining O&L 
he held the position of partner in 
charge of the Deloitte Namibia 
practice.

He was appointed to the NBL Board on 
3 June 2004 and to the Audit 
Committee on 2 December 2010. 

NON-EXECUTIVE 
DIRECTORS (continued)
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Roland Pirmez (60)

Qualifications: BEng (Agriculture), 
Master’s degree (Brewing) (Université 
Catholique de Louvain)

Roland was appointed President of 
Heineken Africa, Middle East and 
Eastern Europe in 2015. From 2013 
until 2015, he was President of Asia 
Pacific Brewery Company Limited 
(APB) and CEO of APB. Roland joined 
Heineken in 1995. From 1995 to 1998, 
he was Managing Director of Heineken 
Angola. In 1998, he was appointed 
General Manager of Thai APB, Thailand 
and in 2002, became CEO of Heineken 
in Russia. 

He was appointed to the NBL Board on 
8 September 2015.

Steven Siemer (53)

Qualifications: Master’s degree 
(Business Economics) (University  
of Groningen)

Steven was appointed Finance 
Director of Heineken Africa, Middle 
East and Eastern Europe in 2017. 
From 2014 to 2017, he was Finance 
Director of Heineken Spain. Steven 
joined Heineken in 1990 as Marketing 
Controller of Heineken Netherlands.  
In 2001, he was appointed as Finance 
Director of Heineken Ireland. From 
2005 to 2010, Steven worked at 
Heineken CEE, Austria as Head  
of Region Control and Business 
Development Director. From 2010 
until 2014, he was Finance Director  
of Brau Union Austria.

He was appointed to the NBL Board  
on 1 July 2017.

Pascal Sabrie (58)

Qualifications: MBA (Neoma Business 
Scholl Rouen, France)

Pascal has been appointed Africa 
Middle East region Managing Director 
in February 2020. Prior to this he held 
the Heineken France Managing 
Director position (2011 to 2020), 
Western Europe Marketing and 
Commercial Director (2010 to 2011) 
(Marketing and Sales), Vice-president 
Heineken France (2006 to 2010), 
Managing Director Brasserie Fischer 
(1999 to 2006) and Marketing Director 
Heineken France (1993 to 1999).

He is an alternate Director to Roland 
Pirmez and was appointed to the NBL 
Board on 3 March 2020.
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Our Senior Leadership Team is tasked with implementing the Company’s 
strategies and objectives. This team is also responsible for ensuring that 
internal controls are in place that function effectively so that the Company 
can operate and mitigate operational risk.

SENIOR LEADERSHIP TEAM

Marco Wenk
Managing Director

Anton Goosen
Global Sales Manager

Waldemar von Lieres
Finance Director

Abrie du Plooy
Supply Manager

74 NAMIBIA BREWERIES LIMITED 



About 
this report

Chairperson’s
statement

Our 
profile

Our context 
and strategy

Managing Director’s 
report

Material matters
and the SDGs

Governance 
report

Annual financial
statements

Timothy Izaks
Human Capital Manager

Christin Obst
Strategic Sourcing Manager

John Fitzgerald
General Manager NBL SA

René Duffy
Global Marketing Manager
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COMPLIANCE

NBL has to comply with applicable Namibian 
legislation and the NSX Listing Requirements.  
The NSX requires NBL to comply with the 
NamCode, which is based on the principles and 
recommendations of South Africa’s 2009 King 
Report on Corporate Governance (King III) as well 
as Namibian legislation. NBL is evaluating its current 
compliance with the King IV Report on Corporate 
Governance™ for South Africa, 2016 (King IV)1.

The NBL Board believes that further enhancements 
on existing best recommended practice will be 
made over time, in line with its objective to 
continuously improve corporate governance.

THE BOARD

All members of the Board have a fiduciary 
responsibility to represent the best interests of  
NBL and its stakeholders. The NBL Board’s key 
purpose is to ensure the Company’s prosperity  
by collectively directing its affairs, while considering 
the appropriate interests of its shareholders and 
other stakeholders. In addition to business and 
financial issues, the Board deals with challenges  
and opportunities relating to corporate governance, 
corporate social responsibility and corporate ethics.

The Board comprises two Executive Directors and 
seven Non-executive Directors, with two alternate 
Directors.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE 
REPORT
NBL depends on good corporate governance to be successful. The NBL Board 
of Directors is committed to corporate governance and has implemented 
processes through which NBL continuously strives to achieve Namibian and 
international best practice. The following report outlines how Directors control 
and govern the Company.

Read more about the Directors in their profiles on pages 71 to 73.

Name Status Independent Gender Nationality
Years of tenure and 
appointment date

H-B Gerdes Non-executive Yes Male Namibian 20 (28 July 2000)

P Grüttemeyer Non-executive No Male Namibian 16 (3 June 2004)

H van der Westhuizen Non-executive, shareholder representative No Male Namibian 9 (2 December 2010)

G Hanke Non-executive, shareholder representative No Male Namibian 5 (1 October 2015)

L McLeod-Katjirua Non-executive Yes Female Namibian 8 (2 April 2012)

R Pirmez Non-executive, shareholder representative No Male Belgian 5 (8 September 2015)

S Siemer Non-executive No Male Dutch 3 (1 July 2017)

S Thieme Chairperson No Male Namibian 18 (14 March 2002)

L van der Borght* Non-executive, shareholder  
representative (alternate to R Pirmez)

No Male Belgian 9 (2 December 2010)

P Sabrie Non-executive shareholder  
(alternate to R Pirmez) 

No Male French 3 March 2020

W von Lieres Executive (Finance Director) No Male Namibian 1 (1 July 2019)

M Wenk Executive (Managing Director) No Male Namibian 1 (1 July 2019)

* Resigned 3 March 2020.

1 Copyright and trademarks are owned by the Institute of Directors in South Africa NPC and all of its rights are reserved.
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The NamCode recommends that the majority of 
Directors be independent. The NBL Board continues 
to depart from this recommendation in respect of the 
number of independent Directors serving on NBL’s 
statutory committees. NBL Directors, including the 
Chairperson of the Board, continue being appointed 
based on their experience, competency, leadership 
skills and strong business ethics – these attributes are 
the main criteria for appointment.

The Chairperson’s and Managing Director’s 
responsibilities remain separate, as recommended 
by the NamCode. In discharging their 
responsibilities, and, under appropriate 
circumstances, all Directors are entitled to seek 
independent advice at NBL’s expense.

Established procedures require all Directors to 
inform the Board timeously of any actual or 
potential conflicts of interest they may have in 
relation to particular aspects of the business. 
Directors are obliged to recuse themselves from 
discussions or decisions on matters in which they 
have an actual, potential or perceived conflict of 
interest. In general, Directors are required to avoid 
any direct or indirect interest that conflicts or may 
conflict with the Company’s interest. 

Sven Thieme was re-elected as Chairperson of the 
Board at the prior year’s Annual General Meeting 
(AGM) held on 3 December 2019.

BOARD COMMITTEES

To assist with properly discharging its duties,  
the Board delegates certain functions to the  
Board committees and to the Senior Leadership 
Team. Each Board committee acts within agreed, 
written terms of reference. The minutes of Board 
committee meetings are provided to the Board.

The Company Secretary is responsible for verifying 
that all Board committees comply with statutory, 
regulatory and NSX Listing Requirements and best 
practice. Directors have access to the Company 
Secretary at all times. 

The various established Board committees are  
set out below.

The Senior Leadership Team is charged with 
implementing the Company’s strategies and 
objectives. This team is also responsible for 
ensuring that internal controls are in place and 
function effectively so that the Company can 
operate and mitigate risk to its operations.

The Board holds the Senior Leadership Team 
accountable for their activities, which are monitored 
and controlled through regular reports and 
performance measurements. 

Remuneration and  
Nomination Committee

Audit Committee

Management Risk 
Committee

NBL Board of Directors
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Board Audit Committee
Management Risk 

Committee

Remuneration
and Nomination

Committee

Meeting dates
4 Sept 
2019

12 Dec 
2019

1 March 
2020

15 June 
2020

23 Aug 
2019

26 Nov 
2019

13 Feb 
2020

3Sept 
2019

4 Feb 
2020

20 March 
2020

H-B Gerdes P P P * P P P

P Grüttemeyer P P P * P P P *

M Hoedemaker# P

L McLeod-Katjirua A P A *

B Mukuahima# P

R Pirmez P * * * *

S Siemer P * * *

S Thieme P P P *

H van der Westhuizen P P * *

E van Lokven# P

W von Lieres P P P * P (**) A P

G von Loo ** (**) (*) (**) (*) (**) A

M Wenk P P P * P (**) A P

*  Via teleconference
**  By invitation
#  Committee member but not a Board member 
P =  Present
A = Apologies 

AUDIT COMMITTEE
The Audit Committee comprises the following three 
members:

zz H-B Gerdes (Chairperson)

zz P Grüttemeyer (Non-executive)

zz M Hoedemaker (Heineken representative)

The NBL Audit Committee continues to depart from 
the NamCode recommendation in respect of the 
number of independent Directors serving on the 
Audit Committee. The Audit Committee members, 
including the Chairperson, are appointed based on 
their experience, competency, leadership skills and 
strong business ethics. These attributes are the main 
criteria for appointment.

The Committee’s terms of reference, as set out in an 
Audit Committee charter and approved by the 
Board, is to review the Company’s financial 
statements, the appropriateness of the Company’s 
accounting and disclosure policies, compliance with 
International Financial Reporting Standards, and the 
effectiveness of internal controls.

The Committee considered and recommended an 
internal audit charter for approval by the Board. 

The Company’s external and internal auditors, 
Finance Director and Managing Director attend Audit 
Committee meetings by invitation. The committee 
invites other members of the NBL Senior Leadership 
Team as required. The auditors, both internal and 
external, attended all Audit Committee meetings. 
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The Audit Committee’s roles include:

zz Monitoring the integrity of financial statements 
and making recommendations to the Board

zz Ensuring that integrated reporting takes place

zz Reviewing and monitoring the internal audit plan

zz Reviewing internal and external audit reports and 
monitoring that corrective actions are performed

zz Providing a communication channel between 
the Board, the internal and external auditors and 
other assurance providers

zz Assisting the Board, in conjunction with the 
Management Risk Committee, to monitor the 
effectiveness of the risk management process 
for risks such as information technology-related 
items, fraud and corruption, and compliance with 
risk standards adopted by the O&L Group

zz Reviewing NBL’s policies and practices 
concerning business conduct and ethics, 
including whistleblowing reports received via  
the Tip-offs Anonymous hotline

zz Assisting the Board to discharge its responsibility to:

 – safeguard NBL’s assets;

 – operate adequate and effective systems of 
internal control, financial risk management 
and governance;

 – review financial information and shareholder 
reporting;

 – monitor compliance with laws and 
regulations; and

 – provide oversight of the external and internal 
audit functions and appointments.

The Board is satisfied that the committee has 
complied with its legal, regulatory or other 
responsibilities. 

REMUNERATION AND NOMINATION 
COMMITTEE

The committee comprises the following members:

zz R Pirmez (chairperson and Heineken 
representative)

zz P Grüttemeyer (Non-executive)

zz B Mukuahima (O&L representative)

The Remuneration and Nomination Committee’s 
main responsibilities, as set out in its Board-approved 
terms of reference, include monitoring the 
appropriateness of the Company’s Remuneration 
Policy and ensuring a formal and transparent process 
in respect of appointing new Directors to the Board. 
In fulfilling this function, the committee is required to:

zz assess the necessary and desirable competencies 
of prospective Board members based on merit 
and objective criteria. In doing so, candidates 
from a wide range of backgrounds are to be 
considered, in keeping with the dynamics and 
diversity of the country;

zz review Board nominations from shareholders 
and provide recommendations to the Board in 
respect of these nominations;

zz ensure that, on appointment to the Board, 
Non-executive Directors receive a formal letter 
of appointment that clearly sets expectations 
of them in terms of their time commitment, 
committee service (if any) and involvement 
outside Board meetings;

zz define and implement procedures for the annual 
statement of disclosure of any conflict of interest 
and the annual statement of compliance;

zz fully consider succession planning in the course 
of its work, taking into account the challenges 
and opportunities facing the Company and, 
therefore, what skills and expertise are needed 
on the Board in the future;
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zz keep under review the structure, size and 
composition (including the skills, knowledge 
and experience) of the Board, and make 
recommendations to the Board regarding 
any changes, subject to the provisions of the 
Company’s Articles of Association (AoA) and  
the Namibia Companies Act;

zz consider and, if appropriate, make 
recommendations to the Board regarding the 
tenure of Non-executive Directors on the Board 
and the reappointment of any Non-executive 
Director at the conclusion of his or her specified 
term of office; and

zz action any other duties or responsibilities expressly 
delegated to the Committee by the Board. 

Read more about remuneration in the report 
from page 83.

MANAGEMENT RISK COMMITTEE

The Management Risk Committee comprises:

zz M Wenk (Chairperson)

zz W von Lieres

zz NBL Senior Leadership Team

zz O&L Group Operational Risk Manager

zz O&L Group Enterprise Risk Manager 

The Management Risk Committee has an 
independent and advisory role with accountability 
to the Audit Committee. The Committee’s purpose 
is to assist the Board of Directors to fulfil its 
responsibilities relating to:

zz risk governance;

zz the assessment and review of credit, market, 
fiduciary, liquidity, reputational, operational, 
fraud, strategic, technology, data security and 
business continuity risks; and

zz monitoring the overall risk profile.

The Directors who serve on the Management Risk 
Committee are ultimately responsible for the 
Company’s risk management system. The system is 
designed to manage rather than eliminate risk. 
Every month, risks are identified, assessed and 
discussed within the different business functions. 
These risks are closely managed, monitored and 
mitigated. Reports on the top key risks, along with 
their respective mitigation plans, are delivered at 
each Board meeting, as well as at Audit Committee 
meetings and monthly business review meetings.  
The minutes of this committee are also made 
available to and discussed at Audit Committee 
meetings.

No undue, unexpected or unusual risks were taken  
in the past year and no material losses were 
experienced as a result of these risks. The Board  
is satisfied with the effectiveness of the Company’s 
risk management processes.

Internal controls
NBL’s internal controls are designed and operated to 
assist in identifying, evaluating and managing NBL’s 
risks and strategic opportunities, as well as its 
business environment. Internal control systems 
provide the Senior Leadership Team and the Board 
with reasonable assurance as to the integrity and 
reliability of the financial statements.

Continuous management reviews, a review of internal 
financial controls and a review of external parties 
providing internal audits test whether the business 
complies with internal control procedures and 
policies. Experienced and qualified employees are 
appointed as control champions throughout the 
business functions to review and evaluate financial 
and technical controls.
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Any deficiencies are recorded, monitored regularly 
and reported to the Senior Leadership Team. This 
has proven to be a successful approach to critically 
evaluating and improving internal control policies 
and procedures. The internal audit function was 
outsourced to the auditing firm EY. The internal 
audit programme is founded on a three-year risk-
based approach. The internal audit plan is approved 
by the Audit Committee and regularly reviewed by 
the Risk and Compliance department.

During the reporting year, the following internal 
audits were performed:

zz Inventory management 

zz Warehouse and distribution 

zz Production 

zz Engineering spares and merchandising stock

zz Depots and agency

zz Information security 

All findings and recommendations are recorded on 
an audit tracker and closely monitored by the Senior 
Leadership Team.

The Risk and Compliance department is responsible 
for ensuring that corrective actions are taken and 
recommendations implemented.

EY also performs internal follow-up audits and 
reports independently to the Audit Committee and 
then to the Senior Leadership Team on the findings 
and recommendations it identifies. The internal and 
external auditors have unlimited access to the Audit 
Committee chairperson.

There is a strong drive within NBL to uphold the 
highest technical and operational standards. Fire and 
safety policies and procedures are regularly reviewed 
and tested so that they remain compliant. Each 
manager within their function is evaluated constantly 
on the health and safety ratings achieved during 
these audits. By strictly following this programme, 
NBL has managed to improve its health and safety 
standards for employees, contractors, suppliers and 
other service providers to NBL.

Since 2015, insurance audits have been conducted 
by Group Risk using the Marsh methodology to 
better quantify and manage risk. The main plant is 
audited on an annual basis, while depots are audited 
on a rotational basis. Audits scheduled for the year 
were postponed until the next financial year due to 
the pandemic and travel restrictions.

STAKEHOLDER COMMUNICATION, ETHICS 
AND TIP-OFFS ANONYMOUS HOTLINE

NBL’s Board recognises the importance of 
communicating the Company’s activities to all 
stakeholders in a balanced and comprehensive 
manner. Each key stakeholder group has a business 
owner – the individual in NBL primarily accountable 
for managing the relationship and regularly engaging 
with the stakeholder or stakeholder group concerned.

Shareholder communications take the form of 
analyst presentations when NBL announces its 
interim and final financial results. The Company 
publishes and reports on details of its performance 
(including its interim and final financial results) in 
two local daily newspapers. Other Company notices 
and publications are published on the website, 
where the most recent financial and historical 
information is available, including integrated  
annual reports.

The Audit Committee is responsible for embedding 
a culture of high ethical standards. The committee 
periodically reviews the Company’s Code of Ethics 
and programme to monitor compliance. Employees 
have several ways to raise their concerns and make 
recommendations or obtain feedback from the 
Senior Leadership Team. One such avenue is the 
workplace forum within the different functions, 
which is held weekly or fortnightly. At these forums, 
employees can discuss their concerns. If an 
employee is not comfortable with airing their views 
at these forums, they can contact the Tip-offs 
Anonymous hotline. The hotline is administrated by 
independent service provider, Deloitte & Touche.

NBL invites all shareholders to attend its AGM and 
also facilitates participation by encouraging 
shareholders unable to attend to submit proxy forms.
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SHAREHOLDER ANALYSIS FOR 30 JUNE

Shareholding analysis 2020 2019

Number of shares in issue 206 529 000 206 529 000

Number of shares traded 1 775 311 5 487 531

Value of shares traded (N$) 80 674 052 252 838 783

Market price (cents per share) 3 499 4 841

Closing price (cents per share) 3 499 4 841

Dividend yield* 3.0 2.1

Bid price (cents per share) 3 500 4 842

Earnings yield (HEPS) 3.6% 9.3%

Price: earnings ratio (HEPS) 27.9% 10.7

* Excludes special dividends.

Public and non-public shareholding
Number of

 shareholders

Percentage
of total

shareholders

Number of
shares in

issue

Percentage of
issued share

capital

Public 1 428 99.93 83 908 702 40.63

Non-public 1 0.07 122 620 298 59.37

Total 1 429 100 206 529 000 100

Distribution of shareholders per category
Number of

 shareholders

Percentage
of total

shareholders

Number of
shares in

issue

Percentage of
issued share

capital

Corporate bodies 33 2.31 124 827 527 60.44

Nominees companies 115 8.05 73 407 443 35.55

Private individuals 1 254 87.75 4 985 952 2.41

Trusts 27 1.89 3 308 078 1.60

Shareholder spread by beneficial owner
Number of

 shareholders

Percentage
of total

shareholders

Number of
shares in

issue

Percentage of
issued share

capital

1 – 1 000 889 62.21 412 569 0.20

1 001 – 50 000 461 32.26 2 915 169 1.41

50 001 – 100 000 17 1.19 1 236 368 0.60

100 001 – 10 000 000 60 4.20 50 770 201 24.58

10 000 000 and above 2 0.14 151 194 693 73.21

Total 1 429 100 206 529 000 100
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NBL, as part of the O&L Group, has a Remuneration 
Policy (the Policy) that applies to its executives. The 
Policy is reviewed periodically to take account of 
changing circumstances in the market, the industry 
and the economy.

The committee considered and decided against 
implementing a long-term incentive scheme as the 
current Short-term Incentive Scheme is effective. 
This scheme is based on financial performance and 
is linked to NBL’s long-term targets. 

REMUNERATION PRINCIPLES AND 
GOVERNANCE

The main principles of the Policy for executives are to:

zz provide total remuneration, which is competitive 
in structure and quantum with the practices of 
comparator companies in the SADC region;

zz achieve clear alignment between total 
remuneration on the one hand, and delivered 
business and personal performance on the other;

zz link variable elements of remuneration to 
challenging performance criteria that support 
the Company’s best interests;

zz provide an appropriate balance of fixed and 
variable remuneration; and

zz provide internal equity among executives and 
facilitate the movement of executives within the 
O&L Group. 

The Remuneration and Nomination Committee is 
mandated to oversee all matters pertaining to 
remuneration and report back to the Board with 
findings and recommendations. Its responsibilities 
include monitoring the Policy, including:

zz parameters used in determining senior leadership 
remuneration scales;

zz executive remuneration, including remuneration 
packages for senior management;

zz the structure of the remuneration of Executive 
Directors, Non-executive Directors, the 
Chairperson and, where applicable, Board 
committee members;

zz the design of executive incentives, including the 
Board criteria on which performance-related 
elements are based with regard to the trading 
period, if applicable; and

zz senior employee recruitment, retention and 
termination.

The committee has to ensure a formal, transparent 
and objective method to support recommendations 
to shareholders regarding remuneration packages for 
Directors, including pension benefits. It also has to 
ensure that the fees paid to Non-executive Directors 
are a fair reflection of their contribution to the 
Company. This requires the committee to advise on 
and monitor a suitable performance-related formula, 
including the Board criteria on which performance-
related elements are based. The committee separates 
the review and recommendation of Non-executive 
Directors’ fees from the review and recommendation 
of executive remuneration, each with its own 
motivation and basis for the recommendation.

Directors’ emoluments
The Directors’ emoluments are available on page 168. 

Remuneration components
Base salary

The fixed element of remuneration is referred to as 
base salary. Its purpose is to provide a competitive 
level of remuneration for each grade of manager, 
according to the Paterson grading system.

The base salary is set to be competitive at the median 
level, with reference to market practice in companies 
that are comparable in terms of size, market sector, 
business complexity and international scope.

Base salaries are reviewed annually and adjusted as 
necessary at the beginning of the financial year, 
considering external market trends and business 
and personal performance.

REMUNERATION REPORT
NBL’s remuneration approach aims to support the implementation of and 
delivery on the Group’s strategy and goals by enabling it to attract, acquire, 
retain and appropriately reward employees. 
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Benefits

Benefits provide security for employees and their 
families and include membership of a retirement 
fund and a medical aid scheme to which 
contributions are made. The retirement fund is a 
defined contribution fund. Other benefits include a 
Company car, housing, cellphone and Company 
products, as appropriate.

Short-term Incentive Scheme

Executive Directors and the rest of the Senior 
Leadership Team participate in the annual Short-
term Incentive Scheme. The scheme is a cash bonus 
plan designed to support the Policy by:

zz motivating participants to focus on financial year 
performance goals that contribute to sustainable 
shareholder value; and

zz providing significant bonus differentials based on 
performance against predetermined Company 
financial targets, as well as strategic and 
divisional or personal performance objectives.

Executive Directors and members of the Senior 
Leadership Team may earn a bonus of up to 41.67% 
of their total annual package. The Senior Leadership 
Team’s functional targets are based on the 
Company’s overall performance.

The Remuneration and Nomination Committee 
reviews the performance of Executive Directors  
and the Senior Leadership Team every year. 
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VALUE-ADDED STATEMENT

Notes
 30 June 2020 

N$’000
 30 June 2019 

N$’000

WEALTH CREATED
Net revenue  2 645 832  3 097 583 
Salaries, wages and other employment costs  (346 383)  (402 553)
Paid to suppliers for materials and services  (1 846 206)  (2 043 119)

VALUE-ADDED 453 243 651 911 
Income from investments 17 592 26 607 

TOTAL WEALTH CREATED 470 835 678 518 

WEALTH DISTRIBUTION
Salaries, wages and other employment costs 1 346 383 402 553 
Providers of capital

Dividends to shareholders 462 728 598 274 
Finance costs on borrowings 50 545 42 455 

Central and local governments 2 87 804 175 165 
Reinvested in Group to maintain and develop operations

Amortisation 4 520 5 300 
Depreciation 164 094 160 119 
Retained earnings  (198 934) 332 352 

Deferred taxation 5 599  (11 352)

TOTAL WEALTH DISTRIBUTED 922 739  1 704 866

NOTES TO THE VALUE-ADDED STATEMENT
1. Salaries, wages and other employment costs

Salaries, wages, overtime payments, commissions, 
bonuses and allowances 281 714 342 908 
Total contributions to medical aid and pension fund 64 669 59 645 

346 383 402 553

2. Central and local governments
Normal corporate taxation 84 953 172 463 
Rates and taxes paid on properties 2 851 2 702 

87 804 175 165

3.  Additional amounts collected on behalf of central and  
local governments
Customs and excise duties including import surcharges 910 536 861 058 
Value-added tax claimed  (33 461)  (39 280)
PAYE deducted from remuneration paid 69 277 64 705 
Withholding taxes 9 521 5 579 

955 873 892 062

Number of employees 827 801
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GROUP SALIENT FEATURES

30 June
2020

N$’000

30 June
2019

N$’000
%

Change

Net revenue  2 645 832  3 097 583 (14.6)

Profit attributable to ordinary shareholders 261 327 931 119 (71.9)

Earnings per ordinary share (cents) 126.5 450.8 (71.9)

Headline earnings per ordinary share (cents) 125.6 450.7 (72.1)

Dividends declared per ordinary share (cents) 106.0 100.0 6.0

Special dividend per ordinary share (cents)* –  121.1 (100.0)

Net asset value per ordinary share (cents) 850.2 946.7 17.9

Return on ordinary shareholders’ funds (%) 14.1 52.0 (76.5)

* No special dividend was declared in the current year (2019: N$250 000 000). The above amount was rounded for disclosure purposes.
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FIVE-YEAR SUMMARY OF RESULTS

N$’000

12 Months
30 June 

2020

12 Months
30 June

 2019

12 Months
30 June

 2018

12 Months
30 June 

2017

12 Months
30 June

 2016

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS  
OF FINANCIAL POSITION
Property, plant and equipment  985 323  995 967  1 018 719  988 241  983 365 
Investment in associate  778 663  855 366  404 824  438 265  610 526 
Other non-current assets  61 167  33 051  37 544  41 888  25 530 
Non-current assets held for sale – – –  10 005 –
Current assets  1 082 732  1 221 135  1 250 092  1 016 774  850 796 

 2 907 885  3 105 519  2 711 179  2 495 173  2 470 217 

Issued capital  1 024  1 024  1 024  1 024  1 024 
Non-distributable reserves  (548)  (103)  (97)  160  249 
Retained income  1 755 419  1 954 353  1 622 001  1 405 101  1 256 521 

Ordinary shareholders’ equity  1 755 895  1 955 274  1 622 928  1 406 285  1 257 794 
Interest-bearing loans and borrowings 
(non-current)  501 608  183 508  285 480  384 379  479 739 
Other non-current liabilities  211 375  206 865  217 158  217 011  212 949 
Current liabilities  439 007  759 872  585 613  487 498  519 735 

 2 907 885  3 105 519  2 711 179  2 495 173  2 470 217 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS  
OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
Net turnover  2 645 832  3 097 583  2 687 174  2 708 978  2 425 885 
Operating expenses  (2 192 589)  (2 445 672)  (2 074 089)  (2 097 965)  (1 885 211)
Operating profit  453 243  651 911  613 085  611 013  540 674 
Finance costs  (50 545)  (42 455)  (43 325)  (50 923)  (39 412)
Finance income  17 592  26 607  32 623  18 304  18 315 
Equity loss from joint venture  –  –  –  –  (38 917)
Equity (loss)/profit from associate  (76 703)  450 542  (33 441)  (155 717)  27 453 

Profit before income tax  343 587  1 086 605  568 942  422 677  508 113 
Income tax expense  (82 260)  (155 486)  (171 256)  (104 249)  (135 643)
Profit attributable to ordinary shareholders  261 327  931 119  397 686  318 428  372 470 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS  
OF CASH FLOWS
Cash generated by operations  528 801  691 008  709 589  695 841  654 065 
Dividends paid  (462 728)  (598 274)  (181 745)  (169 354)  (159 027)
Taxation paid  (41 742)  (172 198)  (170 026)  (128 762)  (137 764)
Employer benefit payments on post-
employment benefit plans  –  (1 579)  (728)  (935)  – 
Net cash flow from operating activities  24 331  (81 043)  357 090  396 790  357 274 
Net cash flow applied to investing activities  (143 257)  (94 505)  (127 840)  (142 842)  (770 111)
Net cash flow from financing activities  173 886  (55 859)  (158 029)  (99 602)  347 061 
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and  
cash equivalents  54 960  (231 407)  71 221  154 346  (65 776)
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SUMMARY OF STATISTICS

12 Months
30 June

2020

12 Months
30 June

2019

12 Months
30 June

2018

12 Months
30 June

2017

12 Months
30 June

2016

ORDINARY SHARE PERFORMANCE
Weighted average number of shares  
in issue (’000s) 206 529 206 529 206 529 206 529 206 529
Earnings per ordinary share (cents) 126.5 450.8 192.6 154.2 180.3
Headline earnings per ordinary share (cents) 125.6 450.7 194.6 229.6 185.7
Dividends paid per ordinary share (cents) 103.0 96.0 88.0 82.0 77.0
Special dividend paid per ordinary  
share (cents) 121.0 193.7 – – –
Dividend cover (times) 0.6 1.6 2.2 1.9 2.3
Net asset value per ordinary share (cents) 850.2 946.7 785.8 680.9 609.0

PROFITABILITY AND ASSET 
MANAGEMENT
Operating margin (%) 17.1 21.0 22.8 22.6 22.3
Return on total assets (%) 21.5 32.0 29.7 32.1 31.4
Return on ordinary shareholders’ funds (%) 14.1 52.0 26.3 23.9 32.4

LIQUIDITY AND LEVERAGE
Total liabilities to total shareholders’ funds (%) 54.8 49.5 55.1 63.5 81.1
Financial gearing ratio (%) 36.8 20.4 24.4 35.0 41.7
Interest cover (times) 9.3 16.0 14.9 12.4 14.2
Current ratio (times) 2.5 1.6 2.1 2.1 1.6

DEFINITIONS
Dividend cover
Profit attributable to ordinary shareholders divided by dividends paid in the year. 

Net asset value per share
Ordinary shareholders’ equity divided by the total number of ordinary shares in issue.

Operating margin
Operating profit expressed as a percentage of revenue.

Total assets
Property, plant and equipment, current and non-current assets. 

Return on total assets
Operating profit plus finance income expressed as a percentage of average total assets (excluding 
investment in associate).

Return on ordinary shareholders’ funds
Profit attributable to ordinary shareholders expressed as a percentage of average ordinary shareholders’ 
equity.

Total liabilities
Interest-bearing loans and borrowings, other current and non-current liabilities. Deferred taxation and 
income taxation are excluded.

Financial gearing ratio (%)
Interest-bearing loans and borrowings expressed as a percentage of ordinary shareholders’ equity.

Interest cover
Operating profit plus finance income divided by finance costs.

Current ratio
Current assets divided by current liabilities.
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ORDINARY SHARE OWNERSHIP

Number of
shareholders %

Number of
shares %

HOLDINGS
1 – 1 000 889 62.21 412 569 0.20 
1 001 – 50 000 461 32.26 2 915 169 1.41 
50 001 – 100 000 17 1.19 1 236 368 0.60 
100 001 – 10 000 000 60 4.20 50 770 201 24.58 
10 000 001 and above 2 0.14 151 194 693 73.21 

1 429 100.00  206 529 000 100.00 

CATEGORY
Corporate bodies 33 2.31  124 827 527 60.43 
Nominee companies 115 8.05  73 407 443 35.55 
Private individuals 1 254 87.75  4 985 952 2.41 
Trusts 27 1.89  3 308 078 1.60 

1 429 100.00  206 529 000 100.00 

SHAREHOLDER SPREAD
The spread of shares held by non-public and public shareholders was as follows:

at 30 June 
2020

%

at 30 June 
2019

%

Non-public shareholders
– Holding company 59.37 59.37
– Directors and their associates 0.09 0.10
Public shareholders 40.54 40.53

100.0 100.0

MAJOR INDIVIDUAL HOLDINGS
With the exception of nominee holdings, the register of shareholders does not reflect individual beneficial 
shareholdings at 30 June 2020 in excess of 1% of the total issued capital of the Company.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW

ACCOUNTING POLICIES
NBL’s accounting policies comply with International Financial Reporting Standards and are consistent with 
those of the previous reporting year with the exception of the adoption of IFRS 16 in the current year.

REVENUE 
Consolidated net revenue decreased by 14.6% from N$3 098 million to N$2 646 million for the year ended 
30 June 2020. The decrease in revenue is primarily due to the ban on sale of alcohol during the Covid-19 
pandemic.

OPERATING PROFIT
The Group’s operating profit for the year ended 30 June 2020 showed a decrease of 30.5% over the previous 
reporting period. This translates into an operating margin of 17.1% compared with 21.0% reported for the 
previous financial year.

TAXATION
The taxation charge for the year ended 30 June 2020 was N$82 million, while the previous reporting period 
reflected a higher charge of N$155 million. The decrease is due to the recovery of tax receivable from SARS 
(South African Revenue Services) and the decrease in taxable income for the year (Refer to note 23).

The accumulated tax losses of the Group’s wholly owned South African and Botswana subsidiaries have not 
been recognised as a deferred tax asset, due to uncertainty regarding future taxable income.

PROFIT AFTER TAX AND EARNINGS PER SHARE
Profit attributable to shareholders decreased with 71.9% from N$931 million in the previous financial year 
to N$261 million in the current year, resulting in the earnings per share for the year ended 30 June 2020 
decreasing to 126.5 cents (2019: 450.8 cents). 

This year’s profits were significantly impacted by the ban on alcohol sales in Namibia and South Africa. This 
is a turnaround from the year ended 30 June 2019 where NBL’s investment in Heineken SA delivered an 
exceptional performance and Heineken SA raised a substantial deferred tax asset derived from previously 
unutilised tax losses. (Refer to note 8)

FINANCIAL POSITION
The net debt to equity ratio increased from 11% in the previous financial year to 20% in the year under review, 
following the partial repayment of the medium-term loans. (Refer to note 29.5)

NAMIBIAN MARKET
The Namibian market continues to remain a significant contributor to total revenues and earnings, with 
Tafel Lager spear-heading the overall beer growth. The Group maintained its strong market position despite 
a strained local economy and declining consumer spend. 

SOUTH AFRICA
Heineken South Africa faced challenges with the ban on alcohol sales lasting significantly longer in South 
Africa than in Namibia.

The decrease in total equity accounted profits are mainly attributable tough South African market conditions 
and the Covid-19 pandemic. (Refer to note 8).

EXPORTS (EXCLUDING SOUTH AFRICA)
Total beer and soft drink volumes sold to export markets increased by 22.7% and decreased by 50.1% 
respectively from the previous period.

CASH FLOWS
Net cash flow from operating activities increased from an outflow of N$81 million in the previous financial 
year to inflow N$24 million in 2020. The increase in cash flow was mainly due to the reduced special dividend 
pay-out and a tax refund from SARS.

Net cash outflow from investing activities increased from N$95 million in the previous year to N$143 million 
in the 2020 financial year, mainly due to increased capital expenditure for 2020.

Net cash flow from financing activities increased from an N$56 million outflow in the previous financial year 
to a net inflow of N$174 million in the current year. The decrease was mainly due to the restructuring of 
NBL’s loan facilities. (See Annexure A to this integrated annual report)
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APPROVAL OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY STATEMENT
The Company’s Directors are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated and 
separate financial statements, comprising the statements of financial position as at 30 June 2020, and the 
statements of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, the statements of changes in equity, and 
statement of cash flows for the year then ended, as well as the notes to the financial statements, which 
include a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory notes, in accordance with 
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) and interpretations issued by the IFRS Interpretations 
Committee (IFRS IC) applicable to companies reporting under IFRS, and the requirements of the Namibia 
Companies Act, as set out on pages 97 to 168.

The Directors’ responsibility includes designing, implementing and maintaining internal control relevant to 
the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements that are free from material misstatement, 
whether due to fraud or error, selecting and applying appropriate accounting policies, and making 
accounting estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances. The Directors’ responsibility also includes 
maintaining adequate accounting records and an effective system of risk management.

After due assessment of the Group and Company’s ability to continue as a going concern, the Directors 
believe there is no reason for the business not to continue as a going concern in the financial year ahead.

The external auditor is responsible for reporting on whether the consolidated and separate annual financial 
statements are fairly presented in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards and the 
Namibia Companies Act. Their unmodified report is available on page 94.

APPROVAL OF CONSOLIDATED AND SEPARATE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The consolidated and separate financial statements of the Group and Company, as indicated above, were 
approved by the Board of Directors on 9 September 2020 and signed on their behalf by

S Thieme Marco Wenk
Chairman Managing Director
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

To the Members of Namibia Breweries Limited

OPINION
We have audited the consolidated and separate financial statements of Namibia Breweries Limited and its 
subsidiaries (“the Group”) set out on pages 97 to 168, which comprise the consolidated and separate statements 
of financial position as at 30 June 2020, and the consolidated and separate statements of profit or loss and other 
comprehensive income, the consolidated and separate statements of changes in equity and the consolidated and 
separate statements of cash flows for the year then ended, and the notes to the consolidated and separate 
financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies and the Directors’ report.

In our opinion, the consolidated and separate financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the 
consolidated and separate financial position of the Group as at 30 June 2020, and its consolidated and separate 
financial performance and consolidated and separate cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with 
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) and the requirements of the Companies Act of Namibia.

BASIS FOR OPINION
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our responsibilities 
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated 
and Separate Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group and Company in 
accordance with the International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants International Code of Ethics for 
Professional Accountants (including International Independence Standards) and other independence 
requirements applicable to performing audits of financial statements in Namibia. We have fulfilled our other 
ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have 
obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTER
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in our audit 
of the consolidated and separate financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in 
the context of our audit of the consolidated and separate financial statements as a whole, and in forming our 
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. 

Key audit matter for the Group and Company How the matter was addressed in the audit

Valuation of the investment in associate and related losses for the year 

The valuation of the investment in Heineken 
South Africa Proprietary Limited (herein 
referred to as Heineken SA or the associate, 
please refer to note 8 of Annual Report ) of 
N$778 million (2019: N$855.4 million) has 
been noted as a key audit matter due to the 
significant Director judgement required in 
determining:

zz the recoverability of the investment as a 
whole; and

zz the recognition of the deferred tax 
asset in Heineken SA from the unused 
accumulated tax losses of approximately 
N$1.3 billion incurred in Heineken SA  
from previous years. 

In prior year, the Directors recognised the 
Group’s share of the deferred tax asset of  
N$334 million which arose from all the 
unused tax losses including the previously 
unrecognised accumulated historical losses 
in Heineken SA. In the current year, the 
Directors, after considering the current  
and

Our response to the key audit matter included the following 
audit procedures on a full scope audit on the financial 
information for Heineken SA for the period that started  
1 July 2019 to 30 June 2020 to test the equity accounted 
profits from ongoing operations, recalculated the deferred 
tax asset recorded by Heineken SA and assessed the 
recoverability of the deferred tax asset as at 30 June 2020.  

Our response to the key audit matter included the 
following audit procedures:

1. Deferred Tax Asset;
zz In connection with the recognition of the deferred 

tax asset, we assessed whether the Directors’ 
judgement and treatment were in accordance with the 
requirements of IAS 12: Income taxes.
zz We evaluated the forecast profitability by performing 

retrospective reviews of the budget versus actual 
profit to assess the reliability of the budgeting process. 
We evaluated the growth rates on the forecast against 
the actual results, forecast inflation and industry trends 
and assessed the reasonableness of the assumptions 
used by Heineken SA.
zz We consider the Directors’ judgements to be 

reasonable in determining the treatment of deferred 
tax asset. The consolidated and separate financial 
statements incorporate appropriate disclosures 
relating to the valuation of the investment in associate. 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT (CONTINUED)

To the Members of Namibia Breweries Limited

Key audit matter for the Group and Company How the matter was addressed in the audit

Valuation of the investment in associate and related losses for the year 

forecast profitability of Heineken SA, 
including the effect of Covid19, deemed the 
investment in associate to be recoverable 
and that all the unused tax losses will be 
utilised by the entity and therefore 
considered the recognition of the deferred 
tax asset to be still appropriate. 

The Directors have confirmed that, based on 
the same assessment, they believe the full 
investment of N$778 million net of equity 
accounted losses is recoverable.

2. Valuation of Heineken SA
zz We assessed the judgements made by the Directors such 

as the cash flow forecasts against the achieved results 
and anticipated growth rates used to determine the 
recoverability of the investment as a whole in accordance 
with the requirements of IAS 36: Impairment of assets.
zz We evaluated the forecast profitability by performing 

retrospective reviews of the budget versus actual 
profit to assess the reliability of the budgeting process. 
We evaluated the growth rates on the forecast against 
the actual results, forecast inflation and industry trends 
and assessed the reasonableness of the assumptions 
used by Heineken SA.
zz We consider the Directors’ judgements to be 

reasonable in determining the value of the investment. 
The consolidated and separate financial statements 
incorporate appropriate disclosures relating to the 
valuation of the investment in associate. 

OTHER INFORMATION
The Directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the DLG Awards, About 
this Report, Chairperson’s Statement, Our Profile, Our Content and Strategy, Managing Director’s Report, Material 
Matters and Sustainable Development Goals, Governance Report, Value-added Statement, Group Salient 
Features, Five-year Summary of Results, Summary of Statistics, Ordinary Share Ownership, Financial Review and 
Approval of financials which we obtained prior to the date of this report. The other information does not include the 
consolidated and separate financial statements, the report of the Directors and our auditor’s report thereon. 

Our opinion on the consolidated and separate financial statements does not cover the other information and 
we do not and will not express an audit opinion or any form of assurance conclusion thereon. 

In connection with our audit of the consolidated and separate financial statements, our responsibility is to read 
the other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with 
the consolidated and separate financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise 
appears to be materially misstated. 

If, based on the work we have performed on the other information obtained prior to the date of this auditor’s 
report, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report 
that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR THE CONSOLIDATED AND SEPARATE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The Directors are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated and separate 
financial statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards and the requirements of 
the Companies Act of Namibia and for such internal control as the Directors determine is necessary to enable 
the preparation of consolidated and separate financial statements that are free from material misstatement, 
whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the consolidated and separate financial statements, the Directors are responsible for assessing the 
Group’s and Company’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to 
going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the Directors either intend to liquidate 
the Group and/or Company or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED AND SEPARATE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated and separate financial 
statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an 
auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a 
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it 
exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the 
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis 
of these consolidated and separate financial statements. 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT (CONTINUED)

To the Members of Namibia Breweries Limited

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain professional 
scepticism throughout the audit. We also: 
zz Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated and separate financial statements, 

whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain 
audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting 
a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve 
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 
zz Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that 

are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness 
of the Group’s and the Company’s internal control. 
zz Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates 

and related disclosures made by the Directors.
zz Conclude on the appropriateness of the Directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting and based 

on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that 
may cast significant doubt on the Group’s and the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. If 
we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report 
to the related disclosures in the consolidated and separate financial statements or, if such disclosures 
are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to 
the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group and/or the 
Company to cease to continue as a going concern. 
zz Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated and separate financial 

statements, including the disclosures and whether the consolidated and separate financial statements 
represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.
zz Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business 

activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are 
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the Group audit. We remain solely responsible 
for our audit opinion. 

We communicate with the Directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the 
audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify 
during our audit. 

We also provide the Directors with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements 
regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may 
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards. 

From the matters communicated with the Directors, we determine those matters that were of most 
significance in the audit of the consolidated and separate financial statements of the current period and are 
therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation 
precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a 
matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would 
reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

Deloitte & Touche
Registered Accountants and Auditors
Chartered Accountants (Namibia)
ICAN practice number: 9407
Per AA Akayombokwa
Partner
Windhoek
17 September 2020

Deloitte Building
Maerua Mall complex
Jan Jonker Road
Windhoek
Namibia
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

Founded in 1920, NBL is principally engaged in the brewing and distribution of beer and is also active in the 
manufacturing of soft drinks.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES
NBL’s accounting policies comply with International Financial Reporting Standards and are consistent with 
those of the previous financial year with the exception of the adoption of IFRS 16 in the current year.

FINANCIAL RESULTS
The Group’s operating profit for the year ended 30 June 2020 decreased by 30.5% compared to the 
previous financial year (2019: 6.3%). This translates into an operating margin of 17.1% (2019: 21%).

DIVIDENDS PAID
Details of the ordinary dividends declared, paid and payable in respect of the 2019/20 financial year are 
reflected in note 25 to the financial statements. Total dividend paid for the year amounted to 103 cents per 
share and a special dividend totalling N$250 million.

DIVIDEND DECLARATION
In addition to the interim dividend of 53 cents per ordinary share paid in May 2020, the Board of Directors 
declared a final dividend of 53 cents per ordinary share at their meeting of 9 September 2020. Payment will 
be effected to the shareholders of ordinary shares in the books of the Company registered at the close of 
business on 9 October 2020 and will be paid on 13 November 2020.

CAPITAL EXPENDITURE
Capital expenditure for the reporting year amounted to N$164.8 million (2019: N$140.9 million).

ISSUED CAPITAL
Full details of the authorised and issued capital of the Company as at 30 June 2020 are set out in note 13 to 
the financial statements. The 92 471 000 unissued shares of the Company are under the control of the 
Directors.

DIRECTORATE AND SECRETARY
The names of the Directors as well as the name and address of the Company’s Secretary appear on the 
inside back cover herein.

SUBSIDIARIES
Details of the Company’s subsidiaries are set out in Annexure C of this report.

HOLDING COMPANY
The Company’s holding company is Namibia Breweries Investment Holdings (Proprietary) Limited, 
of which the shareholding is held by Ohlthaver & List Finance and Trading Corporation Limited and 
Heineken International BV (Heineken). The Company’s ultimate holding entity is List Trust Company 
(Proprietary) Limited.

EVENTS SUBSEQUENT TO REPORTING DATE
The Directors are not aware of any significant events subsequent to the reporting date to be accounted for 
or disclosed in the annual financial statements which significantly affect the financial position of the Group 
or the results of its operations.
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STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION

COMPANY GROUP 

as at 
30 June

2019
 N$’000 

as at 
30 June

2020
 N$’000 Notes

as at 
30 June

2020
 N$’000 

as at 
30 June

2019
 N$’000 

ASSETS
Non-current assets

 960 416  950 148 Property, plant and equipment 4  985 323  995 967 
 33 051  28 863 Intangible assets 5  28 863  33 051 

 –  32 304 Right-of-use assets 6  32 304  – 
 35 520  35 520 Investment in subsidiaries 7  –  – 

 855 366  778 663 Investment in associate 8  778 663  855 366 
 1 884 353  1 825 498  1 825 153  1 884 384 

Current assets
 344 437  345 684 Inventories 9  345 684  344 437 
 628 514  479 319 Trade and other receivables 10  475 837  628 010 

 55 494  3 996 Current tax receivable  4 321  55 820 
 187 890  242 626 Cash and cash equivalents 11  247 557  192 603 

 265  9 333 Derivative financial instruments 12  9 333  265 
 1 216 600  1 080 958  1 082 732  1 221 135 

 3 100 953  2 906 456 Total assets  2 907 885  3 105 519 

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
Equity

 1 024  1 024 Share capital 13  1 024  1 024 
 –  – Reserves  (548)  (103)

 1 951 602  1 754 019 Retained earnings  1 755 419  1 954 353 
 1 952 626  1 755 043 Ordinary shareholders’ equity  1 755 895  1 955 274 

Non-current liabilities
 183 508  501 608 Interest-bearing loans and borrowings 14  501 608  183 508 

 23 550  21 208 
Post-employment medical aid and severance 
pay benefit plan 15  21 208  23 550 

 183 332  190 184 Deferred taxation liability 16  190 167  183 315 
 390 390  713 000  712 983  390 373 

Current liabilities
 216 582  146 300 Interest-bearing loans and borrowings 14  145 088 215 201 
 524 775  292 113 Trade and other payables 17 293 919 528 091 

 16 580  – Income tax payable  – 16 580 
 757 937  438 413 439 007 759 872 

 3 100 953  2 906 456 Total equity and liabilities 2 907 885 3 105 519 
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STATEMENTS OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

COMPANY GROUP 

for the
year ended 

30 June
2019

Restated*
 N$’000 

for the
year ended 

30 June
2020

 N$’000 Notes

for the
year ended

30 June
2020

 N$’000 

for the
year ended 

30 June
2019

Restated*
 N$’000 

3 967 738 3 392 476 Revenue 3 392 476 3 967 553 
(869 970) (746 644) Excise duties (746 644) (869 970)

 3 097 768  2 645 832 Net revenue 18  2 645 832  3 097 583 
 (2 444 245)  (2 190 464) Operating expenses 19  (2 192 589)  (2 445 672)

 653 523  455 368 Operating profit 20  453 243  651 911 
 (42 455)  (50 545) Finance costs 21  (50 545)  (42 455)
 26 500  16 818 Finance income 22  17 592  26 607 

 450 542  (76 703) Equity (loss)/profit from associate 8  (76 703) 450 542 
 1 088 110  344 938 Profit before income tax  343 587  1 086 605 
 (155 455)  (82 260) Income tax expense 23  (82 260)  (155 486)

 932 655  262 678 
Profit for the year attributable to owners  
of the parent 261 327 931 119 
Other comprehensive income/(loss):
Items that will not be reclassified 
subsequently to profit or loss:

 1 050  3 920 
Remeasurement of net defined  
benefit liabilities 15  3 920  1 050 

 (336)  (1 255)
Income tax relating to items that will not 
be reclassified  (1 255)  (336)
Items that may be reclassified subsequently 
to profit or loss:

 –  – Foreign currency translation reserve (FCTR)  (445)  (6)

 714  2 665 
Other comprehensive income for the year net 
of taxation  2 220  708 

 933 369  265 343
Total comprehensive income for the year 
attributable to equity holders of the parent  263 547  931 827

    
Basic earnings per ordinary share (cents)** 24.1 126.5 450.8

*    Restated figures relate to disclosure on revenue and net 
revenue. No figures have been affected.

**   There is no difference between basic and diluted earnings 
per share. 
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STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

Notes

Share
capital
N$’000

Non-
distributable

reserves
N$’000

Retained
earnings

N$’000
Total

N$’000

GROUP
Opening balance as previously reported  1 024  (97)  1 622 001  1 622 928 
IFRS adjustments  –  –  (1 207)  (1 207)

Balance at 1 July 2018 as restated  1 024  (97)  1 620 794  1 621 721 
Profit for the year  –  –  931 119  931 119 
Other comprehensive income for the year  –  (6)  714  708 
Total comprehensive income for the year 
attributable to equity holders of the parent  –  (6)  931 833  931 827 
Dividends to equity holders 25  –  –  (598 274)  (598 274)

Opening balance as previously reported  1 024  (103)  1 954 353  1 955 274 
IFRS adjustments  –  –  (198)  (198)

Balance at 1 July 2019 as restated  1 024  (103)  1 954 155  1 955 076 
Profit for the year  –  –  261 327  261 327 
Other comprehensive income for the year  –  (445)  2 665  2 220 
Total comprehensive income for the year 
attributable to equity holders of the parent  –  (445)  263 992  263 547 
Dividends to equity holders 25  –  –  (462 728)  (462 728)
Balance at 30 June 2020  1 024  (548)  1 755 419  1 755 895 

COMPANY
Opening balance as previously reported  1 024  –  1 617 714  1 618 738 
IFRS adjustments   –  –  (1 207)  (1 207)

Balance at 1 July 2018 as restated  1 024  –  1 616 507  1 617 531 
Profit for the year  –  –  932 655  932 655 
Other comprehensive income for the year  –  –  714  714 
Total comprehensive income for the year 
attributable to equity holders of the parent  –  –  933 369  933 369 
Dividends to equity holders 25  –  –  (598 274)  (598 274)

Opening balance as previously reported  1 024  –  1 951 602  1 952 626 
IFRS adjustments  –  –  (198)  (198)

Balance at 1 July 2019 as restated  1 024  –  1 951 404  1 952 428 
Profit for the year  –  –  262 678  262 678 
Other comprehensive income for the year  –  –  2 665  2 665 
Total comprehensive income for the year 
attributable to equity holders of the parent  –  –  265 343  265 343 
Dividends to equity holders 25  –  –  (462 728)  (462 728)
Balance at 30 June 2020  1 024  –  1 754 019  1 755 043
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STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

COMPANY GROUP 

for the
year ended 

30 June
2019

Restated*
 N$’000 

for the
year ended 

30 June
2020

 N$’000 Notes

for the
year ended

30 June
2020

 N$’000 

for the
year ended 

30 June
2019

Restated*
 N$’000 

 (73 755)  23 679 CASH FLOW FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES  24 331  (81 043)
3 832 763  3 541 671 Cash receipts from customers 3 544 649 3 833 152 

(3 134 820)  (3 013 521) Cash paid to suppliers and employees (3 015 848)   (3 142 144) 

 697 943 529 524 Cash generated by operations 26.1 530 175  691 008 

 (598 274)  (462 728) Dividends paid 25  (462 728)  (598 274)
 (172 167) (41 744) Income tax paid 26.2 (41 743)  (172 198)

 (1 257) (1 374)
Employer benefit payments on  
post-employment benefit plans 15 (1 374)  (1 579)

 (101 140)  (142 660) CASH FLOW FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES  (143 257)  (94 505)
 26 500  16 818 Finance income  17 592  26 607 

 –  (100) Loan written off  (100)  – 
 (6 528)  1 371 Loans advanced to subsidiaries  –  – 

 (123 364)  (164 387) Acquisition of property, plant and equipment  (164 387)  (123 364)
 (808)  (435) Acquisition of intangible assets  (435)  (808)

 3 060  3 970 
Proceeds on disposal of property, plant and 
equipment  3 970  3 060 

–  103 Proceeds on disposal of intangible assets  103  – 

 (55 973)  173 717 CASH FLOW FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES  173 886  (55 859)
 (42 455)  (50 545) Finance costs  (50 545)  (42 455)

 100 000  810 000 
Proceeds from interest-bearing loans  
and borrowings  810 000  100 000 

 (113 518)  (567 669)
Repayment of interest-bearing loans  
and borrowings  (567 500)  (113 404)

 –  (18 069) Repayment of lease liabilities  (18 069)  – 

 (230 868)  54 736 
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash 
equivalents  54 960  (231 407)

 –  – Effect of translation of foreign entities  (6)  – 

 418 758  187 890 
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning  
of the year  192 603  424 010 

 187 890  242 626 
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF 
THE YEAR 11  247 557 192 603

* Restated figures relate to disclosure on cash receipts from customers and cash paid to suppliers and employees. The reallocation does not 
affect the final figures.
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NOTES TO THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

for the year ended 30 June 2020

1.	 REPORTING	ENTITY
Namibia Breweries Limited (the “Company”) is a company domiciled in Namibia. The consolidated and 
separate financial statements of the Company as at and for the year ended 30 June 2020 comprise the 
Company and its subsidiaries and the Group’s interest in associates (together referred to as the “Group” 
and individually as “Group entities”).

2.	 BASIS	OF	PREPARATION
(a) Statement of compliance

The consolidated and separate financial statements have been prepared in accordance with 
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) and interpretations issued by the IFRS 
Interpretations Committee (IFRS IC) applicable to companies reporting under IFRS and the 
requirements of the Namibia Companies Act. The financial statements were approved by the 
Board of Directors on 4 September 2020. The accounting policies below apply to both 
consolidated and separate financial statements.

(b) Basis of measurement
The consolidated and separate financial statements are prepared on the going concern and 
historical cost basis, modified for the fair value treatment of financial instruments.

(c) Functional and presentation currency
The consolidated and separate financial statements are presented in Namibia Dollar (NAD), which 
is the Company’s functional and Group’s presentation currency. All information presented in NAD 
has been rounded to the nearest thousand.

(d) Use of significant estimates and judgements
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires the Directors to make 
judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the application of policies and reported 
amounts of assets and liabilities, income and expenses. The estimates and associated assumptions 
are based on historical experience and various other factors that are believed to be reasonable 
under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis of making the judgements about 
carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. Actual 
results may differ from these estimates.

Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting 
estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only 
that period, or in the period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both current 
and future periods. In particular, information about significant areas of estimation uncertainty and 
critical judgements in applying accounting policies that have the most significant effect on the 
amounts recognised in the financial statements is included below:

Deferred tax assets
Deferred tax assets are recognised for all unused tax losses to the extent that it is probable that 
taxable profit will be available against which the losses can be utilised. Significant management 
judgement is required to determine the amount of deferred tax assets that can be recognised, 
based on the likely timing and level of future taxable profits together with future tax planning 
strategies. The carrying amount of recognised and unrecognised tax losses are disclosed in 
note 16 and 23 and management’s judgement with regard to the recoverability of deferred tax 
asset in its Associate in note 8.

Property, plant, equipment and intangible assets
The Group and Company depreciates and amortises items of property, plant, equipment and 
intangible assets down to residual value over the useful life of the assets. Management makes 
and applies assumptions about the expected useful life and residual value of these assets in 
determining the annual depreciation charge. Further details are given in the accounting policy note 
on depreciation. In particular management have assumed a depreciation rate of 20% (2019: 20%)  
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NOTES TO THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

for the year ended 30 June 2020

on returnable containers, this being management’s best estimate of breakage rate and useful life. 
The majority of returnable containers are with customers and the estimate of cost along with the 
corresponding returnable deposit liability is based on management’s judgement. Any change to 
these assumptions could have a significant impact on both the asset and corresponding liability.

Recoverability of investment in associate
The Company’s investment in the associate is carried at cost less impairment. The Directors have 
evaluated the value of the investment and have considered this to approximate the Company’s 
investment less equity accounted losses at year end. Changes in the assumptions impacting 
expected future cash generation could affect the recoverability of the valuation of the investment 
in the associate. See note 8 for further details on these assumptions.

3.	 SIGNIFICANT	ACCOUNTING	POLICIES
The accounting policies set out below have been applied consistently to all periods presented in the 
consolidated and separate financial statements.

(a) Basis of consolidation
(i) Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are those entities over whose financial and operating policies the Group has the 
power to exercise control, so as to obtain benefits from their activities. In assessing control 
potential voting rights that presently are exercisable are taken into account. The financial 
statements of subsidiaries are included in the consolidated financial statements from the 
date that control commences until the date that control ceases. The financial statements 
of the subsidiaries are prepared for the same reporting year as the parent company, using 
consistent accounting policies. Investment in subsidiaries are shown at cost in the 
Company’s financial statements.

(ii) Associates
The Group’s interest in associates are accounted for using the equity method of accounting. 
Under the equity method, the interest in an associate is carried in the statement of financial 
position at cost plus post acquisition changes in the Group’s net share of the assets. The 
statement profit or loss and other comprehensive income reflects the share of the results of 
the operations of the associate. Profits and losses resulting from transactions between the 
Group and the associate are eliminated to the extent of the interest in the associate.

(iii) Transactions eliminated on consolidation
Intra-Group balances and transactions and any unrealised income and expenses arising from 
intra-Group transactions, are eliminated in preparing the consolidated financial statements. 
Unrealised gains from transactions with equity accounted investees are eliminated against 
the investment to the extent of the Group’s interest in the investee. Unrealised losses are 
eliminated in the same way as unrealised gains, but only to the extent that there is no 
evidence of impairment.

(b) Business combinations
Business combinations are recognised and measured in terms of IFRS 3 Business Combinations. 
Business combinations under common control are recorded at the net book value of the assets or 
liabilities acquired.
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NOTES TO THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

for the year ended 30 June 2020

(c) Foreign currency
Transactions denominated in foreign currencies are initially recorded at the functional currency 
spot rates at the transaction date. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign 
currencies are translated at the functional currency spot rates of exchange at the reporting date. 
Differences arising on settlement or translation of monetary items are recognised in profit or loss. 
Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are 
translated using the exchange rate at the date of the transaction.

The results and position of consolidated entities that have a functional currency that differs from 
the presentation currency are translated into the presentation currency as follows:

zz Assets and liabilities for each statement of financial position presented are translated at the 
closing rate at the date of that statement of financial position;

zz Income statement items are translated at the average rate for the period (unless this average 
is not a reasonable approximation of the cumulative effect of the rates prevailing on the 
transaction dates, in which case income and expenses are translated at the rate on the dates 
of the transactions); and

zz All resulting exchange differences are recognised as a separate component of other 
comprehensive income. 

On disposal of the consolidated entity, the accumulated exchange differences in other comprehensive 
income are recognised in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income.

(d) Property, plant and equipment
(i) Recognition and measurement

Items of property, plant and equipment are measured at cost less accumulated depreciation 
and accumulated impairment losses. Cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable 
to the acquisition of the asset. The cost of self-constructed assets includes the cost of 
material and direct labour and other costs directly attributable to bringing the asset to  
a working condition for its intended use. When parts of an item of property, plant and 
equipment have different useful lives, they are accounted for as separate items (major 
components) of property, plant and equipment. Gains and losses on disposal of an item of 
property, plant and equipment are determined by comparing the proceeds from disposal 
with the carrying amount of property, plant and equipment and are recognised in profit 
or loss.

(ii) Subsequent costs
Subsequent expenditure relating to an item of property, plant and equipment is capitalised 
when it is probable that future economic benefits from the use of the asset will be increased 
and its cost can be reliably measured. All other subsequent expenditure is recognised as an 
expense in the period in which it is incurred.
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(iii) Depreciation
Depreciation is recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful 
lives of each of the items of property, plant and equipment. Leased assets are depreciated 
over the shorter of the lease term and their useful lives unless it is reasonably certain that 
the Group and Company will obtain ownership by the end of the lease term. The average 
depreciation rates for the current and comparative periods are as follows:

2020 2019

Freehold buildings 2% 2%
Leasehold land and buildings 4% 4%
Plant and machinery 4 – 20% 4 – 20%
Vehicles 20% 20%
Furniture and equipment 10 – 33% 10 – 33%
Returnable containers 20% 20%

The asset’s residual values, useful lives and methods of depreciation are reviewed, and 
adjusted if appropriate, at each financial year end. Land is not depreciated. The carrying 
values are reviewed for impairment when events or changes in circumstances indicate that 
the carrying value may not be recoverable.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised on disposal or when no future 
economic benefits are expected from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss arising on 
derecognition of the asset is included in profit or loss in the year the asset is derecognised. 
Depreciation is not provided on assets during the time of construction.

(e) Intangible assets
(i) Research and development

Expenditure on research activities, undertaken with the prospect of gaining new scientific or 
technical knowledge and understanding, and expenditure on internally generated goodwill 
and brands is recognised in profit or loss as an expense as incurred. Expenditure on 
development activities, whereby research findings are applied to a plan or design for the 
production of new or substantially improved products and processes, is capitalised if the 
product or process is technically feasible, costs can be reliably measured, future economic 
benefits are feasible and the Group or Company intends to and has sufficient resources to 
complete development and to use or sell the asset. The expenditure capitalised includes 
the cost of materials, direct labour and an appropriate proportion of overheads. Other 
development expenditure is recognised in profit or loss as an expense as incurred. 
Capitalised development expenditure is measured at cost less accumulated amortisation 
and impairment losses.

(ii)  Other intangible assets
Other intangible assets acquired by the Group or Company, which have finite useful lives, 
are measured at cost less accumulated amortisation and impairment losses.

(iii)  Subsequent expenditure
Subsequent development expenditure on capitalised intangible assets is capitalised only 
when it increases the future economic benefit embodied in the specific assets to which it 
relates. All other subsequent expenditure is expensed as incurred.
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(iv)  Amortisation
The useful lives of intangible assets are assessed to be either finite or infinite. Intangible 
assets with finite lives are amortised on a straight line basis over the estimated useful 
economic life and assessed for impairment whenever there is an indication that the 
intangible asset may be impaired. Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are tested for 
impairment annually and are not amortised. If the carrying amount exceeds the recoverable 
amount, an impairment loss will be recognised. Amortisation and impairment charges on 
intangible assets are charged to profit or loss. If an intangible asset with an indefinite life has 
changed to a finite life the change is made on a prospective basis. The average amortisation 
rates for the current and comparative periods are as follows:

2020 2019

Automation processes 20% 20%
Externally purchased software licences 33.3% 33.3%
Trademarks 0 – 20% 0 – 20%

(f) Leases where Group is lessee
The determination of whether an arrangement is, or contains a lease is based on the substance 
of the arrangement and requires an assessment of whether the fulfilment of the arrangement is 
dependent on the use of a specific asset or assets and the arrangement conveys a right to use 
the asset. 

At the start date of the lease, the group and company recognise a right of use (ROU) asset and 
lease liabilities presented under interest-bearing borrowings on the statement of financial position. 
The ROU asset is initially measured at cost, and subsequently at cost less accumulated 
depreciation and impairment losses, and adjusted for certain remeasurements of the lease liability.

The Group and Company apply the following practical expedients for the recognition of leases:

zz The short-term lease exemption, meaning that leases with a duration of less than a year are 
expensed in the income statement on a straight-line basis.

zz The low value lease exemption, meaning that leased assets with an individual value of  
N$50 000 or less if bought new, are expensed in the income statement on a straight-line basis.

Lease liabilities are measured at the present value of the lease payments to be paid during the 
lease term, discounted using the incremental borrowing rate (‘IBR’). Lease liabilities are 
subsequently increased by the interest cost on the lease liabilities and decreased by lease 
payments made. The lease liabilities will be remeasured when there is a change in the amount to 
be paid (e.g. due to indexation) or when there is a change in the assessment of the lease terms.

The lease term is determined as the non-cancellable period of a lease, together with:

zz Periods covered by a unilateral option to extend the lease if the Group and Company are 
reasonably certain to make use of that option; and

zz Periods covered by an option to terminate the lease if the Group and Company are reasonably 
certain not to make use of that option.

The Group and Company apply the following practical expedients for the recognition of leases:

zz Apply a single discount rate to a portfolio of leases with reasonably similar characteristics; and

zz Include non-lease components in the lease liability for equipment leases.

Operating leases are those leases which do not fall within the scope of the above definition. 
Payments made under operating leases are recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line basis.
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(g) Inventories
Inventories are carried at the lower of cost and net realisable value. The cost of inventories 
comprises all costs of purchase, conversion and other costs incurred in bringing the inventories 
to their present location and condition, and is determined as follows:

Raw materials, merchandise and consumable stores
Purchase cost on the weighted average basis.

Finished goods and work in progress
Cost of direct materials and labour and a proportion of manufacturing overheads based on 
normal operating capacity but excluding borrowing costs. Obsolete, redundant and slow-moving 
inventories are identified on a regular basis and are written down to their estimated net realisable 
values. Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of the business, 
less estimated costs of completion and the estimated costs necessary to make the sale.

(h) Impairment
(i) Financial assets

The Group recognises a loss allowance for expected credit losses on investments in debt 
instruments that are measured at amortised cost or at FVTOCI, lease receivables, trade 
receivables and contract assets, as well as on financial guarantee contracts. The amount of 
expected credit losses is updated at each reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk 
since initial recognition of the respective financial instrument.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL (expected credit losses) for trade receivables, 
contract assets and lease receivables. The expected credit losses on these financial assets 
are estimated using a provision matrix based management recommendations, adjusted for 
factors that are specific to the debtors, general economic conditions and an assessment of 
both the current as well as the forecast direction of conditions at the reporting date, 
including time value of money where appropriate.

For all other financial instruments, the Group recognises lifetime ECL when there has been a 
significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition. However, if the credit risk on the 
financial instrument has not increased significantly since initial recognition, the Group measures 
the loss allowance for that financial instrument at an amount equal to 12-month ECL.

Lifetime ECL represents the expected credit losses that will result from all possible default 
events over the expected life of a financial instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL represents 
the portion of lifetime ECL that is expected to result from default events on a financial 
instrument that are possible within 12 months after the reporting date.

Significant increase in credit risk 
In assessing whether the credit risk on a financial instrument has increased significantly since 
initial recognition, the Group compares the risk of a default occurring on the financial 
instrument at the reporting date with the risk of a default occurring on the financial 
instrument at the date of initial recognition. In making this assessment, the Group considers 
both quantitative and qualitative information that is reasonable and supportable, including 
historical experience and forward-looking information that is available without undue cost or 
effort. Forward-looking information considered includes the future prospects of the 
industries in which the Group’s debtors operate, obtained from economic expert reports, 
financial analysts, governmental bodies, relevant think-tanks and other similar organisations, 
as well as consideration of various external sources of actual and forecast economic 
information that relate to the Group’s core operations. 
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In particular, the following information is taken into account when assessing whether credit 
risk has increased significantly since initial recognition: 

zz an actual or expected significant deterioration in the financial instrument’s external (if 
available) or internal credit rating; 

zz significant deterioration in external market indicators of credit risk for a particular 
financial instrument, e.g. a significant increase in the credit spread, the credit default 
swap prices for the debtor, or the length of time or the extent to which the fair value of a 
financial asset has been less than its amortised cost; 

zz existing or forecast adverse changes in business, financial or economic conditions that 
are expected to cause a significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its debt 
obligations; 

zz an actual or expected significant deterioration in the operating results of the debtor; 

zz significant increases in credit risk on other financial instruments of the same debtor; and 

zz an actual or expected significant adverse change in the regulatory, economic, or 
technological environment of the debtor that results in a significant decrease in the 
debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations. 

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment, the Group presumes that the credit 
risk on a financial asset has increased significantly since initial recognition when contractual 
payments are more than 30 days past due, unless the Group has reasonable and supportable 
information that demonstrates otherwise. 

Despite the foregoing, the Group assumes that the credit risk on a financial instrument has 
not increased significantly since initial recognition if the financial instrument is determined to 
have low credit risk at the reporting date. A financial instrument is determined to have low 
credit risk if: 

1. the financial instrument has a low risk of default; 

2.  the debtor has a strong capacity to meet its contractual cash flow obligations in the near 
term; and 

3.  adverse changes in economic and business conditions in the longer term may, but will 
not necessarily, reduce the ability of the borrower to fulfil its contractual cash flow 
obligations. 

The Group considers a financial asset to have low credit risk when the asset has external 
credit rating of ‘investment grade’ in accordance with the globally understood definition 
or if an external rating is not available, the asset has an internal rating of ‘performing’. 
Performing means that the counterparty has a strong financial position and there is 
no past due amounts.

For financial guarantee contracts, the date that the Group becomes a party to the irrevocable 
commitment is considered to be the date of initial recognition for the purposes of assessing 
the financial instrument for impairment. In assessing whether there has been a significant 
increase in the credit risk since initial recognition of a financial guarantee contract, the Group 
considers the changes in the risk that the specified debtor will default on the contract. 

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of the criteria used to identify whether there 
has been a significant increase in credit risk and revises them as appropriate to ensure that 
the criteria are capable of identifying significant increase in credit risk before the amount 
becomes past due.
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Definition of default 
The Group considers the following as constituting an event of default for internal credit risk 
management purposes as historical experience indicates that financial assets that meet 
either of the following criteria are generally not recoverable: 

zz when there is a breach of financial covenants by the debtor; or 

zz information developed internally or obtained from external sources indicates that the 
debtor is unlikely to pay its creditors, including the Group, in full (without taking into 
account any collateral held by the Group). 

Irrespective of the above analysis, the Group considers that default has occurred when a 
financial asset is more than 90 days past due unless the Group has reasonable and 
supportable information to demonstrate that a more lagging default criterion is more 
appropriate. 

Credit-impaired financial assets 
A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events that have a detrimental impact 
on the estimated future cash flows of that financial asset have occurred. Evidence that a 
financial asset is credit-impaired includes observable data about the following events: 

(a) significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the borrower; 

(b) a breach of contract, such as a default or past due event (see (ii) above); 

(c)  the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or contractual reasons relating to the 
borrower’s financial difficulty, having granted to the borrower a concession(s) that the 
lender(s) would not otherwise consider; 

(d)  it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or other financial 
reorganisation; or 

(e)  the disappearance of an active market for that financial asset because of financial 
difficulties.

Write-off policy 
The Group writes off a financial asset when there is information indicating that the debtor 
is in severe financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of recovery, e.g. when the 
debtor has been placed under liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy proceedings, or 
in the case of trade receivables, when the amounts are over two years past due, whichever 
occurs sooner. Financial assets written off may still be subject to enforcement activities 
under the Group’s recovery procedures, taking into account legal advice where appropriate. 
Any recoveries made are recognised in profit or loss. 

Measurement and recognition of expected credit losses 
The measurement of expected credit losses is a function of the probability of default, loss 
given default (i.e. the magnitude of the loss if there is a default) and the exposure at default. 
The assessment of the probability of default and loss given default is based on historical 
data adjusted by forward-looking information as described above. As for the exposure at 
default, for financial assets, this is represented by the assets’ gross carrying amount at the 
reporting date; for financial guarantee contracts, the exposure includes the amount drawn 
down as at the reporting date, together with any additional amounts expected to be drawn 
down in the future by default date determined based on historical trend, the Group’s 
understanding of the specific future financing needs of the debtors, and other relevant 
forward-looking information. 
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For financial assets, the expected credit loss is estimated as the difference between all 
contractual cash flows that are due to the Group in accordance with the contract and all the 
cash flows that the Group expects to receive, discounted at the original effective interest 
rate. For a lease receivable, the cash flows used for determining the expected credit losses is 
consistent with the cash flows used in measuring the lease receivable in accordance with 
IFRS 16. 

For a financial guarantee contract, as the Group is required to make payments only in the 
event of a default by the debtor in accordance with the terms of the instrument that is 
guaranteed, the expected loss allowance is the expected payments to reimburse the holder 
for a credit loss that it incurs less any amounts that the Group expects to receive from the 
holder, the debtor or any other party. 

If the Group has measured the loss allowance for a financial instrument at an amount equal 
to lifetime ECL in the previous reporting period, but determines at the current reporting date 
that the conditions for lifetime ECL are no longer met, the Group measures the loss 
allowance at an amount equal to 12-month ECL at the current reporting date, except for 
assets for which the simplified approach was used. 

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in profit or loss for all financial instruments 
with a corresponding adjustment to their carrying amount through a loss allowance account, 
except for investments in debt instruments that are measured at FVTOCI, for which the loss 
allowance is recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in the investment 
revaluation reserve, and does not reduce the carrying amount of the financial asset in the 
statement of financial position.

(ii) Non-financial assets
The carrying amounts of the Company’s and the Group’s non-financial assets, other than 
inventories and deferred tax assets, are reviewed at each reporting date to determine 
whether there is any indication of impairment. If any such indication exists, then the asset’s 
recoverable amount is estimated. The recoverable amount of an asset or cash-generating 
unit is the greater of its value-in-use and its fair value less costs to sell. In assessing value-in-
use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax 
discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the 
risks specific to the asset.

An impairment is recognised if the carrying amount of an asset or its cash-generating unit 
exceeds its estimated recoverable amount. Impairments are recognised in profit or loss. 
An impairment is reversed if there has been a change in the estimates used to determine 
the recoverable amount. An impairment loss is reversed only to the extent that the asset’s 
carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, 
net of depreciation or amortisation, if no impairment had been recognised.
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(i) Financial instruments
(i) Non-derivative financial instruments

Non-derivative financial instruments comprise trade and other receivables, cash and cash 
equivalents, interest-bearing borrowings, trade and other payables. Non-derivative financial 
instruments are recognised initially at fair value plus, for instruments not at fair value through 
profit and loss, any directly attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, 
non-derivative financial instruments are measured as described below. Accounting for 
finance income and costs is discussed in note 2(l) and 2(m) respectively. All regular way 
purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised on the trade date i.e. the date that 
the Company and Group commits to purchase the asset.

(ii) Financial assets or liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
Included in this category are derivative financial instruments. Financial assets or liabilities 
classified as at fair value through profit or loss, are subsequent to initial recognition, 
measured at fair value with changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss.

(iii) Loans and receivables
Included in this category are the loans to Group companies. Loans and receivables are 
non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in 
an active market. Such assets are carried at amortised cost using the effective interest 
method. Amortised cost is computed as the amount initially recognised minus principal 
repayments, plus or minus the cumulative amortisation using the effective interest method 
of any difference between the initially recognised amount and the maturity amount. This 
calculation includes all fees and points paid or received between parties to the contract that 
are an integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and all other premiums 
and discounts. Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss when the loans and 
receivables are derecognised or impaired, as well as through the amortisation process.

(iv) Trade and other receivables
Trade and other receivables, which generally have 30–60 day terms, are subsequent to initial 
recognition, recognised at amortised cost.

(v) Cash and cash equivalents
For the purpose of the statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on 
hand, deposits held on call with banks, net of bank overdrafts, all of which are available for 
use by the Company and Group unless otherwise stated.

(vi) Interest-bearing loans and borrowings
Included in this category are long- and medium-term financing and short-term borrowings. 
Non-derivative financial liabilities are recognised at amortised cost, using the effective 
interest method. Interest-bearing bank loans and overdrafts are recorded at the value of 
proceeds received, net of direct issue costs. Finance charges are accounted for on an 
accrual basis and are added to the carrying amount of the instrument to the extent that 
they are not settled in the period in which they arise.
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(vii) Derecognition of financial assets and liabilities
Financial assets – A financial asset is derecognised where the rights to receive cash flows 
from the asset have expired. Financial liabilities – A financial liability is derecognised when 
the obligation under the liability is discharged or cancelled or expires.

(viii) Non-interest-bearing financial liabilities
Non-interest-bearing financial liabilities are recognised at amortised cost.

(j) Provisions
Provisions include a post-employment medical aid benefit for specified retired employees and the 
severance pay provision. Provisions are recognised when the Company or Group has a present legal 
or constructive obligation, as a result of past events, for which it is probable that an outflow of 
economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made for 
the amount of the obligation. Provisions are determined by discounting the expected future cash 
flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects the current market assessments of the time value of money and 
the risks specific to the liability. A provision for restructuring is recognised when the Company and 
Group have approved a detailed and formal restructuring plan, and the restructuring has either 
commenced or has been announced publicly. Future operating losses are not provided for.

(k) Revenue
The Group recognises revenue from the following major sources:

zz Sale of beer, non-alcoholic beverages and by products;

zz Royalty income on the Group’s brands produced and sold in other countries; and

zz Rental income.

Revenue is measured based on the consideration to which the Group expects to be entitled in a 
contract with a customer and excludes indirect taxes and discounts. Revenue is recognised when 
control of a product is transferred to a customer.

Revenue recognised is based on the price specified in the contract, net of discounts and sales taxes 
and gross of excise duties. Excise taxes are effectively a production tax as excise becomes payable 
when goods are produced and are not based on the sales value. Excise tax is borne by the Group 
and Company and therefore shown as an expense.

(i) Sale of goods
Revenue is recognised when the control of the goods has passed to the buyer. For sales 
transactions, the control passes to the buyer on delivery of the products (at a point in time).

(ii) Rental income
Rental income is recognised on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease.

(iii) Royalty income
Royalty income is recognised on an accrual basis in accordance with the substance of the 
relevant agreement, at a point in time.
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(l) Finance income
Finance income comprises interest income on funds, loans to associates and Group companies. 
Interest income is recognised in the year as it accrues in profit or loss, using the effective interest 
method.

(m) Finance costs
Finance costs comprise interest expense on borrowings. Borrowing costs are recognised in profit 
or loss using the effective interest method. Finance costs on qualifying assets are capitalised.

(n) Income tax
Income tax expense comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax expense is recognised in 
profit or loss except to the extent that it relates to items recognised directly in equity, in which 
case it is recognised in other comprehensive income. Current tax comprises tax payable calculated 
on the basis of the expected taxable income for the year, using the tax rates and tax laws enacted 
or substantively enacted at the reporting date and any adjustment of tax payable for previous 
years. Deferred tax is provided on temporary differences at the reporting date between the tax 
bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes. Deferred 
tax is not recognised for the following temporary differences:

zz The initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business combination 
and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss;

zz Investments in subsidiaries and jointly controlled entities to the extent that it is probable that 
the temporary differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future; and

zz Taxable temporary differences arising on the initial recognition of goodwill. The carrying 
amount of deferred tax assets are reviewed at each reporting date to determine that sufficient 
taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be utilised. 
Unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed at the reporting date and are recognised to 
the extent that it has become probable that future taxable profit will allow the deferred tax 
asset to be recovered. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are 
expected to apply to the year when the asset is realised or the liability settled, based on tax 
rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset, if a legally enforceable right exists to set 
off deferred tax assets against deferred tax liabilities and the deferred taxes relate to the same 
taxable entity and the same taxation authority.

(o) Value-added tax
Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of value added tax except:

zz Where the value-added tax incurred on a purchase of assets or services is not recoverable from 
the taxation authority, in which case the value added tax is recognised as part of the cost of 
acquisition of the asset or as part of the expense item as applicable; and

zz Receivables and payables that are stated with the amount of value added tax included. The net 
amount of value added tax recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority is included 
as part of receivables or payables in the statement of financial position.
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(p) Earnings per share
The calculation of basic earnings per share is based on earnings attributable to ordinary 
shareholders. Account is taken of the weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue for  
the period during which they have participated in the income of the Group. The Group has no 
dilutive potential ordinary shares. Earnings is defined as the profit for the year after taxation  
and non-controlling interest.

Headline earnings per share is calculated in terms of the requirements set out in Circular 01/2019  
issued by SAICA.

(q) Employee benefits
(i) Short-term benefits

The cost of all short-term employee benefits is recognised during the period in which the 
employee renders the related service, on an undiscounted basis. A liability is recognised for 
the amount expected to be paid if the Company or Group has a present legal or constructive 
obligation to pay this amount as a result of past service provided by the employee and the 
obligation can be estimated reliably.

(ii) Retirement benefits
The policy of the Group and Company is to provide retirement benefits for its employees. 
The contribution paid by the Group and Company to fund obligations for the payment of 
retirement benefits are recognised as an expense in profit or loss when they are due. The 
Ohlthaver & List Retirement Fund, which is a defined contribution fund, covers all the 
Company’s employees and is governed by the Pension Funds Act.

(iii) Post-employment medical benefits
The Group and Company provides for post-employment health care benefits to qualifying 
employees and retired personnel by subsidising a portion of their medical aid contributions. 
This scheme operates as a defined benefit plan and the cost of providing benefits under the 
plan is determined using the projected unit credit method.

Actuarial gains or losses, which can arise from differences between expected and actual 
outcomes, or changes in actuarial assumptions, are recognised immediately in other 
comprehensive income. The past service cost is recognised as an expense on a straight line 
basis over the average period until the benefits become vested. If the benefits are already 
vested immediately following the introduction of, or changes to the pension plan, past 
service cost is immediately recognised as an expense.

The entitlement to the benefits is usually based on the employee remaining in service up to 
retirement age and completing a minimum service period.

(iv) Severance benefit obligation
In accordance with the Namibia Labour Act, 2007 (No. 11 of 2007), severance benefits are 
payable to an employee, if the employee is dismissed, dies while employed or resigns/retires 
on reaching the age of 65 years. The obligation for severance benefits to current employees 
is actuarially determined in respect of all Group employees and is provided for in full. The 
cost of providing benefits is determined using the projected unit- credit method, with 
actuarial valuations being carried out at the end of each reporting period. Actuarial gains or 
losses are recognised in other comprehensive income and service costs are recognised in 
profit or loss in the year in which they occur.
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NOTES TO THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

for the year ended 30 June 2020

(r) Operating segment 
An operating segment is a component of the Group that engages in business activities from which 
it may earn revenues and incur expenses. An operating segment is also a component of the Group 
whose operating results are reviewed regularly by the entity’s Chief Operating Decision Maker to 
make decisions about resources to be allocated to the segment and assess its performance and 
for which discrete financial information is available. In accordance with IFRS 8 Operating 
Segments, the operating segments used to present segment information were identified on the 
basis of the internal reports used by management to allocate resources to the segments and 
assess their performance. The Executive Directors (Managing Director and Finance Director) are 
the Group’s ‘Chief Operating Decision Maker’ within the meaning of IFRS 8.

The operating segments have been identified and classified in a manner that reflects the nature of 
the products offered by the Group.

Operating segments whose total revenue, absolute profit or loss for the period or total assets are 
10% or more of total Group revenue, profit or loss or total assets, are reported separately.

The measure of profit or loss used by the Chief Operating Decision Maker is EBIT (Earnings Before 
Interest and Taxes), which includes revenue and expenses directly relating to a business segment 
but excludes net finance charges and taxation, which cannot be allocated to any specific segment.

(s) Fair value measurement
Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an 
orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date. The fair value 
measurement is based on the presumption that the transaction to sell the asset or transfer the 
liability takes place either:

zz In the principal market for the asset or liability; or 

zz In the absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market for the asset or liability.

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the financial statements are 
categorised within the fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest level input 
that is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole:

zz Level 1 – Quoted (unadjusted) market prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities 
that the Group can access at measurement date.

zz Level 2 – Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair 
value measurement is directly or indirectly observable.

zz Level 3 – Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair 
value measurement is unobservable.
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NOTES TO THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

for the year ended 30 June 2020

(t)  New and revised standards
(i) Adoption of new and revised standards

The following new Standards and Interpretations that were applicable were adopted during 
the year. IFRS 16 led to changes in the Group’s accounting policies:

New International Financial  
Reporting Standards Date issued Effective dates

IFRS 16 Leases 
IFRS 16 specifies how an IFRS reporter 
will recognise, measure, present and 
disclose leases. The standard provides 
a single lessee accounting model, 
requiring lessees to recognise assets 
and liabilities for all leases unless the 
lease term is 12 months or less or the 
underlying asset has a low value. 
Lessors continue to classify leases as 
operating or finance, with IFRS 16’s 
approach to lessor accounting 
substantially unchanged from its 
predecessor, IAS 17.

13 January 2016 Applicable to annual reporting 
periods beginning on or after 
1 January 2019

IFRIC 23 Uncertainty over Income  
Tax Treatments 
The interpretation addresses the 
determination of taxable profit (tax 
loss), tax bases, unused tax losses, 
unused tax credits and tax rates, when 
there is uncertainty over income tax 
treatments under IAS 12. It specifically 
considers:

zz Whether tax treatments should be 
considered collectively
zz Assumptions for taxation 

authorities’ examinations
zz The determination of taxable profit 

(tax loss), tax bases, unused tax 
losses, unused tax credits and tax 
rates
zz The effect of changes in facts and 

circumstances

7 June 2017 Applicable to annual reporting 
periods beginning on or after 
1 January 2019 
Not yet endorsed for use in 
the EU.
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NOTES TO THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

for the year ended 30 June 2020

(ii) Standards and amendments issued but not yet effective
At the date of authorisation of these financial statements, the following Standards and 
Interpretations were in issue but not yet effective:

The Directors are assessing the impact of adopting these standards but do not currently 
expect the adoption of any of these standards to have a significant impact on these 
accounts.

New/Revised International  
Financial Reporting Standards Date issued Effective dates

IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts 
IFRS 17 requires insurance liabilities  
to be measured at a current fulfilment 
value and provides a more uniform 
measurement and presentation 
approach for all insurance contracts. 
These requirements are designed to 
achieve the goal of a consistent, 
principle-based accounting for 
insurance contracts.

18 May 2017 Applicable to annual reporting 
periods beginning on or after 
1 January 2021 

IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: 
Disclosures 
Amendments regarding pre-
replacement issues in the context  
of the IBOR reform

September 2019 Annual periods beginning on or 
after 1 January 2020

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments
Amendments regarding pre-
replacement issues in the context  
of the IBOR reform

September 2019 Annual periods beginning on or 
after 1 January 2020

IFRS 16 Leases 
Amendment to provide lessees with  
an exemption from assessing whether 
a COVID-19-related rent concession  
is a lease modification

May 2020 Annual periods beginning on or 
after 1 June 2020

IAS 1 Presentation of Financial 
Statements 
Amendments regarding the definition 
of material

October 2018 Annual periods beginning on or 
after 1 January 2020

IAS 8 Accounting Policies, Changes in 
Accounting Estimates and Errors 
Amendments regarding the definition 
of material

October 2018 Annual periods beginning on or 
after 1 January 2020
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(u) Changes in accounting policies
IFRS 16 Leases
The Group and Company have implemented IFRS 16 Leases as at 1 July 2019, replacing existing 
guidance on leases (including IAS 17 Leases). The adoption of IFRS 16 has changed the 
accounting for leases as under the new standard all operating lease contracts are recognised on 
the consolidated and Company statement of financial position, except for short-term and low 
value leases. Lease expenses previously recorded in the consolidated and Company statement of 
profit and loss and other comprehensive income have been replaced by depreciation and interest 
expenses for all lease contracts in scope of the standard. 

IFRS 16 has been adopted by applying the modified retrospective approach, whereby the 
comparative figures are not restated. Instead, cumulative adjustments to retained earnings have 
been recognised in retained earnings as at 1 July 2019.

Leases previously classified as operating leases 
The Group undertook the following at the date of initial application for leases which were 
previously recognised as operating leases: 

zz Recognised a lease liability, measured at the present value of the remaining lease payments, 
discounted at the Group’s incremental borrowing rate at the date of initial application; and

zz Recognised right-of-use assets measured on a lease by lease basis, at either the carrying 
amount (as if IFRS 16 applied from commencement date but discounted at the incremental 
borrowing rate at the date of initial application) or at an amount equal to the lease liability 
adjusted for accruals or prepayments relating to that lease prior to the date of initial 
application. 

The Group applied IAS 36 to consider if these right-of-use assets are impaired as at the date of 
initial application. The Group applied the following practical expedients when applying IFRS 16 
to leases previously classified as operating leases in terms of IAS 17. Where necessary, they have 
been applied on a lease by lease basis: 

zz When a portfolio of leases contained reasonably similar characteristics, the Group applied 
a single discount rate to that portfolio. 

zz Leases which were expiring within 12 months of 1 July 2019 were treated as short-term leases, 
with remaining lease payments recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis or another 
systematic basis which is more representative of the pattern of benefits consumed. 

zz Initial direct costs were excluded from the measurement of right-of-use assets at the date of 
initial application. 

zz Hindsight was applied where appropriate. This was specifically the case for determining the 
lease term for leases which contained extension or termination options. 

Leases previously classified as finance leases 
For leases that were classified as finance leases applying IAS 17, the Group measured the carrying 
amount of the right-of-use asset and the lease liability at the date of initial application as the 
carrying amount of the leased asset and lease liability immediately before that date measured 
applying IAS 17. For those leases, the Group accounts for the right-of-use asset and the lease 
liability applying IFRS 16 from the date of initial application.

Leases where Group is lessor 
IFRS 16 does not change substantially how a lessor accounts for leases. Under IFRS 16, a lessor 
continues to classify leases as either finance leases or operating leases and account for those two 
types of leases differently. However, IFRS 16 has changed and expanded the disclosures required, 
in particular regarding how a lessor manages the risks arising from its residual interest in the 
leased assets. These additional disclosures have been made by the Group. 

NOTES TO THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

for the year ended 30 June 2020
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Impact on financial statements 
On transition to IFRS 16, the Group recognised an additional N$8 846 979 of right-of-use assets 
and N$9 044 560 of lease liabilities, recognising the difference in retained earnings. When 
measuring lease liabilities, Group discounted lease payments using its incremental borrowing 
rate at 1 July 2019. The weighted average rate applied is 9.6%.

Reconciliation of previous operating lease commitments to lease liabilities under IFRS 16

1 July
2019

N$’000

Operating lease commitment at 30 June 2019 as previously disclosed 3 806 
Discounted using the incremental borrowing rate at 1 July 2019 2 410 
Add finance lease liabilities recognised as at 30 June 2019 7 055
Less recognition exemption for: Short-term leases (420)
Lease liabilities recognised at 1 July 2019 9 045

The aggregate effect of the changes in accounting policy on the annual financial statements for 
the year ended 30 June 2020 as follows: 

Statements of financial position 

GROUP COMPANY

2020
 N$’000 

2019
 N$’000 

2020
 N$’000 

2019
 N$’000 

Property, plant and equipment
Previously stated 995 967 – 960 416 –
Adjustment (28 244) – (28 244) –

967 723 – 932 172 –

Deferred tax
Previously stated 11 587 – 11 587 –
Adjustment (8 582) – (8 582) –

3 005 – 3 005 –

Right-of-use assets
Previously stated – – – –
Adjustment 32 304 – 32 304 –

32 304 – 32 304 –

Retained earnings
Previously stated 1 954 353 – 1 951 604 –
Adjustment (198) – (198) –

1 954 155 – 1 951 406 –

NOTES TO THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

for the year ended 30 June 2020
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Statements of profit or loss and other comprehensive income 

GROUP COMPANY

2020
 N$’000 

2019
 N$’000 

2020
 N$’000 

2019
 N$’000 

Interest expense 
Previously stated 42 455 – 42 455 –
Adjustment 8 209 – 8 209 –

50 664 – 50 664 –

Rental 
Previously stated 31 239  – 31 239 –
Adjustment (24 402) – (24 402) –

6 837 – 6 837 –

Depreciation 
Previously stated 144 796  – 144 415  –
Adjustment 19 298 – 19 298 –

164 094 – 164 713 –

NOTES TO THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

for the year ended 30 June 2020
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COMPANY GROUP 

2019
 N$’000 

2020
 N$’000 

2020
 N$’000 

2019
 N$’000 

4. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
At cost

 226 817  237 872 Freehold land and buildings  272 095  261 040 
 6 830  6 893 Leasehold land and buildings  9 051  8 988 

 1 201 152  1 238 732 Plant and machinery  1 240 401  1 202 822 
 126 173  80 763 Vehicles  80 753  126 163 

 90 392  94 971 Furniture and equipment  95 430  90 851 
 426 581  453 649 Returnable containers  453 649  426 581 
 11 899  37 242 Assets under construction  37 262  11 919 

 2 089 845  2 150 121  2 188 641  2 128 365 

Accumulated depreciation
 38 660  42 689 Freehold land and buildings  42 689  38 660 

 3 746  3 960 Leasehold land and buildings  6 118  5 904 
 674 134  715 883 Plant and machinery  716 814  674 735 
 74 536  53 747 Vehicles  53 735  74 525 
 63 375  70 720 Furniture and equipment  70 987  63 596 

 274 978  312 974 Returnable containers  312 974  274 978 
 1 129 429  1 199 974  1 203 317  1 132 398 

Carrying value
 188 157  195 182 Freehold land and buildings  229 405  222 380 

 3 084  2 933 Leasehold land and buildings  2 933  3 084 
 527 019  522 849 Plant and machinery  523 587  528 087 
 51 637  27 016 Vehicles  27 017  51 638 
 27 017  24 251 Furniture and equipment  24 443  27 255 

 151 603  140 675 Returnable containers  140 675  151 603 
 11 899  37 242 Assets under construction  37 262  11 919 

 960 416  950 148  985 323  995 967 

Refer to Annexure B for details regarding the 
movement in property, plant and equipment for 
the year.

Leased assets
Included in 2019 are leased vehicles that were 
transferred to note 6: Right-of-use assets in 
the current year under IFRS 16. The leasehold 
property below does not fall under IFRS 16 and 
is included in property, plant and equipment.

NOTES TO THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

for the year ended 30 June 2020
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NOTES TO THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

for the year ended 30 June 2020

COMPANY GROUP 

2019
 N$’000 

2020
 N$’000 

2020
 N$’000 

2019
 N$’000 

4. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued)
Vehicles

 57 030  – At cost  –  57 030 
 (28 786)  – Accumulated depreciation  –  (28 786)
 28 244  – Carrying value  –  28 244 

The leased vehicles are encumbered in terms of 
finance lease agreements (see note 14 & 28).

Property
 6 831  6 893 At cost  6 893  6 831 

 (3 746)  (3 960) Accumulated depreciation  (3 960)  (3 746)
 3 084  2 933 Carrying value  2 933  3 084 

Land and buildings
The Group’s land and buildings are not 
encumbered. Details of the Group’s land and 
buildings are maintained for inspection at the 
registered office of the Company.

Refer to note 14 in respect of secured leased 
assets and moveable assets.

5.	 INTANGIBLE ASSETS
At cost

 34 718  34 751 Automation processes  34 751  34 718 
 11 000  11 000 Trademarks  11 000  11 000 
 19 751  19 862 Software licences  19 862  19 751 
 65 469  65 613  65 613  65 469 

Accumulated amortisation
 14 155  17 042 Automation processes  17 042  14 155 

 1 133  1 533 Trademarks  1 533  1 133 
 17 131  18 175 Software licences  18 175  17 131 
 32 418  36 750  36 750  32 418 

Carrying value
 20 563  17 709 Automation processes  17 709  20 563 

 9 867  9 467 Trademarks  9 467  9 867 
 2 621  1 687 Software licences  1 687  2 621 

 33 051  28 863  28 863  33 051 

Refer to Annexure B for details regarding the 
movement in intangible assets for the year.
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NOTES TO THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

for the year ended 30 June 2020

COMPANY GROUP 

2019
 N$’000 

2020
 N$’000 

2020
 N$’000 

2019
 N$’000 

6.	 RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS
At cost

 –  64 122 Leased motor vehicles  64 122  – 
 –  9 863 Leased properties  9 863  – 
 –  73 984  73 984 –

Accumulated amortisation
 –  36 770 Leased motor vehicles  36 770  – 
 –  4 910 Leased properties  4 910  – 
 –  41 680  41 680  – 

Carrying value
 –  27 351 Leased motor vehicles  27 351  – 
 –  4 953 Leased properties  4 953  – 
 –  32 304  32 304  – 

Refer to Annexure B for details regarding the 
movement in right-of-use assets for the year.  
The corresponding lease liability information  
is disclosed in note 14 and Annexure A.

7.	 INVESTMENT IN SUBSIDIARIES (ANNEXURE C)
 35 520  35 520 Shares at cost
(1 381) (1 212) Loans from subsidiaries

 301  1 006 Loans to subsidiaries
 34 440  35 314 

(1 080)  (206) Current
 35 520  35 520 Non-current
 34 440  35 314 Net investment in subsidiaries

The loans are interest free and have no fixed 
repayment terms.
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NOTES TO THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

for the year ended 30 June 2020

COMPANY GROUP 

2019
 N$’000 

2020
 N$’000 

2020
 N$’000 

2019
 N$’000 

8. INVESTMENT IN ASSOCIATE
404 824 855 366 Opening balance  855 366  404 824 
334 693  – Recognition of deferred tax asset  –  334 693 
115 849 (76 703) Equity profit/(loss) from associate  (76 703)  115 849 
855 366 778 663 Carrying amount of the investment  778 663  855 366 

Disclosed as
 –  – Current  –  – 

855 366 778 663 Non-current  778 663  855 366 
855 366 778 663  778 663  855 366 

Equity profit/(loss) from associate
115 849 (76 703) Equity accounted profit/(loss) (ongoing operations)  (76 703)  115 849 
334 693  – Recognition of deferred tax asset  –  334 693 
 450 542  (76 703)  (76 703)  450 542 

In the 2019 financial year the Directors of Heineken 
South Africa Proprietary Limited assessed that 
Heineken South Africa Proprietary Limited’s 
assessed loss of N$1.3 billion is recoverable and 
thus recognised the deferred tax asset arising from 
the assessed loss. The Directors of the Group 
agreed with this assessment. The most significant 
factor in the assessment was the turnaround made 
by Heineken South Africa Proprietary Limited as 
they started recording profits above initial forecasts 
and should continue generating taxable profits 
going forward. As a result the Group recorded their 
25% share of the deferred tax asset. The deferred 
tax asset was assessed in the current year and is 
deemed recoverable by the Directors.

The closing balance of the investment includes a 
capital loan of N$73.6 million (2019: N$73.6 million) 
owed by Heineken South Africa Proprietary 
Limited. The loan to the associate is unsecured  
and bears interest at South African Prime rate 
(2019: JIBAR + 2%). The loan is repayable in 
September 2022. Trade receivables from the 
Associate are disclosed in note 10. 

Heineken South Africa Proprietary Limited is 
registered and operates primarily in South Africa. 
The nature of the business is manufacturing and 
distribution of beer. NBL has a 25% share in 
Heineken South Africa Proprietary Limited.
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NOTES TO THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

for the year ended 30 June 2020

COMPANY GROUP 

2019
 N$’000 

2020
 N$’000 

2020
 N$’000 

2019
 N$’000 

8. INVESTMENT IN ASSOCIATE (continued)
The summarised financial information of material 
associates at 30 June and for the year then ended 
is as follows:

Summarised statement of financial position
Current assets  2 884 272  1 137 600 
Non-current assets  7 736 306  6 376 700 

10 620 578  7 514 300 

Current liabilities  5 105 479  2 990 300 
Non-current liabilities  2 812 182  1 604 200 

 7 917 661  4 594 500 

Summarised statement of profit or loss 
Revenue 8 272 324 9 333 017 
Other income and expenses  (8 732 586)  (8 675 766)
Profit/(loss) before income tax  (460 262)  657 251 
Income tax credit  153 454  1 144 916 
Profit/(loss) from continuing operations  (306 808)  1 802 167 

Equity profit/(loss) from associate  (76 703)  450 542 

Royalties received from associate  91 311  105 656 

9.	 INVENTORIES
 81 583  87 661 Raw materials  87 661  81 583 
 28 971  21 405 Work in progress  21 405  28 971 
 91 911  120 655 Finished products  120 655  91 911 

 140 003  128 798 Consumable stores  128 798  140 003 
 10 438  14 982 Merchandise  14 982  10 438 

 352 906  373 501  373 501  352 906 
 (8 469)  (27 817) Provision for obsolete inventory  (27 817)  (8 469)

 344 437  345 684  345 684  344 437 

For the 2020 financial year, the total inventory 
impairment amounted to N$9.2 million (2019: 
N$9.2 million). The impairment to inventories is 
included in operating expenses in profit and loss 
and is mainly due to expired goods and changes 
in packaging design.
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NOTES TO THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

for the year ended 30 June 2020

COMPANY GROUP 

2019
 N$’000 

2020
 N$’000 

2020
 N$’000 

2019
 N$’000 

10. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
Financial instruments at amortised cost:

 232 669  188 959 Trade receivables  188 686  232 794 
 (6 228)  (11 029) Allowance for credit losses  (11 029)  (6 228)

 156 791  43 190 Receivables from associate (note 27.2)  43 190  156 791 
 10 642  12 225 Receivables from Group companies (note 27.1)  7 856  6 978 
 2 579  1 389 Receivables from other related parties (note 27.2)  1 389  2 579 

 18 522  18 963 Refundable deposits  18 963  18 522 
 22 339  6 569 Other receivables  6 569  24 840 

Non-financial instruments:
 –  4 384 Other receivables  4 999  – 

 23 026  12 992 Prepayments  12 992  23 026 
 168 174  201 677 Value added taxation  202 222  168 708 
 628 514  479 319  475 837  628 010 

Trade and other receivables were pledged as 
security for the loans with FirstRand Bank Limited 
as disclosed in Annexure A. All rights were ceded 
to the lender.

Included in other receivables is restricted cash 
held in a trust fund of N$6.6 million (2019:  
N$6.2 million).

Trade receivables are generally on 30-60 days’ 
terms.

For terms and conditions relating to related party 
receivables, refer to note 27.

The average collection period on sales of goods of 
the Company is 31 days (2019: 30 days).

Exposure to credit risk
Trade receivables inherently expose the Group to 
credit risk, being the risk that the Group will incur 
financial loss if customers fail to make payments 
as they fall due.

The allowance for credit losses increased 
significantly due to the current Covid-19 
pandemic and expected decline in the ability of 
customers to settle their debt.
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NOTES TO THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

for the year ended 30 June 2020

10. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (continued)
Exposure to credit risk (continued)
The Group’s historical credit loss experience does not show significantly different loss patterns for 
different customer segments. The provision for credit losses is therefore based on past due status 
without disaggregating into further risk profiles. The loss allowance provision is determined as follows:

2020 2020 2019 2019
Estimated

 gross 
carrying
 amount 

at default
N$’000

Loss 
allowance 
(Lifetime
expected

 credit loss)
N$’000

Estimated
 gross 

carrying 
amount 

at default
N$’000

Loss
 allowance 

(Lifetime
 expected 
credit loss)

N$’000

GROUP
Expected credit loss rate:
Not past due: 0.1% 152 628 (138) 295 276  (262)
31 – 60 days past due: 0.2% 133 (9) 1 156  (53)
61 – 90 days past due: 0.3% 2 202 (7) 3 524  (19)
91 – 120 days past due: 0.4% 22 594 (90) 3 816  (15)
120+ days past due: 0.5% 51 248 (10 785) 43 707  (5 879)

228 805 (11 029) 347 479 (6 228)

COMPANY
Expected credit loss rate:
Not past due: 0.1% 152 628 (138) 295 276 (262)
31 – 60 days past due: 0.2% 133 (9) 1 156 (53)
61 – 90 days past due: 0.3% 2 202 (7) 3 524 (19)
91 – 120 days past due: 0.4% 22 594 (90) 3 816 (15)
120+ days past due: 0.5% 51 174 (10 785) 43 633 (5 879)

228 731 (11 029) 347 405 (6 228)

COMPANY GROUP 

2019
 N$’000 

2020
 N$’000 

2020
 N$’000 

2019
 N$’000 

Movement in the allowance account  
for impairment losses:

 (6 607)  (6 228) Balance at the beginning of the year  (6 228)  (6 607)
 (1 268)  (7 883) Provision raised  (7 883)  (1 268)
 2 213  3 016 Utilised  3 016  2 213 
 (566)  66 IFRS 9 provision raised/(reversed)  66  (566)

 (6 228)  (11 029) Balance at the end of the year  (11 029)  (6 228)
  

Analysed as follows:
 (5 662)  (10 529) Individually impaired trade receivables  (10 529)  (5 662)

 (566)  (500) Collectively impaired trade receivables  (500)  (566)
 (6 228)  (11 029)  (11 029)  (6 228)
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NOTES TO THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

for the year ended 30 June 2020

COMPANY GROUP 

2019
 N$’000 

2020
 N$’000 

2020
 N$’000 

2019
 N$’000 

11. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
 183 510  73 833 Cash and bank  78 662  188 114 

 4 380  168 793 Funds on call  168 895  4 489 
 187 890  242 626 Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year  247 557  192 603 

The carrying amount of these assets approximate 
their fair value.
Facilities
Various facilities have been provided by First 
National Bank of Namibia Limited. The list of 
facilities are set out below:
– Overdraft facility of N$100 000 000 (unutilised);
– Business card facility of N$300 000;
– Fleet cards facility of N$3 000 000;
– Guarantees of N$6 000 000;
– Wesbank rental facility of N$700 000;
– Short term pre-settlement facility on derivatives 

of N$10 000 000;
– Pre-settlement facility on fuel hedges of 

N$5 000 000; and
– Pre-settlement facility on interest rates of 

N$21 000 000.

12.	 DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
 265  9 333 Forward foreign exchange contract asset  9 333  265 

Refer to note 30.2 for details on outstanding 
forward exchange contracts at year end.

13. SHARE CAPITAL
Ordinary – Authorised
299 000 000 shares of no par value  
(2019: 299 000 000).

Ordinary – Issued

 1 024  1 024 
206 529 000 fully paid up shares of no par value 
(2019: 206 529 000).  1 024  1 024 

The 92 471 000 unissued shares of the Company 
are under the control of the Directors. 

The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to 
receive dividends as declared from time to time 
and are entitled to one vote per share on meetings 
of the Company.
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NOTES TO THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

for the year ended 30 June 2020

COMPANY GROUP 

2019
 N$’000 

2020
 N$’000 

2020
 N$’000 

2019
 N$’000 

14.	 INTEREST-BEARING LOANS AND BORROWINGS
This note provides information about the 
contractual terms of the Company and Group’s 
interest-bearing loans and borrowings. For more 
information about the exposure to interest rate 
risk, see Annexure A.

Non-current liabilities
 162 500  480 000 Medium-term loan (Annexure A)  480 000  162 500 
 21 008  21 608 Finance lease liabilities (Annexure A)  21 608  21 008 

 183 508  501 608  501 608  183 508 

Current liabilities
 1 381  1 212 Loan from related parties (Annexure A)  –  – 

 200 000  125 000 Medium-term loan (Annexure A)  125 000  200 000 
 15 201  20 088 Finance lease liabilities (Annexure A)  20 088  15 201 

 216 582  146 300  145 088  215 201 

The undrawn facilities at 30 June 2020 were 
N$570 million (2019: N$150 million).

For terms and conditions relating to related party 
payables, interest-bearing borrowings and loans, 
refer to note 27 and Annexure A respectively.

15. RETIREMENT BENEFIT INFORMATION
15.1 Retirement fund

The total value of contributions to the  
Ohlthaver & List Retirement Fund during the 
period amounted to:

 10 675  17 586 Members’ contributions  17 586  10 675 
 28 089  24 289 Employer’s contributions  24 289  28 089 
 38 764  41 875  41 875  38 764 

This is a defined contribution plan and is regulated 
by the Pension Fund Act of Namibia. The fund is 
valued at intervals of not more than three years. 
The fund was valued by an independent 
consulting actuary at 30 June 2020 and its assets 
were found to exceed its actuarially calculated 
liabilities.
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NOTES TO THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

for the year ended 30 June 2020

COMPANY GROUP 

2019
 N$’000 

2020
 N$’000 

2020
 N$’000 

2019
 N$’000 

15. RETIREMENT BENEFIT INFORMATIONS 
(continued)

15.2 Post-employment medical aid benefit plan
 7 060  6 466 Balance at the beginning of the year  6 466  7 060 

 635  559 Interest cost  559  635 
 (431)  (373) Actuarial gain  (373)  (431)
 (798)  (515) Benefits paid  (515)  (798)

 6 466  6 137 Non-current balance at the end of the year  6 137  6 466 

The Ohlthaver & List Group provides for  
post-employment medical aid benefits in  
respect of a closed group of specified retired 
employees. The present value of the provision  
at 30 June 2020, as determined by using  
projected unit credit method was N$6.1 million 
(2019: N$6.5 million). Future benefits valued are 
projected using actuarial assumptions and the 
liability for in-service members is accrued over  
the expected working lifetime.

The principal actuarial assumptions used in 
determining post-employment medical aid benefit 
obligations for the Group’s plan are as follows:

9.20% 9.10% Discount rate 9.10% 9.20%
7.00% 5.60% Health care cost inflation 5.60% 7.00%

 19  19 Employees 19  19 

Sensitivity analysis of health care cost inflation:
A one percentage point decrease or increase  
in the rate of health care cost inflation will have 
the following effect:

The accrued liability as at 30 June 2020  
will decrease by N$0.348 million (2019:  
N$ 0.405 million) or increase by  
N$0.391 million (2019: N$0.462 million) 
respectively; and

The current service cost and interest cost  
will decrease by N$0.028 million (2019:  
N$0.033 million) or increase by N$0.032 million 
(2019: N$0.037 million) respectively.
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NOTES TO THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

for the year ended 30 June 2020

COMPANY GROUP 

2019
 N$’000 

2020
 N$’000 

2020
 N$’000 

2019
 N$’000 

15. RETIREMENT BENEFIT INFORMATIONS 
(continued)

15.3 Severance benefit
 15 445  17 084 Balance at the beginning of the year  17 084  15 767 
 1 545  1 716 Current service costs  1 716  1 172 
 1 172  677 Interest cost  677  1 545 
 (619)  (3 547) Actuarial gain  (3 547)  (619)
 (459)  (859) Benefits paid  (859)  (781)

 17 084  15 071 Non-current balance at the end of the year  15 071  17 084 
 23 550  21 208  21 208  23 550 

The principal actuarial assumptions used in 
determining severance pay obligations for the 
Group is as follows:

10.20% 12.00% Discount rate 12.00% 10.20%
6.50% 6.80% Inflation rate 6.80% 6.50%
6.50% 6.80% Salary increase rate 6.80% 6.50%

Sensitivity analysis of inflation rate:
A one percentage point decrease or increase 
in the inflation rate will have the following effect:

The accrued liability as at 30 June 2020  
will decrease by N$1.370 million (2019:  
N$1.625 million) or increase by N$1.595 million 
(2019: N$1.913 million) respectively.
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NOTES TO THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

for the year ended 30 June 2020

COMPANY GROUP 

2019
 N$’000 

2020
 N$’000 

2020
 N$’000 

2019
 N$’000 

16. DEFERRED TAXATION
Deferred taxation liability

194 348 183 332 Balance at the beginning of the year  183 315  194 331 
 (4 485)  (16 342) Accelerated depreciation for tax purposes  (16 342)  (4 485)

 –  (120) Debtors allowances  (120)  – 
 –  (7 995) Consumables  (7 995)  – 

 3 579  (2 659) Customer deposits  (2 659)  3 579 
 (6 669)  18 476 Other provisions  18 476  (6 669)
 (1 075)  8 582 Other leases  8 582  (1 075)

 2  (15) Prepayments  (15)  2 

 (670)  (505)
Retirement and severance pay benefit  
obligations  (505)  (670)

 (818)  (590) Intangible asset  (590)  (818)
 (1 216)  6 766 Unrealised foreign exchange losses  6 766  (1 216)

 (11 352)  5 598 Movement during the year  5 598  (11 352)

 336  1 254 
Charge to other comprehensive income  
for the year  1 254  336 

 183 332  190 184  190 167  183 315 

Analysis of deferred taxation liability:
 230 269  213 927 Accelerated depreciation for tax purposes  213 927  230 269 

 –  (120) Debtors allowances  (120)  – 
 7 995  – Consumables  –  7 995 

 (17 942)  (20 601) Customer deposits  (20 601)  (17 942)
 (20 239)  (1 763) Other provisions  (1 780)  (20 256)
 (11 587)  (3 005) Other leases  (3 005)  (11 587)

 280  265 Prepayments  265  280 
 (7 536)  (6 787) Retirement benefit obligations  (6 787)  (7 536)
 1 953  1 363 Intangible asset  1 363  1 953 

 139  6 905 Unrealised foreign exchange gains  6 905  139 
 183 332  190 184  190 167  183 315 

 
The deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities 
relate to income tax in the same jurisdiction, and 
the law allows net settlement.

Unused tax losses not recognised as deferred tax 
assets as a result of uncertainty with regard to the 
recoverability thereof amount to N$68.9 million 
(2019: N$68.6 million) in Group companies.  
These losses can be carried forward indefinitely.

132 NAMIBIA BREWERIES LIMITED 



About 
this report

Chairperson’s
statement

Our
profile

Our context 
and strategy

Managing Director’s 
report

Material matters
and the SDGs

Governance 
report

Annual financial 
statements

NOTES TO THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

for the year ended 30 June 2020

COMPANY GROUP 

2019
 N$’000 

2020
 N$’000 

2020
 N$’000 

2019
 N$’000 

17. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES
 274 379  89 468 Trade and other payables  89 792  274 340 

 10 781  16 657 Payables to Group companies (note 27.1)  16 657  10 781 
 1 196  1 512 Payables to other related parties (note 27.2)  1 512  1 196 

 75 020  61 831 Excise duties  61 831  75 020 
 126 116  75 205 Accruals  75 851  128 525 

 37 283  47 440 Returnable packaging deposits  48 276  38 229 
 524 775  292 113  293 919  528 091 

Terms and conditions of the above financial 
liabilities:
For terms and conditions of balances owing  
to related parties refer to note 27.

Trade and other payables comprise amounts 
outstanding for trade purchases and ongoing 
costs. The Directors consider the carrying amount 
of trade and other payables approximates their 
fair value.

Trade payables are non-interest-bearing and are 
normally settled on 30-60 day terms.

Accruals relate to leave, medical, bonus, electricity 
and management fee accruals among others.
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NOTES TO THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

for the year ended 30 June 2020

COMPANY GROUP 

2019
 N$’000 

2020
 N$’000 

2020
 N$’000 

2019
 N$’000 

18. REVENUE
 3 986 175  3 397 080 Sale of goods  3 397 080  3 986 175 
 (869 970)  (746 644) Excise duties  (746 644)  (869 970)
 (138 238)  (107 979) Discounts allowed  (107 979)  (138 423)
 119 801  103 375 Royalties and know-how fees  103 375  119 801 

 3 097 768  2 645 832 Total revenue from contracts with customers  2 645 832  3 097 583 

As per the nature of the Group’s operations the 
timing of all revenue recognition takes place at a 
point of time.

Refer to note 31 for the disaggregated disclosure 
on revenue.

The amount included in revenue arising from  
sales to countries outside Namibia amounts to  
N$788 million (2019: N$984 million), net of 
excise duties.

Restatement of comparatives
The Group now presents the excise duties on a 
separate line below the IFRS 15 revenue (after 
discounts) in the consolidated and Company 
statement of profit and loss and other 
comprehensive income. A new subtotal called 
‘Net revenue’ is added. This ‘Net revenue’ subtotal 
is ‘revenue’ as defined in IFRS 15 (after discounts) 
less the excise duties borne by the Group. In the 
prior year, the IFRS 15 revenue was shown net of 
the excise duties. This is not in-line with the IFRS 15 
standard and therefore was an error. The error 
however has no effect on the prior year net profit 
figures with the exception of the separation 
between the excise duties from IFRS 15 revenue.

The restatement also impacted the disclosure and 
allocation relating to cash receipts from customers 
and cash paid to suppliers and employees on the 
statement of cash flows.
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NOTES TO THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

for the year ended 30 June 2020

COMPANY GROUP 

2019
 N$’000 

2020
 N$’000 

2020
 N$’000 

2019
 N$’000 

19. OPERATING EXPENSES
Costs by nature

 1 165 187  975 409 Raw material and consumables 975 409  1 165 187 
 398 756  346 383 Employment costs 346 383  402 553 
 482 270  480 855 Administration and marketing expenses 481 230  486 045 
 182 170  161 903 Railage and transport 161 903  182 170 
 44 297  57 967 Repairs and maintenance 57 966  44 297 

 171 565  167 947 Depreciation, amortisation and impairments 169 698  165 420 
 2 444 245  2 190 464  2 192 589  2 445 672 

20. OPERATING PROFIT
is stated after taking account of:

Income
 56  – Rent received  –  56 

 2 904 36 800 Realised profit on foreign exchange transactions 36 800  2 904 
 265  9 333 Unrealised gains on foreign exchange contracts  9 333  265 

Expenses
Audit fees

 1 983  2 303 – for statutory audit  2 303  1 983 
 821  1 314 – for other services  1 552  1 035 

 159 737  144 416 Depreciation on property, plant and equipment  144 796  160 119 
 –  19 298 Depreciation on right-of-use assets  19 298  – 

 5 300  4 520 Amortisation – intangible asset  4 520  5 300 

 (299)  (1 974)
Net profit on disposal of property, plant and 
equipment  (1 974)  (299)

 10 617  7 173 Directors emoluments (Annexure D)  7 173  10 617 
 53 432  61 097 Management and shared services fees  61 097  53 432 
 1 131  929 Royalties  1 627  1 307 

Operating lease payments
 7 147  2 677 – land and buildings  2 677  7 164 
 3 066  3 129 – motor vehicles  3 129  3 066 

 (3 296)  19 348 
Movement in the provision for impairment  
of inventories  19 348  (3 296)

 (945)  4 801 
Movement in the provision for impairment  
of trade receivables  4 801  (945)

 6 528 (1 371) Impairment of loans to subsidiaries  –  – 

21. FINANCE COSTS
 34 316  40 007 Interest-bearing loans  40 007  34 316 
 5 933  8 210 Lease liabilities  8 210  5 933 
 2 180  2 275 Post-employment benefits  2 275  2 180 

 26  53 Other interest  53  26 
 42 455  50 545 Total finance costs  50 545  42 455 
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NOTES TO THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

for the year ended 30 June 2020

COMPANY GROUP 

2019
 N$’000 

2020
 N$’000 

2020
 N$’000 

2019
 N$’000 

22. FINANCE INCOME
 17 451  9 845 Interest – bank and funds on call  10 619  17 558 
 6 762  6 370  – associates  6 370  6 762 
 1 986  –  – tax receivable balance  –  1 986 

 301  603 
 –  holding company, Group companies  

and other related parties  603  301 
 26 500  16 818 Total finance income  17 592  26 607 

23. INCOME TAX EXPENSE
The major components of income tax expense for 
the years ended 30 June 2020 and 2019 are:

 (148 424)  (79 735) Namibian taxation  (79 735)  (148 424)
 (7 031)  (2 525) South African taxation  (2 525)  (7 062)

 (155 455)  (82 260) Total income tax expense  (82 260)  (155 486)

Comprising
Normal taxation 

 (159 776) (74 862) – current period: Namibian (74 862)  (159 776)
 –  725 – prior period: Namibian  725  – 

 5 625  8 292 – prior period: South African  8 292  5 625 
Withholding tax

 (12 656)  (10 817) – current period: South African  (10 817)  (12 687)
Deferred taxation 

 11 352 (5 598) – current period: Namibian (5 598)  11 352 
 (155 455)  (82 260) Income tax expense  (82 260)  (155 486)

No provision for normal taxation has been made 
for certain subsidiaries which have estimated tax 
losses of N$68.9 million (2019: N$68.6 million). 
No deferred tax asset has been recognised for 
these calculated tax losses as it is uncertain that 
future taxable profits will be available against 
which the associated unused tax losses can 
be utilised.

 –  – 
Estimated tax losses available for set-off against 
future taxable income  68 857  68 642 

 –  – 
Less: Applied to offset any deferred taxation 
liability  –  – 

 –  –  68 857  68 642 
 –  – Utilised to create deferred tax asset  –  – 
 –  – Available to reduce future taxable income  68 857  68 642 
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NOTES TO THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

for the year ended 30 June 2020

COMPANY GROUP 

2019
 % 

2020
 % 

2020
 % 

2019
 % 

23. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (continued)
Reconciliation of effective tax rate

32.0 32.0 Namibian normal tax rate 32.0 32.0

(Reduction)/increase in rate of taxation
(2.4) (7.40) – manufacturing allowances (7.5) (2.4)
0.0 0.00 – decrease in tax rate 0.0 0.0
0.8 1.50 – disallowable expenditure 1.5 0.8

(2.4) (6.60)
–  effect of rate differential between tax 

jurisdictions (6.6) (2.4)
(13.2) 7.10 – equity accounted losses/(profits) 7.1 (13.2)

(0.5) (2.70) – adjustments relating to prior periods (2.7) (0.5)
 –  – – unrecognised tax losses  0.1  – 

14.3 23.9 Effective rate of taxation 23.9 14.3

24. BASIC AND HEADLINE EARNINGS PER  
ORDINARY SHARE 
Basic earnings per share amounts are calculated 
by dividing profit for the year attributable to 
ordinary equity holders of the parent by the 
weighted average number of ordinary shares 
outstanding during the year.

Calculation of weighted average number of shares 
for basic earnings per share and dilutive earnings 
per share:

 N$’000  N$’000  N$’000  N$’000 

206 529 206 529 Shares issued at the beginning of the year 206 529 206 529 

 –  – 
Shares issued during the year to ordinary 
shareholders  –  – 

206 529 206 529 Weighted average number of shares 206 529 206 529 

Profit attributable to ordinary shareholders 261 327 931 119 
Non-headline earnings items included in equity 
accounted earnings of associated companies  –  (26)
Net (gain)/loss on the sale of property, plant  
and equipment  (1 974)  (299)
Headline earnings 259 353 930 794 

24.1 Basic earnings per ordinary share (cents)*
Profit attributable to ordinary shareholders  261 327  931 119 
Weighted number of shares in issue (000s) 206 529  206 529 
Basic earnings per ordinary share (cents)* 126.5 450.8

*  There is no difference between basic and diluted  
earnings per share.
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NOTES TO THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

for the year ended 30 June 2020

COMPANY GROUP 

2019
 N$’000 

2020
 N$’000 

2020
 N$’000 

2019
 N$’000 

24. BASIC AND HEADLINE EARNINGS PER  
ORDINARY SHARE (continued)

24.2 Headline earnings per ordinary share (cents)
Headline earnings  259 353  930 794 
Weighted average number of shares in  
issue (000s)  206 529  206 529 
Headline earnings per ordinary share (cents) 125.6 450.7

*  There is no difference between basic and diluted  
earnings per share.

25. DIVIDENDS PAID AND PROPOSED
In respect of the 2020 financial year

 –  109 460 – interim (53 cents per share, paid 8 May 2020)  109 460  – 
 –  – – final (53 cents per share, proposed)  –  – 

In respect of the 2019 financial year
 103 265  – – interim (50 cents per share, paid 17 May 2019)  –  103 265 

 –  103 265 – final (50 cents per share, paid 8 November 2019)  103 265  – 

 –  250 003 
–  special (N$250 000 000 in total, paid  

8 November 2019)  250 003  – 

In respect of the 2018 financial year
 –  – – interim (46 cents per share, paid 11 May 2018)  –  – 

 95 002  – – final (46 cents per share, paid 9 November 2018)  –  95 002 

 400 007  – 
–  special (N$400 000 000 in total, paid  

9 November 2018)  –  400 007 
 598 274  462 728 Dividends paid to equity holders  462 728  598 274 

Dividend paid per ordinary share
46.0 50.0 Final dividend (cents) 50.0 46.0

193.7 121.1 Special dividend (cents) 121.1 193.7
50.0 53.0 Interim dividend (cents) 53.0 50.0

289.7 224.1 224.1 289.7

Proposed dividend

 353 265 109 460

On 9 September 2020 the Directors declared a 
final dividend of 53 cents (4 September 2019:  
50 cents) per ordinary share and no special 
dividend (2019: N$250 million). This dividend  
will be paid on 13 November 2020. 109 460  353 265
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NOTES TO THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

for the year ended 30 June 2020

COMPANY GROUP 

2019
 N$’000 

2020
 N$’000 

2020
 N$’000 

2019
 N$’000 

26. NOTES TO THE STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
26.1 Cash generated by operations

 1 088 110  344 938 Profit before income tax  343 587  1 086 605 

Adjustments for:
 159 737  144 416 Depreciation on property, plant and equipment  144 796  160 119 

 –  19 298 Depreciation on right-of-use assets  19 298  – 
 5 300  4 520 Amortisation  4 520  5 300 

 (299)  (1 974)
(Gain)/Loss on disposal of property, plant  
and equipment  (1 974)  (299)

 –  – Net impairment (reversals)/losses  –  – 

 1 211  (9 068)
Unrealised (gains)/losses on foreign  
exchange contract  (9 068)  1 211 

 1 971 5 294
Actuarial gain on retirement benefit assets  
and liabilities 5 294  2 293 

 1 045  (2 342) Increase/(decrease) in provisions  (2 342)  723 
 (450 542)  76 703 Equity (profit)/loss from associate  76 703  (450 542)

 6 528  (1 371) Impairment on subsidiary loans  –  – 
 –  100 Other impairments  100  – 

 (1 207)  – IFRS 15 adjustment  –  (1 207)
 –  – FCTR movement  (445)  (6)

 (26 500)  (16 818) Finance income  (17 592)  (26 607)
 42 455  50 545 Finance costs  50 545  42 455 

 827 809 614 241 Operating profit before working capital changes 613 422  820 046 

 (129 866) (84 716) Working capital changes (83 246)  (129 038)
 (54 487)  (1 247) Increase in inventories  (1 247)  (54 487)

 (134 975)  149 195 Increase in trade and other receivables  152 173  (134 401)
 59 596 (232 664) Increase in trade and other payables (234 172)  59 850 

 697 943 529 524 Cash generated by operations 530 175  691 008 

26.2 Income tax paid
 33 218  38 914 Balance at the beginning of the year  39 240  33 544 

 (166 807) (76 662) Current tax charge (76 662)  (166 838)
 336  – Tax on other comprehensive income  –  336 

 (38 914)  (3 996) Balance at the end of the year  (4 321)  (39 240)
 (172 167) (41 744) Income tax paid during the year (41 743)  (172 198)
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NOTES TO THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

for the year ended 30 June 2020

COMPANY GROUP 

2019
 N$’000 

2020
 N$’000 

2020
 N$’000 

2019
 N$’000 

27. RELATED PARTIES
The immediate holding company of Namibia 
Breweries Limited is NBL Investment Holdings 
(Proprietary) Limited of which the shareholding 
is held by Ohlthaver & List Finance and Trading 
Corporation Limited and Heineken International 
B.V. The Company’s ultimate holding Company is 
List Trust Company (Proprietary) Limited.

Namibia Breweries Limited forms part of the 
Ohlthaver & List Group of companies and thus 
all companies in the Ohlthaver & List Group 
of companies are related parties of Namibia 
Breweries Limited and its subsidiaries.

During the year the Company and the Group, 
in the ordinary course of business, entered into 
various sales, purchases and loan transactions 
with Group companies and its holding company. 

The following table provides the total amount of 
transactions, which have been entered into with 
related parties for the relevant financial year. For 
information regarding outstanding balances at 
30 June 2020 and 2019, refer to notes 7, 8, 10, 
14 and 17.

27.1 Group companies
Current assets (note 10)

 16  2 Chobe Water Villas (Proprietary) Limited  2  16 
 6  17 Hangana Seafood (Proprietary) Limited  17  6 
 –  20 Hartlief Corporation Limited  20  – 

 262  231 Namibia Dairies (Proprietary) Limited  231  262 
 1 107  1 961 O&L Leisure (Proprietary) Limited  1 961  1 107 

 –  16 O&L SA Proprietary Limited  16 
 5 203  5 200 Organic Energy Solutions (Proprietary) Limited  5 200  5 203 

 –  6 
W.U.M. Properties (Proprietary) Limited  
t/a Model Pick n Pay  6  – 

 384  403 
W.U.M. Properties (Proprietary) Limited  
t/a O&L Properties Division  403  384 

 6 978  7 856  7 856  6 978 

Subsidiaries 
 3 664  4 369 Flycatcher (Proprietary) Limited  –  – 
 3 664  4 369  –  – 

 10 642  12 225  7 856  6 978 
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NOTES TO THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

for the year ended 30 June 2020

COMPANY GROUP 

2019
 N$’000 

2020
 N$’000 

2020
 N$’000 

2019
 N$’000 

27. RELATED PARTIES (continued)
27.1 Group companies (continued)

Revenue
Sales to during the year

 –  304 Broll (Proprietary) Limited  304  – 
 18  69 Chobe Water Villas (Proprietary) Limited  69  18 
 49  49 Hangana Seafood (Proprietary) Limited  49  49 

 –  139 Hartlief Corporation Limited  139  – 
 6  – Kraatz Marine (Proprietary) Limited  –  6 

 3 832  3 395 Namibia Dairies (Proprietary) Limited  3 395  3 832 
 14  – O&L Energy (Proprietary) Limited  –  14 

 3 450  2 859 O&L Leisure (Proprietary) Limited  2 859  3 450 
 47  251 Ohlthaver & List Centre (Proprietary) Limited  251  47 

 114  309 Organic Energy Solutions (Proprietary) Limited  309  114 

 14  402 
W.U.M. Properties (Proprietary) Limited  
t/a Model Pick n Pay  402  14 

 32  8 
Weatherman & Co Advertising  
(Proprietary) Limited  8  32 

 7 576  7 785  7 785  7 576 

 7 576  7 785 Total Revenue from Group companies  7 785  7 576 

Current liabilities (note 17)
 449  590 ICT Holdings (Proprietary) Limited  590  449 

 7  9 Namibia Dairies (Proprietary) Limited  9  7 
 245  – O&L Leisure (Proprietary) Limited  –  245 

 –  18 O&L South Africa Proprietary Limited  18  – 
 6 297  14 048 Ohlthaver & List Centre (Proprietary) Limited  14 048  6 297 

 914  953 Organic Energy Solutions (Proprietary) Limited  953  914 
 5  – Utterly Social Media (Proprietary) Limited  –  5 

 31  1 
W.U.M. Properties (Proprietary) Limited t/a Model 
Pick n Pay  1  31 

 2 833  1 038 
Weathermen & Co Advertising (Proprietary) 
Limited  1 038  2 833 

 10 781  16 657  16 657  10 781 

Subsidiaries 
 1 381 1 212 Northgate Properties (Proprietary) Limited  –  – 
 1 381 1 212  –  – 

 12 162 17 869  16 657  10 781 
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NOTES TO THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

for the year ended 30 June 2020

COMPANY GROUP 

2019
 N$’000 

2020
 N$’000 

2020
 N$’000 

2019
 N$’000 

27. RELATED PARTIES (continued)
27.1 Group companies (continued)

Purchases from during the year
 332  – Chobe Water Villas (Proprietary) Limited  – 332 

 –  152 Hartlief Corporation Limited  152 –
 4 412  6 251 ICT Holdings (Proprietary) Limited  6 251  4 412 

 60  92 Kraatz Marine (Proprietary) Limited  92  60 
 48  59 Namibia Dairies (Proprietary) Limited  59  48 

 1 290  1 311 O&L Leisure (Proprietary) Limited  1 311  1 290 
 8 930  8 983 Organic Energy Solutions (Proprietary) Limited  8 983  8 930 

 158  – Utterly Social Media (Proprietary) Limited  –  158 

 399  764 
W.U.M. Properties (Proprietary) Limited  
t/a Model Pick n Pay  764  399 

 17 202  15 303 
Weatherman & Co Advertising  
(Proprietary) Limited  15 303  17 202 

 32 831  32 915  32 915  32 831 

Rent paid
 403  205 Wernhil Park (Proprietary) Limited  205  403 

 3 126  3 345 
W.U.M. Properties (Proprietary) Limited  
t/a O&L Property Division  3 345  3 126 

 3 529  3 550  3 550  3 529 

Interest received
 –  49 ICT Holdings (Proprietary) Limited 49  – 

 301  537 Ohlthaver & List Centre (Proprietary) Limited 537  301 

 –  17 
Weatherman & Co Advertising  
(Proprietary) Limited 17  – 

 301  603  603  301 

Management and shared service fees paid
 683  – O&L South Africa Proprietary Limited  –  683 

 48 227  56 191 Ohlthaver & List Centre (Proprietary) Limited  56 191  48 227 
 48 910  56 191  56 191  48 910 

Directors fees
 410  601 Ohlthaver & List Centre (Proprietary) Limited  601  410 

For Directors’ emoluments refer to Annexure D.
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for the year ended 30 June 2020

COMPANY GROUP 

2019
 N$’000 

2020
 N$’000 

2020
 N$’000 

2019
 N$’000 

27. RELATED PARTIES (continued)
27.2 Other related parties

Current assets (note 10)
 23  48 Dimension Data (Proprietary) Limited  48  23 

 156 791  43 190 Heineken South Africa Proprietary Limited  43 190  156 791 

 2 556  1 341 
Heineken South Africa Exports Company 
Proprietary Limited  1 341  2 556 

 159 370  44 579  44 579  159 370 

Current liabilities (note 17)
 1 196  1 512 Dimension Data (Proprietary) Limited  1 512  1 196 

Management fees paid
 4 522  4 906 Heineken International B.V.  4 906  4 522 

Royalties received

 4 816  3 791 
Heineken South Africa Exports Company 
Proprietary Limited  3 791  4 816 

 105 656  91 311 Heineken South Africa Proprietary Limited  91 311  105 656 
 110 472  95 102  95 102  110 472 

Know-how fees received
 9 330  8 273 Heineken South Africa Proprietary Limited  8 273  9 330 

Sales
 250  250 Dimension Data (Proprietary) Limited  250  250 

 10 575 –
Heineken South Africa Export Company 
Proprietary Limited  –  10 575 

 1 283 948  936 002 Heineken South Africa Proprietary Limited  936 002  1 283 948 
 1 294 773  936 252  936 252  1 294 773 

Interest received
 6 762  6 370 Heineken South Africa Proprietary Limited  6 370  6 762 

Interest paid
 25  1 Dimension Data (Proprietary) Limited  1  25 

Royalties paid
 1 131  929 Heineken International B.V.  929  1 131 

Purchases during the year
 12 235  12 261 Dimension Data (Proprietary) Limited  12 261  12 235 

Directors fees
 337  360 Heineken International B.V.  360  337 

Legal fees
 1 248  1 449 Engling, Stritter & Partners  1 449  1 248 
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for the year ended 30 June 2020

COMPANY GROUP 

2019
%

2020
%

2020
%

2019
%

27. RELATED PARTIES (continued)
27.2 Other related parties (continued)

Subsidiaries
Details of the subsidiaries are disclosed in 
Annexure C.

Retirement benefit information and  
post-employment medical aid benefit plan
Details of the above are disclosed in note 15.

Terms and conditions of transactions with 
related parties
The sales to and purchases from related parties 
are made at normal market prices. Outstanding 
balances at year end are unsecured, on 30–90 day 
terms, interest free and settlement occurs in cash.

For the year ended 30 June 2020, the Company 
reversed an impaired amount of N$1.4 million 
(2019: raised N$6.5 million) with respect to a 
loan advanced to a subsidiary. Also refer to 
Annexure C.

Directors interest
At the financial year end the Directors were 
directly and indirectly interested in the Company’s 
issued shares as follows:

% %

Ordinary shares 
Directly 0.09 0.11

No individual Directors has a direct shareholding 
in excess of 1% of the issued shares of the 
Company.

The Company has not been informed of any 
material changes in these holdings to the date of 
this report.
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for the year ended 30 June 2020

COMPANY GROUP 

2019
 N$’000 

2020
 N$’000 

2020
 N$’000 

2019
 N$’000 

28. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES
Authorised

 51 737  26 710 Contracted for  26 710  51 737 
 207 696  137 969 Not contracted for  137 969  207 696 
 259 433  164 679  164 679  259 433 

These capital commitments are for the expansion, 
replacement and improvement of property plant 
and equipment.

This proposed capital expenditure is to be 
financed by own funds, and are expected to be 
settled within the following year.

 6 000  6 000 Guarantees and suretyship  6 000  6 000 

The suretyships are issued by First Rand Bank 
Limited in favour of the Namibian Ministry of 
Finance.

Finance lease liabilities
The Group has entered into finance leases on 
certain motor vehicles. These leases have fixed 
terms of repayments and purchase options. Lease 
payments are linked to prime variable interest 
rates. The loans are secured by the vehicles 
as disclosed in note 6. Future minimum lease 
payments under finance leases together with the 
present value of the net minimum lease payments 
are as follows: 

Minimum lease payments 
Motor vehicles

 20 844  22 261 Within one year  22 261  20 844 
 26 687  25 215 After one year but not more than five years  25 215  26 687 
 47 531  47 476 Total minimum lease payments  47 476  47 531 

 (11 322)  (11 149) Less amounts representing finance charges  (11 149)  (11 322)
 36 209  36 327 Principal minimum lease payments  36 327  36 209 

  
Minimum lease payments 
Property leases

 2 098  3 945 Within one year  3 945  2 098 
 1 737  1 941 After one year but not more than five years  1 941  1 737 
 3 835 5 886 Total minimum lease payments  5 886  3 835 

 –  (518) Less amounts representing finance charges  (518)  – 
 3 835  5 368 Total minimum lease payments  5 368  3 835 
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NOTES TO THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

for the year ended 30 June 2020

28. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES (continued)
Barley project
In 2015 the Company concluded a tripartite agreement with the Ministry of Agriculture, Water and 
Forestry, as well as the Agricultural Business Development Agency (AgriBusDev). The barley project 
started with 370 hectares under irrigation, predominantly in the Kavango region. NBL has committed 
to buy all the barley harvested, with a 10-year target of planting and cultivating 12 000 hectares.

29. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES
The Group’s principle financial instruments, other than derivatives, comprise bank loans, loans to and 
from holding company and Group companies, leases and cash and short term deposits. The main 
purpose of these financial instruments is to raise finance for the Group’s operations. The Group has 
various other financial assets and liabilities such as trade receivables and trade payables, which arise 
directly from its operations.

The Group also enters into derivative transactions such as forward exchange contracts. The reason for 
this is to manage the currency risk from the Group’s operations. As a matter of principle, the Group 
does not enter into derivative contracts for speculative purposes.

The fair value of foreign exchange forward contracts represents the estimated amounts that the 
Company would receive, should the contracts be terminated at the reporting date, thereby taking into 
account the unrealised gains or losses.

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments are interest rate risk, liquidity risk, foreign 
currency risk and credit risk. Management reviews and agrees policies for managing each of these risks.

29.1 Foreign currency risk
The Group has transactional currency exposures. Such exposures arise from purchases of raw materials 
and sales of the Group’s products in a currency other than the Group’s functional currency. 

The Group appropriately hedges foreign purchases in order to manage its foreign currency exposure. 
The Group does not apply hedge accounting. Forward exchange contracts are entered into in order 
to manage the Group’s exposure to fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates on foreign 
transactions. Refer note 30.2 for unutilised forward exchange contracts and uncovered foreign trade 
receivables and payables at year end.

29.2 Interest rate risk
The Group is exposed to interest rate risk as it borrows and places funds at floating interest rates. The 
risk is managed by maintaining an appropriate mix between fixed and floating borrowings and placings 
within market expectations. 

Refer to Annexure A and note 29.3 for further detail on interest rates.

29.3 Credit risk
Financial assets which potentially subject the Group to a concentration of credit risk consist principally 
of cash, funds on call and trade receivables. The Group’s cash equivalents and funds on call are placed 
with high credit quality financial institutions. Trade and other receivables are stated at amortised cost. 
The Group’s single largest customer during the year was Heineken South Africa Proprietary Limited. 
The Group has no significant concentration of credit risk or significant exposure to any individual 
customer or counterparty.

The Group’s exposure to credit risk arises from default of the counterparty, with a maximum exposure 
equal to the carrying amount of these instruments. In respect of possible default by a counterparty, 
the Group holds collateral as security in the amount of N$ Nil (2019: Nil). Refer to the accounting 
policies for a more detailed description of the credit risk.
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for the year ended 30 June 2020

COMPANY GROUP 

2019
 N$’000 

2020
 N$’000 

2020
 N$’000 

2019
 N$’000 

29. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 
AND POLICIES (continued)

29.3 Credit risk (continued)
The granting of credit is made on application 
and is approved by management. At year end 
the Company did not consider there to be 
any significant concentration of credit risk or 
significant exposure to any individual customer 
or counter party which has not been adequately 
provided for.

Financial assets exposed to credit risk at year 
end were as follows:

 187 890  242 626 Cash and cash equivalents  247 557  192 603 
 73 625  73 625 Loan to associate  73 625  73 625 

 170 012  56 804 Receivables due from related parties  52 435  166 348 
 232 669  188 959 Trade and other receivables  188 686  232 794 

Major concentrations of credit risk that arise from 
the Group’s receivables in relation to the industry 
categories and location of the customers by the 
percentage of total receivables from customers are:

Trading industry  %  % 

Namibia 62.10 47.90
South Africa 14.90 37.90
Other export markets 23.00 14.20

100.00 100.00

29.4 Liquidity risk
The Group manages liquidity risk by monitoring 
forecast cash flows and ensuring that adequate 
unutilised borrowing facilities are maintained. 
Refer to Annexure A.

Borrowing capacity is determined by the Directors 
of the Company. The Directors consider a ratio 
of not higher than 75% of shareholders’ equity as 
conservative.

 N$’000  N$’000  N$’000  N$’000

 1 464 469  1 316 282 75% of shareholder’s equity  1 316 921  1 466 456 
 (400 090)  (647 908) Less total interest-bearing borrowings  (646 696)  (398 709)

 1 064 379  668 374 Unutilised borrowing capacity  670 225  1 067 747 
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COMPANY GROUP 

2019
 N$’000 

2020
 N$’000 

2020
 N$’000 

2019
 N$’000 

29. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 
AND POLICIES (continued)

29.5 Capital risk management
The Company and Group manage their capital to 
ensure that entities in the Group will be able to 
continue as a going concern while maximising the 
return to stakeholders through the optimisation of 
the debt and equity balance. The Company’s and 
Group’s overall strategy remains unchanged from 
the prior year.

The capital structure of the Company and Group 
consists of debt, which includes the borrowings 
disclosed in note 14, cash and cash equivalents 
and equity attributable to equity holders of the 
parent, comprising issued capital reserves and 
retained earnings.

Gearing ratio
The Company’s and Group’s Risk Management 
Committee reviews the capital structure on a 
semi-annual basis. Consistent with others in the 
industry, the Group monitors capital on the basis 
of the gearing ratio. This ratio is calculated as  
net debt divided by total capital. Net debt is 
calculated as total borrowings less cash and cash 
equivalents. Total capital is calculated as ‘equity’ 
as shown in the consolidated and separate 
statement of financial position plus net debt.

The gearing ratio at the year end was as follows:
 400 090  647 908 Debt (i)  646 696  398 709 

 (187 890)  (242 626) Less: Cash and cash equivalents  (247 557)  (192 603)
 212 200  405 282 Net debt  399 139  206 106 

 1 952 626  1 755 043 Equity (ii)  1 755 895  1 955 274 

11% 23% Net debt to equity ratio 23% 11%

(i)  Debt is defined as long– and short-term 
interest-bearing borrowings.

(ii)  Equity includes all capital and reserves of  
the Company.
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2019
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30. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
30.1 Fair values

The fair value of all financial instruments are 
substantially identical to the carrying amounts 
reflected in the balance sheet.

Fair value hierarchy
The table below analyses assets and liabilities 
carried at fair value. The different levels are 
defined as follows:

Level 1: Quoted unadjusted prices in active 
markets for identical assets or liabilities that 
the Group can access at measurement date.
Level 2: Inputs other than quoted prices  
included in level 1 that are observable for the 
asset or liability either directly or indirectly.
Level 3: Unobservable inputs for the asset or 
liability.

Level 2
Assets
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

 265  9 333 Forward foreign exchange asset  9 333  265 

Transfers of assets and liabilities within levels  
of fair value hierarchy
There are no transfers between level 1 and level 2 
for the year ended 30 June 2020 and for the year 
ended 30 June 2019.
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NOTES TO THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

for the year ended 30 June 2020

30. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
30.2 Hedging activities and foreign currency risk

Forward exchange contracts are entered into with banks but are not designated as hedges for 
specific purchases. If contract rates are more favourable than the spot rate, on the date of payment of 
foreign creditors, they will be used. The maturity date represents the date when the contract must be 
exercised if it is not exercised before this date. The following table summarises by major currency the 
unutilised forward exchange contracts and amounts to be paid/received in foreign currency, for the 
Group and Company:

MATURITY
 DATE

FOREIGN  
AMOUNT

 AVERAGE  
RATE 

NAMIBIA DOLLAR 
AMOUNT 

2020
 ’000 

2019
’000 2020 2019 

2020
 N$’000 

2019
 N$’000 

Forward exchange 
contracts:
Bought:
Euro 1–12 months 4 936 1 087  17.72  15.98  87 447  17 370 
USD 1–12 months 3 005  – 17.63  –  52 989  – 

Foreign trade receivables:
US Dollar 2 736 1 356 17.27 14.04  47 251 19 038 
Euro 10 10 19.42 15.96  194 160 
Pound Sterling  – 19 21.28 17.82  – 339 
Botswana Pula 3 074 3 074 1.45 1.30  4 457 3 996 

51 902 23 533 

Foreign trade payables:
Euro 117 1 916 19.42 15.96 2 272 30 579 

Foreign currency sensitivity analysis
The Group is primarily exposed to the currency of the European Central Bank (Euro) and secondly to 
currency of the United States of America (US Dollar).

The following table details the Company’s sensitivity to a 10% increase and decrease in the Namibia 
Dollar (N$) against the relevant foreign currencies. 10% is the sensitivity rate used when reporting 
foreign currency risk internally to key management personnel an represents management’s 
assessment of the reasonably possible change in foreign exchange rates.

Below, a positive number indicates an increase in profit, a negative number indicates a decrease 
in profit based on the Namibia Dollar strengthening 10% against the relevant currency. For a 10% 
weakening of the Namibia Dollar against the relevant currency, there would be an equal and opposite 
impact on the profit.
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for the year ended 30 June 2020

COMPANY GROUP 

2019
 N$’000 

2020
 N$’000 

2020
 N$’000 

2019
 N$’000 

30. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
30.2 Hedging activities and foreign currency risk 

(continued)
Effect on profit before taxation

 (3 042)  (208) Euro  (208)  (3 042)
 34  – Pound Sterling  –  34 

 1 904  4 725 US Dollar  4 725  1 904 
 (1 104)  4 517  4 517  (1 104)

30.3 Maturity profile
The following tables detail the Group and Company’s remaining contractual maturity for its financial 
liabilities and assets. The tables have been drawn up based on the undiscounted cash flows based on 
the earliest date on which the Group and Company can be required/anticipate to incur and outflow/
inflow. The table includes both interest and principal cash flows.

2020 – Group

Effective 
interest 

rate
1 year 

N$’000
2 years 
N$’000

3–5 years 
N$’000

5 years + 
N$’000

Total 
N$’000

Financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents 7.35% 247 557  –  –  –  247 557 
Derivative financial 
instruments 0.00% 9 333  –  –  –  9 333 
Loans to associates SA Prime 73 625  –  –  –  73 625 
Trade and other receivables 0.00% 255 624  –  –  – 255 624

586 139  –  –  – 586 139

Financial liabilities

Interest-bearing borrowings
Ref. 

Anex. A 158 479 40 790 493 216  –  692 485 
Trade and other payables 0.00% 156 237  –  –  –  156 237 

314 716 40 790 493 216  –  848 722 
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NOTES TO THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

for the year ended 30 June 2020

30. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
30.3 Maturity profile (continued)

2019 – Group

Effective 
interest 

rate
1 year 

N$’000
2 years 
N$’000

3–5 years 
N$’000

5 years + 
N$’000

Total 
N$’000

Financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents 7.35% 192 603  –  –  –  192 603 
Derivative financial 
instruments 0.00% 265  –  –  –  265 

Loans to associates
JIBAR 
+2.0% 73 625  –  –  –  73 625 

Trade and other receivables 0.00% 442 504  –  –  – 442 504
708 997  –  –  – 708 997

Financial liabilities

Interest-bearing borrowings
Ref. 

Anex. A 240 757 181 262 10 771  –  432 790 
Trade and other payables 0.00% 324 546  –  –  –  324 546 

565 303 181 262 10 771  –  757 336 

2020 – Company

Effective 
interest 

rate
1 year 

N$’000
2 years 
N$’000

3–5 years 
N$’000

5 years + 
N$’000

Total 
N$’000

Financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents 7.35% 242 626 – – – 242 626 
Loans to associate SA Prime 73 625 – – – 73 625 
Trade and other receivables 0.00% 260 266 – – – 260 266
Derivative financial 
instruments 0.00% 9 333 – – – 9 333 

585 850 – – – 585 850

Financial liabilities

Interest-bearing borrowings
Ref. 

Anex. A 158 479 40 790 493 216 – 692 485 
Trade and other payables 0.00% 155 077 – – – 155 077 

313 556 40 790 493 216 – 847 562
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NOTES TO THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

for the year ended 30 June 2020

30. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
30.3 Maturity profile (continued)

2019 – Company

Effective 
interest 

rate
1 year 

N$’000
2 years 
N$’000

3–5 years 
N$’000

5 years + 
N$’000

Total 
N$’000

Financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents 7.35% 187 890 – – –  187 890 
Loans to associate JIBAR

 +2.0% 73 625 – – –  73 625 
Trade and other receivables 0.00% 443 542 – – –  443 542 
Derivative financial 
instruments 0.00% 265 – – –  265 

705 322 – – – 705 322

Financial liabilities

Interest-bearing borrowings
Ref. 

Anex. A 242 138 181 262 10 771 –  434 171 
Trade and other payables 0.00% 323 639 – – –  323 639 

565 777 181 262 10 771 – 757 810

COMPANY GROUP 

2019
 N$’000 

2020
 N$’000 

2020
 N$’000 

2019
 N$’000 

30.4 Carrying value of financial instruments  
on the statement of financial position
Financial assets
Derivative instruments at fair value through  
profit or loss

 265  9 333 – Forward foreign exchange contracts (note 12)  1 477  265 
Loans and receivables

 73 625  73 625 – Loans to associates (note 8)  73 625  73 625 
 443 542 260 266 – Trade and other receivables (note 10) 255 624  442 504 
 187 890  242 626 – Cash and cash equivalents (note 11)  247 557  192 603 
 705 057 576 517 576 806  708 732 

Financial liabilities
Amortised cost

 323 639 155 077 – Trade and other payables (note 17) 156 237  324 546 
 434 171   647 908 – Interest-bearing loans and borrowings (note 14) 646 696  432 790 
 757 810   802 985     802 933  757 336 

Fair values of financial instruments that are the 
same as the carrying amounts are detailed in  
note 30.1.
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NOTES TO THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

for the year ended 30 June 2020

31.	 SEGMENT REPORTING
Segment Information
Segments are reported in a manner consistent with internal reporting. The Group sells various types of 
beverages which are Beer, Ciders and Softs. These reflect the operating segments for the Group. Beer, 
which meets the quantitative threshold of 10% of sales, EBIT and assets, is presented on a standalone 
basis, as a reportable segment. All corporate assets are disclosed for the Group as a whole and not 
necessarily for a particular operating segment. In order to ensure that the total of segment results 
and assets agree to the amounts reported for the Group in terms of IFRS, the operations that do not 
qualify as separate segments are reported in the “Other” column.

Information about these segments are presented below:

BEER OTHER TOTAL

2020
 N$’000 

2019
 N$’000 

2020
 N$’000 

2019
 N$’000 

2020
 N$’000 

2019
 N$’000 

Total net sales revenue  2 415 026  2 725 856  127 431  251 926  2 542 457  2 977 782 
Royalties and know-how fees  103 149  119 634  226  167  103 375  119 801 
Total net revenue  2 518 175  2 845 490  127 657  252 093  2 645 832  3 097 583 

Segment profit or (loss) – 
operating profit  466 288  631 556 (13 045) 20 355  453 243  651 911 

Share of profit/(loss) of equity 
accounted investments (76 703) 450 542
Finance costs (50 545) (42 455)
Finance income 17 592  26 607 

Profit before taxation  343 587  1 086 605 
Taxation (82 260) (155 486)
Profit attributable to ordinary 
shareholders  261 327  931 119 

Geographical information
Namibia is the parent company’s country of domicile. Those countries which account for more than 
10% of the Group’s total revenue are considered material and are reported separately.

NET SALES REVENUE

2020
 N$’000 

2019
 N$’000 

Namibia 1 593 138 1 993 642 
South Africa 787 930 852 757 
Botswana 16 075  – 
Tanzania 92 721 77 398 
Zambia 26 387 34 189 
Rest of the world 26 206 19 797 
Total revenue 2 542 457 2 977 782 

The basis for attributing revenue is based on actual sales. Non-current assets located in Namibia 
amounts to N$ 984.3 million and located in all foreign countries amounts to N$1 million.

Major customers
The Group only has one customer, located in South Africa, that made purchases from the Group 
exceeding 10% of the Group’s revenue. This customer exclusively purchased beer to the value of  
N$788 million (2019: N$852 million), net of excise duties.
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EFFECTIVE  
INTEREST RATE GROUP COMPANY

2020
%

2019
%

Maturity
date

2020
N$’000

2019
N$’000

2020
N$’000

2019
N$’000

PREFERENCE SHARE CAPITAL
Authorised
1 000 000 Variable rate 
redeemable preference shares 
of N$0.50 each  500  500  500  500 

LOANS FROM RELATED 
PARTIES
Fixed rate instruments
–  Northgate Properties 

(Proprietary) Limited 0.00 0.00 – –  1 212  1 381 
Less: Current portion included 
in short-term interest-bearing 
borrowings – –  (1 212)  (1 381)
Long-term portion of loans from 
related parties – – – –

MEDIUM-TERM LOAN
Variable rate instruments
–  Standard Bank Namibia 

Limited repayable in 16 equal 
instalments of N$12 500 000 
commencing in December 
2016. This loan is unsecured.

JIBAR+ 
 2.20%

JIBAR+ 
2.20% 31/12/2020  25 000  62 500  25 000  62 500

–  FirstRand Bank Limited 
– Capex Facility – repaid in 
June 2020. Secured by a 
cession of trade and other 
receivables and a general 
notarial bond.

JIBAR+ 
 2.10%

JIBAR+ 
2.10% 30/06/2020 – 100 000 – 100 000

–  FirstRand Bank Limited 
– Acquisition Facility - repaid 
in June 2020. Secured by a 
cession of trade and other 
receivables and a general 
notarial bond.

JIBAR+ 
 1.90%

JIBAR+ 
1.90% 30/06/2020 – 100 000 – 100 000

–  FirstRand Bank Limited 
– Revolving Facility – repaid  
in June 2020. Secured by a 
cession of trade and other 
receivables and a general 
notarial bond.

JIBAR+ 
 2.05%

JIBAR+ 
2.05% 30/06/2020 – 100 000 – 100 000

–  FNB Namibia – Revolving 
Facility – no fixed repayment 
terms. Secured by a cession  
of trade and other receivables 
and a general notarial bond.

PRIME- 
1.65% – 01/07/2020 100 000 – 100 000 –

ANNEXURE A

Interest-bearing borrowings

ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 2020 155



About 
this report

Chairperson’s
statement

Our
profile

Our context 
and strategy

Managing Director’s 
report

Material matters
and the SDGs

Governance 
report

Annual financial 
statements

ANNEXURE A (CONTINUED)

Interest-bearing borrowings

LEASE LIABILITIES
Variable rate instruments
–  Vehicle leases – repayable  

in monthly instalments of  
N$1 539 000 (2019:  
N$1 481 000) 9.60 10.50  36 328  36 209  36 328  36 209

–  Property leases – repayable  
in monthly instalments of  
N$521 000 (2019: NIL) 10.50 –  5 368 –  5 368 –

Less: Current portion included 
in short-term interest-bearing 
borrowings  (20 088)  (15 201)  (20 088)  (15 201)
Long-term portion of finance 
lease liabilities  21 608  21 008  21 608  21 008
Total current interest-bearing 
borrowings  145 088  215 201  146 300  215 201
Total non-current interest-
bearing borrowings  501 608  183 508  501 608  183 508
Total interest-bearing 
borrowings  646 696  398 709  647 908  398 709

EFFECTIVE  
INTEREST RATE GROUP COMPANY

2020
%

2019
%

Maturity
date

2020
N$’000

2019
N$’000

2020
N$’000

2019
N$’000

–  FirstRand Bank Limited –  
Term A – The total facility is 
N$ 600 million and is reduced 
annually by N$120 million.  
The excess between the loan 
and the facility is repayable 
annually. Secured by a cession 
of trade and other receivables 
and a general notarial bond.

JIBAR
 + 2.55% – 30/06/2025 380 000 – 380 000 –

–  FirstRand Bank Limited –  
Term B – repayable at the end 
of the loan term in June 2024. 
Secured by a cession of trade 
and other receivables and a 
general notarial bond.

JIBAR 
+ 2.80% – 30/06/2025 100 000 – 100 000 –

Less: Current portion included 
in short-term interest-bearing 
borrowings  (125 000)  (200 000)  (125 000)  (200 000)
Long-term portion of  
medium-term loans 480 000 162 500 480 000 162 500 
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ANNEXURE A (CONTINUED)

Interest-bearing borrowings

GROUP COMPANY

2020
N$’000

2019
N$’000

2020
N$’000

2019
N$’000

ANALYSIS OF REPAYMENTS INCLUDING INTEREST
Repayable within:

year 1 158 479 240 757  158 479 240 757 
year 2 40 790 181 262  40 790 181 262 
year 3 136 283 9 789  136 283 9 789 
year 4 129 815 3 109  129 815 3 109 
Repayable thereafter  227 118  982  227 118  982 

 692 485  435 899  692 485  435 899

ANALYSIS BY CURRENCY
South African Rand  500 870  221 434  500 870 221 434 
Namibia Dollar  191 615  114 466  191 615  114 466 

INTEREST RATE SENSITIVITY ANALYSIS
The sensitivity analyses have been determined based on the 
exposure to interest rates for non-derivative instruments at the 
balance sheet date. For variable rate liabilities, the analysis is 
prepared assuming the amount of liability outstanding at the 
balance sheet date was outstanding for the whole year. A  
100 basis point increase or decrease represents management’s 
assessment of the reasonably possible change in interest rates.

If interest rates had been 100 basis points higher or lower  
and all other variables were held constant:

Interest received:
– profit before tax for the year would increase/(decrease) by: 3 579 5 630 3 579 5 576
Interest paid:
– profit before tax for the year would increase/(decrease) by: (7 055) (4 794) (7 055) (4 794)
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ANNEXURE B

Property, plant and equipment

Freehold
land and 
buildings

N$’000

Leasehold
land and 
buildings

N$’000

Plant and
machinery

N$’000
Vehicles

N$’000

Furniture and
equipment

N$’000

Returnable
containers

N$’000

Assets under
construction

N$’000
Total

N$’000

GROUP
2020
Cost
Balance at the beginning of the year  261 040  8 988  1 202 822  126 163  90 851  426 581  11 919  2 128 365 
Additions  10 383  –  60 944  13 210  6 326  39 038  34 485  164 387 
Disposals  –  –  (31 016)  (1 591)  (2 504)  (11 970)  –  (47 080)
Transfers  671  62  7 651  –  757  –  (9 142)  – 
Transfer to right-of-use assets  –  –  –  (57 030)  –  –  –  (57 030)
Balance at the end of the year  272 095  9 051  1 240 401  80 753  95 430  453 649  37 262  2 188 641 

Accumulated depreciation
Balance at the beginning of the year  38 660  5 904  674 735  74 525  63 596  274 978  –  1 132 398 
Depreciation charge  4 029  214  72 221  9 459  9 461  49 412  –  144 796 
Accumulated depreciation on disposals  –  –  (30 142)  (1 463)  (2 064)  (11 416)  –  (45 085)
Foreign exchange movements  –  –  –  –  (6)  –  –  (6)
Transfers  –  –  –  – –  –  –  – 
Transfer to right-of-use assets  –  –  –  (28 786)  –  –  –  (28 786)
Balance at the end of the year  42 689  6 118  716 814  53 735  70 987  312 974  –  1 203 317 

Carrying amount at the end of the year  229 405  2 933  523 587  27 017  24 443  140 675  37 262  985 323 

2019
Cost
Balance at the beginning of the year  223 995  8 768  1 135 403  116 058  79 602  389 038  75 494  2 028 358 
Additions  20 444  220  24 128  33 926  10 054  40 084  11 271  140 128 
Disposals  –  –  (21 256)  (15 781)  (544)  (2 540)  –  (40 121)
Classified from held for sale to PPE  –  –  –  –  –  –  –  – 
Transfers  16 601  –  64 547  (8 040)  1 738  –  (74 847)  – 
Balance at end of the year  261 040  8 988  1 202 822  126 163  90 851  426 581  11 919  2 128 365 

Accumulated depreciation
Balance at the beginning of the year  34 991  5 747  617 377  72 426  55 248  223 851  –  1 009 639 
Depreciation charge  3 669  157  72 518  21 235  8 873  53 667  –  160 119 
Accumulated depreciation on disposals  –  –  (20 834)  (13 462)  (525)  (2 540)  –  (37 361)
Transfers  –  –  5 674  (5 674)  –  –  –  – 
Balance at the end of the year  38 660  5 904  674 735  74 525  63 596  274 978  –  1 132 398 

Carrying amount at the end of the year  222 380  3 084  528 087  51 638  27 255  151 603  11 919  995 967 
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ANNEXURE B (CONTINUED)

Property, plant and equipment

Freehold
land and 
buildings

N$’000

Leasehold
land and 
buildings

N$’000

Plant and
machinery

N$’000
Vehicles

N$’000

Furniture and
equipment

N$’000

Returnable
containers

N$’000

Assets under
construction

N$’000
Total

N$’000

GROUP
2020
Cost
Balance at the beginning of the year  261 040  8 988  1 202 822  126 163  90 851  426 581  11 919  2 128 365 
Additions  10 383  –  60 944  13 210  6 326  39 038  34 485  164 387 
Disposals  –  –  (31 016)  (1 591)  (2 504)  (11 970)  –  (47 080)
Transfers  671  62  7 651  –  757  –  (9 142)  – 
Transfer to right-of-use assets  –  –  –  (57 030)  –  –  –  (57 030)
Balance at the end of the year  272 095  9 051  1 240 401  80 753  95 430  453 649  37 262  2 188 641 

Accumulated depreciation
Balance at the beginning of the year  38 660  5 904  674 735  74 525  63 596  274 978  –  1 132 398 
Depreciation charge  4 029  214  72 221  9 459  9 461  49 412  –  144 796 
Accumulated depreciation on disposals  –  –  (30 142)  (1 463)  (2 064)  (11 416)  –  (45 085)
Foreign exchange movements  –  –  –  –  (6)  –  –  (6)
Transfers  –  –  –  – –  –  –  – 
Transfer to right-of-use assets  –  –  –  (28 786)  –  –  –  (28 786)
Balance at the end of the year  42 689  6 118  716 814  53 735  70 987  312 974  –  1 203 317 

Carrying amount at the end of the year  229 405  2 933  523 587  27 017  24 443  140 675  37 262  985 323 

2019
Cost
Balance at the beginning of the year  223 995  8 768  1 135 403  116 058  79 602  389 038  75 494  2 028 358 
Additions  20 444  220  24 128  33 926  10 054  40 084  11 271  140 128 
Disposals  –  –  (21 256)  (15 781)  (544)  (2 540)  –  (40 121)
Classified from held for sale to PPE  –  –  –  –  –  –  –  – 
Transfers  16 601  –  64 547  (8 040)  1 738  –  (74 847)  – 
Balance at end of the year  261 040  8 988  1 202 822  126 163  90 851  426 581  11 919  2 128 365 

Accumulated depreciation
Balance at the beginning of the year  34 991  5 747  617 377  72 426  55 248  223 851  –  1 009 639 
Depreciation charge  3 669  157  72 518  21 235  8 873  53 667  –  160 119 
Accumulated depreciation on disposals  –  –  (20 834)  (13 462)  (525)  (2 540)  –  (37 361)
Transfers  –  –  5 674  (5 674)  –  –  –  – 
Balance at the end of the year  38 660  5 904  674 735  74 525  63 596  274 978  –  1 132 398 

Carrying amount at the end of the year  222 380  3 084  528 087  51 638  27 255  151 603  11 919  995 967 
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ANNEXURE B (CONTINUED)

Property, plant and equipment

Freehold
land and 
buildings

N$’000

Leasehold
land and 
buildings

N$’000

Plant and
machinery

N$’000
Vehicles

N$’000

Furniture and
equipment

N$’000

Returnable
containers

N$’000

Assets under
construction

N$’000
Total

N$’000

COMPANY
2020
Cost
Balance at the beginning of the year  226 817  6 830  1 201 152  126 173  90 392  426 581  11 899  2 089 845 
Additions  10 383  –  60 944  13 210  6 326  39 038  34 485  164 387 
Disposals  –  –  (31 016)  (1 591)  (2 504)  (11 970)  –  (47 080)
Transfers   671    62   7 651  –    757  –  (9 142)  – 
Transfer to right-of-use assets  –  –  –  (57 030)  –  –  –  (57 030)
Balance at the end of the year   237 872   6 893  1 238 732   80 763   94 971   453 649   37 242  2 150 121 

Accumulated depreciation
Balance at the beginning of the year   38 660   3 746   674 134   74 536   63 375   274 978  –  1 129 429 
Depreciation charge   4 029    214   71 891   9 459   9 410   49 412  –   144 416 
Accumulated depreciation on disposals  –  –  (30 142)  (1 463)  (2 064)  (11 416)  –  (45 085)
Transfers  –  –  –  –  –  –  –  – 
Transfer to right-of-use assets  –  –  –  (28 786)  –  –  –  (28 786)
Balance at the end of the year   42 689   3 960   715 883   53 747   70 720   312 974  –  1 199 974 

Carrying amount at end of the year   195 182   2 933   522 849   27 016   24 251   140 675   37 242   950 148 

2019
Cost
Balance at the beginning of the year   189 772   6 610  1 133 733   116 068   79 143   389 038   75 475  1 989 839 
Additions   20 444    220   24 128   33 926   10 054   40 084   11 271   140 128 
Disposals  –  –  (21 256)  (15 781)  (544)  (2 540)  –  (40 121)
Classified from held for sale to PPE  –  –  –  –  –  –  –  – 
Transfers   16 601  –   64 547  (8 040)   1 738  – (74 847)  – 
Transfers to intangible assets  –  –  –  –  –  –  –  – 
Balance at the end of the year   226 817   6 830  1 201 152   126 173   90 392   426 581   11 899  2 089 845 

Accumulated depreciation
Balance at the beginning of the year   34 991   3 589   617 107   72 437   55 078   223 851  –  1 007 053 
Depreciation charge   3 669    157   72 187   21 235   8 822   53 667  –   159 737 
Accumulated depreciation on disposals  –  –  (20 834)  (13 462)  (525)  (2 540)  –  (37 361)
Transfers  –  –   5 674  (5 674)  –  –  –  – 
Classified from held for sale  –  –  –  –  –  –  –  – 
Balance at the end of the year   38 660   3 746   674 134   74 536   63 375   274 978  –  1 129 429 

Carrying amount at the end of the year   188 157   3 084   527 019   51 637   27 017   151 603   11 899   960 416 

GROUP and COMPANY
Motor vehicles held under finance leases with a carrying value of N$28 243 801 was transferred to right-of-
use assets.
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ANNEXURE B (CONTINUED)

Property, plant and equipment

Freehold
land and 
buildings

N$’000

Leasehold
land and 
buildings

N$’000

Plant and
machinery

N$’000
Vehicles

N$’000

Furniture and
equipment

N$’000

Returnable
containers

N$’000

Assets under
construction

N$’000
Total

N$’000

COMPANY
2020
Cost
Balance at the beginning of the year  226 817  6 830  1 201 152  126 173  90 392  426 581  11 899  2 089 845 
Additions  10 383  –  60 944  13 210  6 326  39 038  34 485  164 387 
Disposals  –  –  (31 016)  (1 591)  (2 504)  (11 970)  –  (47 080)
Transfers   671    62   7 651  –    757  –  (9 142)  – 
Transfer to right-of-use assets  –  –  –  (57 030)  –  –  –  (57 030)
Balance at the end of the year   237 872   6 893  1 238 732   80 763   94 971   453 649   37 242  2 150 121 

Accumulated depreciation
Balance at the beginning of the year   38 660   3 746   674 134   74 536   63 375   274 978  –  1 129 429 
Depreciation charge   4 029    214   71 891   9 459   9 410   49 412  –   144 416 
Accumulated depreciation on disposals  –  –  (30 142)  (1 463)  (2 064)  (11 416)  –  (45 085)
Transfers  –  –  –  –  –  –  –  – 
Transfer to right-of-use assets  –  –  –  (28 786)  –  –  –  (28 786)
Balance at the end of the year   42 689   3 960   715 883   53 747   70 720   312 974  –  1 199 974 

Carrying amount at end of the year   195 182   2 933   522 849   27 016   24 251   140 675   37 242   950 148 

2019
Cost
Balance at the beginning of the year   189 772   6 610  1 133 733   116 068   79 143   389 038   75 475  1 989 839 
Additions   20 444    220   24 128   33 926   10 054   40 084   11 271   140 128 
Disposals  –  –  (21 256)  (15 781)  (544)  (2 540)  –  (40 121)
Classified from held for sale to PPE  –  –  –  –  –  –  –  – 
Transfers   16 601  –   64 547  (8 040)   1 738  – (74 847)  – 
Transfers to intangible assets  –  –  –  –  –  –  –  – 
Balance at the end of the year   226 817   6 830  1 201 152   126 173   90 392   426 581   11 899  2 089 845 

Accumulated depreciation
Balance at the beginning of the year   34 991   3 589   617 107   72 437   55 078   223 851  –  1 007 053 
Depreciation charge   3 669    157   72 187   21 235   8 822   53 667  –   159 737 
Accumulated depreciation on disposals  –  –  (20 834)  (13 462)  (525)  (2 540)  –  (37 361)
Transfers  –  –   5 674  (5 674)  –  –  –  – 
Classified from held for sale  –  –  –  –  –  –  –  – 
Balance at the end of the year   38 660   3 746   674 134   74 536   63 375   274 978  –  1 129 429 

Carrying amount at the end of the year   188 157   3 084   527 019   51 637   27 017   151 603   11 899   960 416 

GROUP and COMPANY
Motor vehicles held under finance leases with a carrying value of N$28 243 801 was transferred to right-of-
use assets.
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ANNEXURE B (CONTINUED)

Intangible assets

Automation
processes

2020
N$’000

Externally
purchased

software
licences

2020
N$’000

Trademarks
2020

N$’000

Total
2020

N$’000

Automation
processes

2019
N$’000

Externally
purchased

software
licences

2019
N$’000

Trademarks
2019

N$’000

Total
2019

N$’000

GROUP 
Cost
Balance at the beginning of the year 34 718 19 751 11 000 65 469 33 910 19 751 11 000 64 661 
Disposals –  (291) –  (291) – – – –
Additions  33  402 –   435   808 – –   808 
Balance at the end of the year 34 751 19 862 11 000 65 613 34 718 19 751 11 000 65 469 

Accumulated amortisation
Balance at the beginning of the year 14 155 17 131 1 133 32 418 11 271 15 114  733 27 118 
Disposals –  (188) –  (188) – – – –
Amortisation charges  2 888  1 232   400  4 520  2 884  2 017   400  5 300 
Balance at the end of the year  17 042  18 175  1 533  36 750  14 155  17 131  1 133  32 418 

Carrying amount at the end of the year 17 709 1 687 9 467 28 863 20 563 2 621 9 867 33 051 

COMPANY
Cost
Balance at the beginning of the year 34 718 19 751 11 000 65 469 33 910 19 751 11 000 64 661 
Disposals –  (291) –  (291) – – – –
Additions  33  402 –  435  808 – –  808 
Transfers from assets under construction – – – – – – – –
Balance at the end of the year 34 751 19 862  11 000 65 613 34 718 19 751  11 000 65 469 

Accumulated amortisation
Balance at the beginning of the year 14 155 17 131 1 133 32 418 11 271 15 114  733 27 118 
Disposals –  (188) –  (188) – – – –
Amortisation charges  2 888  1 232   400  4 520  2 884  2 017   400  5 300 
Balance at the end of the year  17 042  18 175  1 533  36 750  14 155  17 131  1 133  32 418 

Carrying amount at the end of the year 17 709 1 687 9 467 28 863 20 563 2 621 9 867 33 051 

Amortisation periods are reviewed at the end of each financial year. If the expected useful life of the asset 
differs from previous estimates, the amortisation period shall be changed accordingly. The amortisation charge 
is recognised in the operating expenses in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income. 

Trademarks with indefinite useful lives at 30 June 2020 amounted to N$9 000 000 (2019: N$9 000 000).  
This judgement is based on the market and trading conditions applicable to the Group and management’s 
expectations and strategy for the use of the trademarks. It is the intention of the Group to receive a benefit 
from them indefinitely and there is no indication that this will not be the case.
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Automation
processes

2020
N$’000

Externally
purchased

software
licences

2020
N$’000

Trademarks
2020

N$’000

Total
2020

N$’000

Automation
processes

2019
N$’000

Externally
purchased

software
licences

2019
N$’000

Trademarks
2019

N$’000

Total
2019

N$’000

GROUP 
Cost
Balance at the beginning of the year 34 718 19 751 11 000 65 469 33 910 19 751 11 000 64 661 
Disposals –  (291) –  (291) – – – –
Additions  33  402 –   435   808 – –   808 
Balance at the end of the year 34 751 19 862 11 000 65 613 34 718 19 751 11 000 65 469 

Accumulated amortisation
Balance at the beginning of the year 14 155 17 131 1 133 32 418 11 271 15 114  733 27 118 
Disposals –  (188) –  (188) – – – –
Amortisation charges  2 888  1 232   400  4 520  2 884  2 017   400  5 300 
Balance at the end of the year  17 042  18 175  1 533  36 750  14 155  17 131  1 133  32 418 

Carrying amount at the end of the year 17 709 1 687 9 467 28 863 20 563 2 621 9 867 33 051 

COMPANY
Cost
Balance at the beginning of the year 34 718 19 751 11 000 65 469 33 910 19 751 11 000 64 661 
Disposals –  (291) –  (291) – – – –
Additions  33  402 –  435  808 – –  808 
Transfers from assets under construction – – – – – – – –
Balance at the end of the year 34 751 19 862  11 000 65 613 34 718 19 751  11 000 65 469 

Accumulated amortisation
Balance at the beginning of the year 14 155 17 131 1 133 32 418 11 271 15 114  733 27 118 
Disposals –  (188) –  (188) – – – –
Amortisation charges  2 888  1 232   400  4 520  2 884  2 017   400  5 300 
Balance at the end of the year  17 042  18 175  1 533  36 750  14 155  17 131  1 133  32 418 

Carrying amount at the end of the year 17 709 1 687 9 467 28 863 20 563 2 621 9 867 33 051 

Amortisation periods are reviewed at the end of each financial year. If the expected useful life of the asset 
differs from previous estimates, the amortisation period shall be changed accordingly. The amortisation charge 
is recognised in the operating expenses in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income. 

Trademarks with indefinite useful lives at 30 June 2020 amounted to N$9 000 000 (2019: N$9 000 000).  
This judgement is based on the market and trading conditions applicable to the Group and management’s 
expectations and strategy for the use of the trademarks. It is the intention of the Group to receive a benefit 
from them indefinitely and there is no indication that this will not be the case.

ANNEXURE B (CONTINUED)

Intangible assets

ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 2020 163



About 
this report

Chairperson’s
statement

Our
profile

Our context 
and strategy

Managing Director’s 
report

Material matters
and the SDGs

Governance 
report

Annual financial 
statements

ANNEXURE B (CONTINUED)

Right-of-use assets

Motor 
vehicle
 leases

2020
N$’000

Property 
leases

2020
N$’000

Total
2020

N$’000

Motor 
vehicle 
leases

2019
N$’000

Property 
leases

2019
N$’000

Total
2019

N$’000

GROUP 
Cost
Balance at the beginning of the year  –  –  –  –  –  – 
Disposals  (7 230)  –  (7 230)  –  –  – 
Additions  14 321  9 863  24 184  –  –  – 
Transfers from property, plant and equipment  57 030  –  57 030  –  –  – 
Balance at the end of the year  64 122  9 863  73 984  –  –  – 

Accumulated depreciation
Balance at the beginning of the year  –  –  –  –  –  – 
Disposals  (6 404)  –  (6 404)  –  –  – 
Transfers from property, plant and equipment  28 786  –  28 786  –  –  – 
Depreciation charges  14 388  4 910  19 298  –  –  – 
Balance at the end of the year  36 770  4 910  41 680  –  –  – 

Carrying amount at the end of the year  27 351  4 953  32 304  –  –  – 

COMPANY
Cost
Balance at the beginning of the year  –  –  –  –  –  – 
Disposals  (7 230)  –  (7 230)  –  –  – 
Additions  14 321  9 863  24 184  –  –  – 
Transfers from property, plant and equipment  57 030  –  57 030  –  –  – 
Balance at the end of the year  64 122  9 863  73 984 – – –

Accumulated depreciation
Balance at the beginning of the year  –  –  –  –  –  – 
Disposals  (6 404)  –  (6 404)  –  –  – 
Transfers from property, plant and equipment  28 786  –  28 786 – – –
Depreciation charges  14 388  4 910  19 298  –  –  – 
Balance at the end of the year  36 770  4 910  41 680  –  –  – 

Carrying amount at the end of the year  27 351  4 953  32 304  –  –  – 

Average lease terms are two years on leasehold properties and five years for leasehold vehicles.
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ANNEXURE B (CONTINUED)

Right-of-use assets

Motor 
vehicle
 leases

2020
N$’000

Property 
leases

2020
N$’000

Total
2020

N$’000

Motor 
vehicle 
leases

2019
N$’000

Property 
leases

2019
N$’000

Total
2019

N$’000

GROUP 
Cost
Balance at the beginning of the year  –  –  –  –  –  – 
Disposals  (7 230)  –  (7 230)  –  –  – 
Additions  14 321  9 863  24 184  –  –  – 
Transfers from property, plant and equipment  57 030  –  57 030  –  –  – 
Balance at the end of the year  64 122  9 863  73 984  –  –  – 

Accumulated depreciation
Balance at the beginning of the year  –  –  –  –  –  – 
Disposals  (6 404)  –  (6 404)  –  –  – 
Transfers from property, plant and equipment  28 786  –  28 786  –  –  – 
Depreciation charges  14 388  4 910  19 298  –  –  – 
Balance at the end of the year  36 770  4 910  41 680  –  –  – 

Carrying amount at the end of the year  27 351  4 953  32 304  –  –  – 

COMPANY
Cost
Balance at the beginning of the year  –  –  –  –  –  – 
Disposals  (7 230)  –  (7 230)  –  –  – 
Additions  14 321  9 863  24 184  –  –  – 
Transfers from property, plant and equipment  57 030  –  57 030  –  –  – 
Balance at the end of the year  64 122  9 863  73 984 – – –

Accumulated depreciation
Balance at the beginning of the year  –  –  –  –  –  – 
Disposals  (6 404)  –  (6 404)  –  –  – 
Transfers from property, plant and equipment  28 786  –  28 786 – – –
Depreciation charges  14 388  4 910  19 298  –  –  – 
Balance at the end of the year  36 770  4 910  41 680  –  –  – 

Carrying amount at the end of the year  27 351  4 953  32 304  –  –  – 
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ANNEXURE C

Interest in subsidiaries

Subsidiary company
Country of
incorporation

Issued
capital
N$’000

EFFECTIVE HOLDING
INTEREST OF HOLDING 

COMPANY SHARES INDEBTEDNESS

2020
%

2019
%

2020
N$’000

2019
N$’000

2020
N$’000

2019
N$’000

BEVERAGES
Namibia Breweries South Africa Proprietary Limited* South Africa – 100 100 – – 102 422 103 793
Flycatcher (Proprietary) Limited Botswana – 100 100 – – 1 006 301

PROPERTY
Northgate Properties (Proprietary) Limited Namibia – 100 100 828  828  (1 212)  (1 381)
Northgate Exports (Proprietary) Limited Namibia – 100 100 – – – –
Hallie Investments Number Four Hundred and Twenty Eight  
(Proprietary) Limited Namibia – 100 100 34 692  34 692 – –

Accumulated loan impairment – –  (102 422)  (103 793)
35 520  35 520  (206)  (1 080)

* A letter of support is in place whereby Namibia Breweries Limited agrees to provide additional financial support to Namibia Breweries 
South Africa Proprietary Limited to meet its debts as and when they fall due until such time as specified in the letter.
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ANNEXURE C (CONTINUED)

Interest in subsidiaries

Subsidiary company
Country of
incorporation

Issued
capital
N$’000

EFFECTIVE HOLDING
INTEREST OF HOLDING 

COMPANY SHARES INDEBTEDNESS

2020
%

2019
%

2020
N$’000

2019
N$’000

2020
N$’000

2019
N$’000

BEVERAGES
Namibia Breweries South Africa Proprietary Limited* South Africa – 100 100 – – 102 422 103 793
Flycatcher (Proprietary) Limited Botswana – 100 100 – – 1 006 301

PROPERTY
Northgate Properties (Proprietary) Limited Namibia – 100 100 828  828  (1 212)  (1 381)
Northgate Exports (Proprietary) Limited Namibia – 100 100 – – – –
Hallie Investments Number Four Hundred and Twenty Eight  
(Proprietary) Limited Namibia – 100 100 34 692  34 692 – –

Accumulated loan impairment – –  (102 422)  (103 793)
35 520  35 520  (206)  (1 080)

* A letter of support is in place whereby Namibia Breweries Limited agrees to provide additional financial support to Namibia Breweries 
South Africa Proprietary Limited to meet its debts as and when they fall due until such time as specified in the letter.
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ANNEXURE D

Directors’ emoluments

Directors’
fees

N$’000 
Salary

 N$’000 
Bonuses
 N$’000 

Other
Benefits
 N$’000 

 Pension/
 medical 

aid 
 N$’000 

Long-
service
Award
N$’000

Total
 N$’000

2020	
Executive 
Directors
M Wenk  –  1 505  –  1 680  521  –  3 706 
W von Lieres  –  1 022  –  730  450  –  2 202 
Total emoluments  –  2 527  –  2 410  971  – 5 908 

2019
Executive 
Directors
H van der 
Westhuizen  –  1 959  1 605  1 485  602  374  6 025 
G Mouton  –  979  960  995  380  –  3 314 
Total emoluments  –  2 938  2 565  2 480  982  374  9 339 

2020
 N$’000 

2019
 N$’000 

Non-executive Directors
CL List* –  112 
E Ender* –  91 
HB Gerdes  207  195 
P Grüttemeyer  201  167 
S Thieme  204  193 
G Hanke  54  50 
H van der Westhuizen  142 –
L van der Borght  54  50 
S Siemer  142  133 
R Pirmez  164  154 
L Mcleod-Katjirua  98  133 
Total emoluments  1 265  1 278 

Non-executive Directors only received Directors’ fees for the current and prior financial year.

* Director resigned and is no longer a member of the Board.    
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NOTICE TO SHAREHOLDERS

NAMIBIA BREWERIES LIMITED

Registration number 2/1920

This document is important and requires your immediate attention. Please ensure that you review the notes 
and footnotes in this notice, which contain important information regarding participation in the Annual 
General Meeting (AGM).

This document consists of:

1. Notice to shareholders

2. Shareholders’ diary

3. Notes to the notice of the AGM

4. Proxy form

The holders of NBL shares (the shareholders) and any persons who are not shareholders, but who are 
entitled to exercise any voting rights in relation to the resolutions to be proposed at the AGM, (collectively 
“the holders” or “you”) as at the record date of Wednesday, 2 December 2020, are entitled to participate in 
and vote at the AGM in person or by proxy/ies. A proxy need not be a person entitled to vote at the 
meeting. In order to be effective, proxy forms need to be forwarded to reach the registered office of the 
Company not less than 48 hours prior to the time for the holding of the meeting.

Notice is hereby given that the 99th AGM of shareholders of Namibia Breweries Limited (the Company) will 
be held in the Company’s auditorium at the Namibia Breweries premises, Iscor Street, Northern Industrial 
Area, Windhoek on Wednesday, 2 December 2020 at 11:00.

The purpose of the AGM is for the following business to be transacted and considered and, if approved, to 
pass with or without modification, the following ordinary resolutions, in the manner required by the Company’s 
Memorandum of Association (MoA) and AoA, the Namibia Companies Act and the NSX Listing Requirements:

1.  To receive and consider and, if approved, adopt the annual financial statements and the independent 
auditors’ report for the financial year ended 30 June 2020 as submitted, and to confirm all matters 
undertaken and discharged by the Directors on behalf of the Company.

2.  To vote on the re-election, each by way of a separate vote, of the following Directors who are required to 
retire in terms of Clause 661 of the MoA, and who are eligible and have offered themselves for re-election:

 2.1 P Grüttemeyer

 2.2 H-B Gerdes

 2.3 G Hanke

3. To confirm the appointment of Deloitte & Touche to act as the independent auditors of the Company.

4. To authorise the Directors to determine the auditors’ remuneration.

5.  To approve the Directors’ remuneration as set out in the financial report and as stipulated in Clause 54(a) of 
the MoA and AoA2.

www.nambrew.com
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6.  To confirm the payment of a final dividend of 53 cents, which had been approved by the Directors,  
to the holders of ordinary shares, registered in the books of the Company at the close of business  
on 9 October 2020, payable on 13 November 2020.

7. To transact such other business as may be transacted at an AGM.

8.  Change of memorandum and articles to permit NBL to distribute shareholder correspondence via 
electronic communication.

By order of the Board

Chairman
S Thieme

Company Secretary
Ohlthaver & List Centre (Proprietary) Limited 

Windhoek

9 September 2020

1  Clauses 66 and 67 provide that, at every AGM held in each calendar year, one third of the Directors, or if their number is not three or a 
multiple of three, then the number nearest to one third (excluding the Executive), will retire from office. The Directors to retire every year 
will be those that have been longest in office since their last election. Clause 68 states that: “A retiring Director is eligible for re-election”.

2  Clause 54(a) states that the remuneration of the Directors “shall from time to time be determined by the Company at a general meeting”.

NOTICE TO SHAREHOLDERS (CONTINUED)
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SHAREHOLDERS’ DIARY

AGM: Wednesday, 2 December 2020 at 11:00

Reports published
Interim financial report 13 March 2020
Annual financial statements 18 September 2020

Dividends Declared Paid
Interim 3 March 2020 8 May 2020
Final 9 September 2020 13 November 2020

NOTES TO THE NOTICE OF AGM

1. This document is addressed to all shareholders and proxy holders.

2.  If you are a beneficial holder of NBL securities you may attend and vote at the AGM, provided that your name 
is on the Company’s register of disclosures as the holder of the beneficial interest, or you hold a proxy.

3.  If you are in any doubt as to what action you should take arising from this document, please consult your 
broker, banker, attorney, accountant or other appropriate professional adviser immediately.

4.  An electronic copy of the location of the venue of the meeting may be obtained from NBL’s website at 
www.namibiabreweries.com.
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for the 99th AGM of

Namibia Breweries Limited
Registration number 2/1920

The secretaries
Namibia Breweries Limited
PO Box 16, Windhoek, Namibia 

I/we   (name in full)

of   (address)

being a shareholder of   (number of shares) of the above-mentioned Company, hereby appoint

(a)   (name); or failing him/her

(b)   (name); or failing him/her

(c)   (name)

or failing him/her, the Chairperson of the meeting as my/our proxy to vote for me/us on my/our behalf at the  
99th AGM of the Company to be held in the Company’s auditorium at the Namibia Breweries premises, Iscor Street, 
Northern Industrial Area, Windhoek on Wednesday, 2 December 2020 at 11:00 and at any adjournment thereof,  
in particular to vote for/against/abstain* with regard to the resolutions contained in the notice of the AGM.

I/we desire as follows:

Item Number* For Against Abstain
1. Adoption of the annual financial statements

2. Re-election of retiring Directors

2.1 P Grüttemeyer

2.2 H-B Gerdes

2.3 G Hanke

3. Appointment of Deloitte & Touche as external auditors of the Company

4. Authorisation of Directors to approve auditors’ remuneration

5. Approval of Directors’ remuneration

6. Approval of the final dividend

7. To transact such other business as may be transacted at an AGM

8. Change of memorandum and articles to permit NBL to distribute shareholder 
correspondence via electronic communication

*  Please indicate by inserting an ‘X’ in the appropriate block, relating to the columns ‘for/against/abstain’. If no indication is given, the 
proxy may vote as they deem fit.

Signed at  on this   day of  2020.

Signature of shareholder 

PROXY FORM 

NOTES TO THE PROXY

1.  A member entitled to attend and vote at the aforementioned meeting is entitled to appoint a proxy (who 
need not be a member of the Company) to attend, speak and, on a poll, to vote in his/her stead.

2.  Shareholders who wish to appoint proxies must lodge their proxy forms at the registered office of the 
Company not later than 27 November 2020 at 12:00 a.m. 

3.  In respect of shareholders that are companies, an extract of the relevant resolution of Directors must be 
attached to the proxy form. 
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GLOSSARY

Acronym Description

AGM Annual General Meeting

AoA Articles of Association

BMS Breakthrough Management Skills

CSI Corporate social investment

DLG Deutsche Landwirtschafts Gesellschaft

EY Ernst & Young

HSAEC Heineken SA Export Company

IT Information and technology

MoA Memorandum of Association

NAFAU Namibia Food and Allied Workers Union

NBL or the Company Namibia Breweries Limited

NSI Namibian Standards Institution

NSX Namibian Stock Exchange

O&L Group or the Group Ohlthaver & List

PPE Personal protective equipment

SABS South African Bureau of Standards

SADC Southern African Development Community

SAIF Self-Regulating Alcohol Industry Forum

SDGs Sustainable Development Goals

SKUs Stock-keeping units

UN United Nations
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DIRECTORATE AND 
ADMINISTRATION
EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

M Wenk
Appointed to the Board as Managing Director  
on 1 July 2019. 

W von Lieres
Appointed to the Board as Finance Director  
on 1 July 2019.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

S Thieme
Appointed to the Board on 14 March 2002.  
Elected Chairperson of the Board on 11 July 2002.

H-B Gerdes
Appointed to the Board on 28 July 2000.

P Grüttemeyer
Appointed to the Board on 3 June 2004. 

L McLeod-Katjirua
Appointed to the Board on 2 April 2012. 

R Pirmez1 
Appointed to the Board on 8 September 2015. 

SLM Siemer2 

Appointed to the Board on 1 July 2017. 

H van der Westhuizen 

Appointed to the Board on 1 July 2019. 

P Sabrie3 
Alternate Director to R Pirmez. Appointed to  
the Board on 3 March 2020.

G Hanke
Alternate Director to S Thieme. Appointed to  
the Board on 1 October 2015.

Nationalities
1 Belgian
2 Dutch
3 French

COMMITTEES

Board Remuneration and Nomination Committee
R Pirmez (Chairperson)
P Grüttemeyer
B Mukuahima

Board Audit Committee
H-B Gerdes (Chairperson)
P Grüttemeyer
M Hoedemaker

Management Risk Committee
M Wenk (Chairperson)
W von Lieres
Senior Leadership Team
O&L: Group Enterprise Risk Manager

ADMINISTRATION

Company registration number
2/1920 (Incorporated in Namibia)

1979/001528/10 (Externally registered in South Africa)

Secretaries
Ohlthaver & List Centre (Proprietary) Limited
Alexander Forbes House, 23 – 33 Fidel Castro Street
PO Box 16, Windhoek, Namibia

Auditors
Deloitte & Touche (Namibia)
PO Box 47, Windhoek, Namibia

Sponsor
PSG Wealth Management
PO Box 196, Windhoek, Namibia

Transfer secretaries
Transfer Secretaries (Proprietary) Limited
PO Box 2401, Windhoek, Namibia

Principal bankers
First National Bank of Namibia Limited
PO Box 285, Windhoek

Attorneys
Engling, Stritter & Partners
PO Box 43, Windhoek, Namibia
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Reinheitsgebot
At Namibia Breweries, we are extremely proud that we uphold the 

tradition established in 1516 and brew according to the Reinheitsgebot.
Written by Bavarian noblemen in the year 1516, the law says only 

water, barley and hops may be used to brew beer.


